oL
Captain Richardfon. She gave them Money be-
fore, and told them fhe would mamtamn them,
Cellier, You are not an Evidence agamft me,
you are not {worn,
Captam Richardfon.
{worn.
Mr. Bar, 2V¢fton. Call her, *
Mr. . Geir. Afk her aproper Queftion to the

Iffve,
Cellier, 1 would know of her whether I kept

her Hufband away?

Mr, 4. Gez. It may be you did 1t without her
Knowledge ¢

Cellier, Have I feen her Hufband without her

Knowledge ? |
Mr. Bar. ?effon. Go on with your Witnef-

{es.
Cellier. 1 defire Mary Fobufon may be call’d.
Mr, Bar. Wefton, For what ? What wil! fhe

provei’ o
Cellzer. That fhe was to fee for Witnefles in

order to my Defence.

Mr. Bar. /7efton. But if they are not come,
what fignifies that ?

Cellice. 1 have done then, my Lord ; for not
having Time to get my Witnefles, Icannot make
my Defence fo fully, aselfe I {hould have done :
Only I defire you to confider I am a poor igno-
rant Woman, and have erred out of Ignorance :
I thought nothing, but that I might publith what
others had iaid and told me, and {o I have of-
fended 1n Ignorance, if I have offended.

Mr. Bar, IWefioin. 1 do verily believe there are
more Wits than yours concerned in this Book,
though you bear the Name, yet the Book is
not the Effect of your Wit only, but you ac-
knowledge enough. And you are to take No-
tice, that the King hath fet out a Proclamation,
that no Books fhall be printed without a Li-
cenfe.

Cellicr, I never heard it. I was under clofe
Confinement when the King {et it out.

Mr. Bar, /#fton. No, I deny that, for you
were cnlarged the firlt Day of Trinity-Terin, and
the Proclamation came out towards the Fand.

Mr. «t¢, Geii. She now does confefs fhe knows
of it, becanfe the {peaks of the Time, and that
was butere her Book was written,

Cellrer. May not my Council fpeak for me? I
defire you would hear him,

Mr, Coflins. I have nothing to fay for her.

Mr. Bar. /#efton. He fays he hath nothing to
fay for you,

Mr. Collins. And if you had faid lefs for your-
felf 1t had been better,

Mr. Bar. /#7flon, The Queftion is but Guilty or
Not Guilty 7 Whether you publifhed this Li-
bel or not 7 And if the Matter of the Indi@ment
be proved, what can Council fay, except vou
can difprove the Witneffes, that you did not the
Faét ?

Ceifier. Well, my Lord, then T befeech you
confider me, I am a Woman, and deal with me
in Mercy, as well as Juftice,

Mr. Bar, #7¢flon. Mrs, Cellier, T have not been
noted to be a Perfon that ufe any great Seve-
rity towards any body, no not towards any of
your Party; but when I fee fo much Malice as
1s comprized in your Book, and have reafon to
{(ufpect that this is not acted only by you, though
you bear the Name of it, but fome of your

But this that I fay s
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wicked Priefts are the Authors of it, as I am
fure they are, then | think it 1s not {evere, that
you, who ftand at the Stake for all, muft bear
the Blame of all.  If vou wiil tell us who it was
that fet vou on Work, and aflifted you in this
wicked Bufinefs, that will he fomething towards
the Mirgation of your Ie, but it you will
take it on yourfelf you muft fuffer the Confe-
quence.

Collicr. 1 befeech vou, mv Lord, have {ome
Compaflion ; His Majefty acknowledged before
the Council, that I had fuffered for him 5 I ven-
tured my Life through a Seaand an Armiy to
ferve him s I loft my Iatnerand my Brothes hoth
in a Day for him 5 and it you have no Compaf-
fion for me, have fome Commiferation for my
Loyal Parents that loft thetr Iflates tor him.

Mr. Bar. [Foffan. M you have done Sorvice
for his Majefty, and thereby deferved any Thing
of him, His Majelty hath been fo bountiful
the Difpenfation of his Favour, that he would
not fail to recompenfe vou for ity but we are to
proceed according to the Rules of Law,

Collicr. Bat pray have fome Mercy in yvour Ju-
flice.

Mr, Bar. /i7gfon. Gentlemen of the Jury ;
This Gentlewoman the Prfoner {hinds In-
dicted e

Fury. We have not heard one Word that hath
been fard,

Mr. Bar. Weffon, No, toat 1s ftrange, [ will
acquaint you with as much of the Evidence as
falls under my Information : It had heen well if
you had told us this before : The Bufinefs is this,
She ftands mdited here for Wiiting and pub-
Ithing of a very fcandalous Libel. Bat pray
did not you hear Peany prove that fhe fold
it ?

Fury, We heard the three firlk Witnel
{es.

Mr. Att. Gen. There was the Proof of the
Faét,

Mr. Bar. Wefion. The reft of the Fvidence
was but a Comparilon of the Claufes i the Book,
with thofe in the Indi®ment, which VOu are to
have Direction from the Court in, that they do -
ohe ftands mdicted far publifhing a Libel, and
the Title of the Libel is, Afvice D-froted, or a
bitef Relatisi of the x[::f:g’f.?ffr:;; aid DL vergiace
¢f Ehzabeth Cellier. Now this Libel branclics
it felf out into feveral Parts 3 the firft where-
of is a verv fine Infinuation, as thongh  her
leaving the Proteftant Religion, was, becaufe
thofe that murdered the King, and made that
very great Subverfion that was made in the
Government by the late Lony Pailiament, and
the Army that fuccceded them, were Prote-
{tants

Cellier. Pray, my Lord, I fay, called Prote-
ftants.

Mr. Bar. Wofton, By your Favour, fhe pre-
tends 1t was by thofe that were called Prote-
ftants, butif they were only thofe that were cal-
led Proteftants, and not Proteftants, What Pea-
fon had fhe to go off from the Proteftant Keli-
gion, to turn Papift, when there was fuch a Bocy
of loyal Proteftants that did adhere to the on:él
Party ? Therefore that was as villsinons an Infinu-
ation as could be ; asthoush the Proteffant Relicion
did nourith and teach {editious Principles, whic
i the Confequence of them, tended towanis
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the Subverfion of the Government and Order,
which certainly it does cherith in the higheft De-
gree of any Religion 1 the World, and hath the
moft peaceable Principles m Matters of Duty,
both in Subjetion to our Supetiors, and of a cha-
ritable Deportment of Men one towards another :
And the Pradice of thofe Principles hath been
feen amongft Proteftants, efpecially amongft the

Euglifh Proteftants, as much as in any Nation of

the World ; this may be faid of it to this Day,
for the Reputation of the Euglfh Nation, that
there is more Fidelity, Honefty, and generous
Truft amongft them, than among all the Nations
of the World befides ; fo thatif a Man were to go
out of Figland, to any other Part of the World,
he might well ufe the Words of Deinsftbenes, up-
o his coing out of Atheis, at his Bamfthment s
Furereel belived Cityy I amn goluginto a Werld wheie
I foall not Jiird fuch Frieads as I bave bad Encinzes
here 5 Friends in other Places, will be no better
than our Linemics here; the Carriage of Eiughfh
Men is fo much beyond all others, except the
Germairs, who, 1 muft confefs, are famed for their
Honefty and Integrity one to another ; but if you
take the Freich, the Italian, the Spauiard, or any
Sort of the Levantine People, they live like fo
many Wolves, efpectally 1 thofe Places where the
Popith Religton is profefs’d. Now after this In-
finuation, there is another Part of the Book reci-
ted i the Indictment, There was an hornd bar-
barous Murder that was committed here, and
which certainly did fix the Accufation of the Plot
fuller upon them, than all the Evidence that was
given befides; the Murder of Sir Edmundpury
Gudfie; : A Magiftrate in doing his Daty, was moft
barbarouily murdered, and by whom, 15 eviden-
ced by one Praice : It hath been the whole La-
bour of the Party, to caft this Murder upon o-
ther Perfons, and take 1t off themfelves 3 for they
find if that Accufation fticks upon them, 1t 152
Thing of fo hemous a Nature, that it will make
the Popifh Party odious to all Mankind. And
therefore this they labour at mightily, and this
Tafk {be hath taken on her felf ; for knowmg
Piaiice to be a principal Witnefs, fhe undertakes
to let the World know, that Prance was tortured
in Prifon, to mfinuate that the Evidence he gave
againft thofe Perfons that were executed for this
Murder, was extorted from him by 1}l and cruel
Ufage. But you muft firft know, the Laws of
the Land do not admit a Torture, and fince Queen
Llizabeth’s Time there hath been nothing of that
kind ever done. The Truth is indeed, in the
twentieth Year of her Reign, Cempion was juft
ftretch’d upon the Rack, but yet not fo but that
he could walk ; but when fhe was told it was a-
gainft the Law of the Land to have any of her
Subjects racked, (though that was an extraordi-
nary Cafe, a World of Seminaries being fent o-
ver to contrive her Death, and fhe lived 1n con-
tinual Danger) yet it was never done after to any
one, neicther m her Reign, who reigned twenty-
ﬁ‘{ﬁ Years aiter, nor in King Fames’s Reign, who
reigned twenty-two Years after; nor 1n King
Cheiles the Firf's Reign, who reigned twenty-
four Years after ; and God in Heaven knows there
hath been no fuch Thing offcred in this King’s
Reign ; for I think we may fay, we have lived
under as lawful and merciful 2 Government as any
People whatloever, and have had as little Blood
fhed, and fanguinary Executions as in any Nation

under Heaven, Well, but (contrary to the Law
Vor. III, |

in this Cafe) fhe does fuppolt extraordinaty Ways
were ufed to make Prawce give this Evidence.
She fays, the thought what fhe frlt heard was
the Noife of a Woman with Child, and that Har-
#is the Turnkey did tell her it was 2 Woman in
Labour ; but when fhe defired to be let in to help
her, he tarned her away rudely ; but Liftening, fhe
perceived it was the Groans of a f{trong Man that
muft be in Torture: She atked {fome of the Goal-
ers what was the Matter ! They told her, They
durft not tell her, but it was fomething they could
not endure ; and they heard him cry, What wou’d
you have me confefs? Wouw’d you have me bely
my felf? I know nothing of it 5 and fuch Words
as thefe, Whereupon we have called Piairce, and
here, upon his Oath, he tells you there was no
fuch Matter: That he was ufed very kindly, had
all Things fitting, and under no Compulfion ; {o
that this1s an high Libel aganft the Government,
She fays furthermore, there was one Corial a
Coachinan that was imprifoned by the Means of
one Fowlir for the Murder of S Edimundpnry
Godfrey 5 that there was a Nobleman, a Duke,
came to him in Prifon, and drew his Sword at
him, and would have him confels, that another
Nobleman laid down a Sum of Money, and faid
it was Five hundred Pound, and told him, if he
would confefs, he thould have it; and that Fowler
took him afide, and bid him Jay it upon fomebo-
dy elfe, and then he and Fowier thould have Mo-
ney enough, Fowler being examined, and, apon
his Qath, tells you upon what Account he did
charge Correly he tells you, he was never with
Corielin the Goal in his Life, and never was with
him in the Prefence of any Duke or Nobleman
but once in a Room, where Corral was brought
to be examined 5 and then there was the Duke of
Buckingham, the Marquis of Winchefter, (who I
never heard was a Man of Cruelty, or harfn Na-
ture) my Lord Shafrefbuiy, and Major Wildiiai,
who was Secretary 3 but there was no fuch cruel
Ufage there 5 and he never was in the Prifon with
fuch Noblemen ; and then the Confequence s,
that the whole Story 1s falfe,  Cerval 1t{eems, my
Lord-Mayor fays, hath been examined to this
Point, and dentes it all 5 and is kept out of the
way, that he fhould not give 1t m Evidence here:
But if we lbad him here it were no great Matter s
for 1f there were any thing of .this Nature true,
they are to proceed m a legal Way againft them
that make thefe Tranfgreflions of the Law; fhe
ought to have indifted the Perfons, for they are
highly punifhable for fuch Extravagances as thefe
are. But there is nothing done in that Kind ; but
inftead of that, the hath defamed them all in a Li-
bel; and fhe 1s not contented to have done that
neither, for fhe hath defamed the King highly in
his Government, and faid, fhe could have vwritten
more. I pafs over the Bufinefs that concerns Dai-
gerfield, wherein the complains, ' that Dangerfield
had more Friends, and was vifited more by Per-
{ons of Quality, when fhe had none came to her ;
every one Is vifited according to the Intercft they
have in the World, and the Friends they make:
I have nothing to fay to that, there is not fo much
in it 3 but come to that Part wherein fhe {canda-
lizes the King, which is this; the fays, Wheu-
cver bis Majefty fball pleafe to make it as fafe aid bo-
nourable to [peak the Truth, as it is apparcat it bath
been gainful and wmeritorious to do the contravy, their
Villainy will not want Witneffes to teftify the Truths
of more than fe bad written,

O 2 So



100
So that the fuppofes, that the King, by the

countenancing of ILies, and giving Penfions to
Liars, choaksthe Truth, and makes it dangerous
for thofe that know the Truth, to divulge it to
the World ; which 1s a very vile Scandal upon the
Kinc and the Government. Thefe are the Mat-
rors of the Libel, and the Things 1n Proof have
been fworn by three Witnefles; one proves that
lie went to her to buy one of her Books, and he
afked her for one, and fhe gave him a Book
which bears that Title-Page that you hear m
the Indi@ment, {uperferibed with her Name, and
{ne gives it as her Book, Now the would evade
ic thus, that fhe save it as her’s, not as thoush
fhe were the Anther, but as if it were her’s only
in Property : But can any fuch thing be thought
the Meaning of her Words? Or can there be
any greater Evidence that fhe is the Author of
the Book, than her publithing of 1t with her
Name to 1t? But the Fellow goes {urther, and
tells you, when he had the Book, he turned a-
bout, and afked her, if 1t were her Book ? Yes,
fhe faid 1t was: And, faid fhe, I could have writ
a great deal more, if I would 5 {o that her faying
fhe could have writ more, unplies that fie writ
that 3 and (more) isa Word of Compartfon which
always fuppofes the pofitive Propofition. The
next is the Printer, who tells vou that he print-
ed the firft twenty-two Folios, within which the
oreateft Part of this Charge, except only that laft
about the King, is contained. Fle tells you that
fhe fent for hum, and employ’d him to print it as
hers ;3 agreed with him for ten Shillings a Ream
for the printing, and that he did print the firft
twenty-two Leaves at her Requeft; and as em-
ploy’d by her: Focwlr tells you he bought two
of the Books of her; and thefe are the Witnef{es
of the Publication of this Book. I muft tell you
thss, the Claufes in the Lide/ are truly fet down
in the Indittment, for I did examine them one by
one. Now whether or no you can doubt fhe
was the Author of the Book, when in a manner
{he did own 1t at the Publication, by felling it as
her's, I leave to you; though I muft tell you
plainly, I leave it as that which is to me under
the Notion of exprefs Evidence ; but I muft leave
it to you as Judges of the Fa&t, and expe& your
Verditt in the Cale.

Mr. 2. Gen. There are three Things in the
Indictment 5 fif, Thae the writ it fecondly, That
fhe caufed it to be printed ; and Thirdlv, That the
caufed it to be publithed. Now if you find any
one of thefe, the is guilty of fo much at leaft,
though I think you have heard Evidence enough
for all. She told me it was hers, and faid, fhe
conld have put more in; and the felling the Book
1s o Publication.  So that if you be not fatisfied
fhe was the Author, yet if you are fatisfied the
caufed it to be printed 5 or if you are not fatif-
fied in that, yet if you are fatisfied fhe caufed
it to be publifhed, you are to find her guilty of
fo much.

Cedlicr. The Printer does not fay I writ it.

M. Art. Gen. But he does fay you gave it him
as yours, and to you the Sheets were fent to be

correted.

Then the Jury defived they might have the
Book with them.

Mr. Clare, My Lord, the Jury wants the Book

that was fworn to.
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Mr. Bar. #7gffon, They can have no Papers
without Agreement, neither the Book, nor any
Paper elfe.

Mr. Att. Gen. Not unlefs fhe will confent toit.
Mrs. Cellier, Will you confent that they fhall have
the Book out with them?

[Ta which. after fune Panfe, foc anfoer’d, No.

Mr. Bar. Wefton. Then they cannot have it by
Law.

Then the Fury withdrew for e little, aind retwried,

Cl. of Cr. How {ay you, 1s Elizadeth Cellier
cuilty of the writing, printing, and publithing
of the Libel for which fhe ftands indicted, or
not guilty ?

Forcman. Guilty. (At <wbich there was a giea
Soont.) And the Verdi®t was recorded.

Mr. Bar, H/eftsn, She mult ftand committed to
recetve the Judement of the Court.

Celzer. Will you give me leave to {peak a Word
now ¢

Mr. Bar. #7gflon. 1 cannot give you any Juds-
ment, for by the Cuftom of the City, that 1s
to be done by the Recorder or his Deputy, and
fo, what you will fay to the Court, you muft
{ay to them, that will be on AMowdsy when the
Seflions is done.

Cellier. NYhat I would fay is only this, That I
ama Woman, and wherem I offended, 1 offend-
ed out of Ignorance, and did not know it was
an Offence, and if the Offence be mine, let
not others fuffer for me. Have Mercy in Judo-
ment, and confider my loyal Parents and Rela-
tions, and the Services they did his Majefty ;
and let this Fault be wiped out by that Service
and Duty I and they pad him 5 or at leaft-wife,
let the Pumfhment for this Offence be mitizated,
in Confideration that all my Life, ever fince [ had
the firlt Ufe of Reafon, I have been a loyal
Subject. .

Mr. Bar. /Pftann. Thele are Things that will be
confidered on AMondsy, but we can’t take Confi-
deration of it now. |

Cellier. I will go away then, and come again
on Mzndy.

M. Bar. 7/efion. No, youare to be committed
till thean, C

Aud fo the Keeper carvied her back fo Newgate 3
from whence on Monday the thivteenth of Sep-
tember, fhe was brought to the Bar to receive
ber Judgment, wbich Mr. Recorder gave thus,

Mr. Recorder ®, Mrs. Cellizr, the
Court doth think fit for Example
fake, that a Fine of one thonfind
Pounds be put upon you; that you be commit-
ted i Execution till that thoufand Pounds be
paud : And becaufe a pecuniary Mulét is not a
fufficient Recompence to Juftice, which you have
offendﬁd, the Court doth likewife pronounce a-
ganft you, That you be put on the Pillory three
feveral Days, in three feveral publick Places : In
the firlt Place, in regard her braided Ware re-
cetved 1ts firft Impreffion and Vent at her own
Houfe, it is thought fit that fhe ftand (as near her
own Houfe as conveniently can be) between the
Hours of Twelve and One, for an Hour’s Space,
at the May-pole in the Strand, on the moft noto-
rious Day ; I think there is a Market near that
Place, let it be on that Day, At another Time,

that
3
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that {he ftand in Covent-Gardes on a publick Day,
the like Space of Time; a third Time, ‘that the
fand at Charing-Craofs on the moft publick Day,
for the Space of an Hour.  Andin the nexr Place,
That fhe find Surcties for her good Behaviour
during her Life; and in every Place where fhe
fhall ftand on the Pillnry,_ fome Parcels of her
Books fhall, in her own View, be burnt by the
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Hands of the common Hangiman, and a Paper
of the Caufe to be put upon the Pillory.

Then the Court charged the Sheriff, That be take
Care in every Place for a fufficient Grard, that
the Pedce iay be kept 5 and fhe was rettirned {0
the Goal,

I .
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Cll. The Trial of WiILL1AM Fifcount STAFFORD *; Je-
fore the Lords at Wetltmun{ter, #pon an Impeachment for
High-Treafon, November 30, 1680, 32 Car. 11.

The FirsT Davy.

JLL 1AM Earl of Powis, William Vif-

count Stafford, Henry Lord drundel of
Werdonr, William Lord Petre, and Fobn Lord
Bellcfis, having been formerly tmpeached in the
Houle of Lords, of High-Treafon, and other
high Crimes and Offences, by the Houfe of Con:-
mons, in the Name of themfelves, and of all the
Commons of England :

And the Houfe of Commons having fent a Mef-
fage to the Lords, to acquamt them with the Re-
{olutton of that Houfe, to proceed to the Tral
of thofe Lords, then in the Tower, and forthwith
to begin with the faid Vifcount Stafferd, and to de-
fire their Lordfhips to appoint 2 convenient Day
for the Trial of the faid Vifcount Stafford : Their
Lordfhips did thereupon appoint the 3oth Day of
November 1680, for his Trial.  And a Place n
Weftininfter- Hall having been for that Purpofe eret-
ed, the fame was as followeth : vz, Theremn were
both Secats and Wool-packs, correfpondent m all
Points to thofe in the Hoiife of Lords; as alfo a
State placed at the upper End thereof, with a Ca-
binet for the King, and whom his Majefty fhould
think fit to attend him there, on the right Hand
the State ; and the like on the left Hand, for the
Queen and her Followers ; as alfo Galleries over
Head for Ambafladors and others.

And to the End that the Commons might be fit-
ted with Seats upon this great Occafion, there were
ereCted for them, on each Side, divers Benches, on
feveral Degrees, extending to the utmoft Walls of
the Hall.

At the lower End, the Bar, whereunto the Pri-
{foners were to be brought, bemg placed, on the
right Hand thereof was a Place raifed about five
Foot, wherein the Witnefles, were to ftand 3 and
on the left Hand a convenient Room for thofe
particular Members of the Houfe of Commons,
who were to manage the Evidence.

And the Right Honourable Heneage Lord Fiuch,
Baron of Daweniry, Lord High Chancellor of Eug-
land, being by his Majefty’s {pecial Letters Patent,
bearing Date the 3oth of Nevember 1680, confti-
tuted [.ord High Steward for that prefent Occa-
fion; upon Tuefday the faid goth of Nevemler,
the Lord High Steward was honourably attended
from his Houfe in Queen-Street by all the Judges of

his Majelty’s Courts in WWeflminfter-Hall, in their
Robes; as alfo by Garser Principal King of
Arms, in his Majefty’s Coat of Arms, and the
Gentleman- Ufher of the Black-Rod, unto whom
his Majefty had the Day before delivered the
white Wand, to be carried before his Lordfhip:
And about nine of the Clock m the Morning
fet forward in his Coach towards #efiminficr, fic-
ting at the hinder End thereof, Garter and the
Gentlemen who bore the Great Seal fitting both
uncovered at the other End ; one of the Serjeants
at,Arms, with his Mace, being placed on the right
Side the Coach, and the Uther of the Black-Rod,
carrying the white Wand, on the left Side 5 the
Judges and lus Lordfhip’s Gentlemen in feveral
Coaches following after. -

Being thus come to the Stairs-foot, afcending
to the Houfe of Peers, the Judges went up two
and two together, (the Jumiors firft ;) next the
Lord High Steward’s Gentlemen ; after them the
Serjeant at Arms with his Mace, and the Seal-
Bearer; and laftly, the Gentleman-Ufher of the
Black-Rod, bearing the white Wand: Garser
Principal King of Arms going on his right
Hand.

Then his Lordfhip alone, his Train borne by
one of his Gentlemen, In this Manner entering
the Houfe of Peers, he found all the Lords in
their fcarlet Robes, alfo the Bifthops in their Ro-
chets, and took his Place upon the uppermolt
‘Wool-Sack.

This done, and Prayers ended, his Commiflion
for Lord High Steward was read ; and then the
Bithops receded, and the Lords adjourned them-
{elves into the new erected Court in /7cftininfiei-
Hall,

All Things betng thus in readinefs, and a large
Door-place broken through the upper End of 77/
minfter-Hall, into that Room which was hereto-
fore The Court of Wards : |

Their Lordfhips pafled from their Houfe firft
ito the parmited Chamber, then through that called
The Court of Requeftsy theuce, turning on the
left Hand into that called The Court of Wards
then entered at the Door, fobroke down as afore-
{aid, into #efiminfier-Hall, and pafled thrcugh a
long Gallery, placed between the Aing’s-Beireh and
Chancery Courts, nto this new erefted Court 1n
Weftminfier-Hally, and  proceeded after this Man-

ner, iz,
| ' Firft,

‘ \ |
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Firft, the Afliftants to the Clerk of the Par-
liament,

Then the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, and
Cletk of the Parliament 5 after them the Mafters
in Chancery two and two, and the King’s Attor-
ney-General alone.

Then the Judges of all the Courts i 27/efliinir-
SJter-Iell; by two and two.,

Next to them the Noblemens eldeft Sons.

- After them four Serjeantsat Arms, bearing their
Maces.

Next the Gentleman-Ufher of the Black-Rod.

Then all the Noblemen, according to their re-
{pective Degrees, the Jumiors firft, vz, Barons,
Vilcounts, Earls.

Great Officer, w7z, Lord Chamberlain of the
Houfhold.

Marguiffes, Dukes.

Great Officers, Lord Privy Seal, Lord Prefi-
dent of the Council.

"Then four more Serjeants at Arms, bearing their
Maces. .

After them, the Gentleman carrying the Great
Seal.

Then one of his Majefty’s Gentlemen-Ufhers,
daily Waiters, carrying the white Wand 3 Gai-
zer Prinapal King of Arms, going on his right
Hand.

Then the Lord High Steward alone, having
tis Train borne ; and after him his Highnefs Rx-

peit Duke of Cumnberlend, aPrince of the Blood.

This done, and the whole Houfe of Peers hav-
ing taken their Places according to their Degrees,
the Commons being alfo feated on each Side, and
the Managers in the Rooms appointed for them
the Commons being all bare, the Lord High Stew-
ward, after Obeilfance made towards the State,
took his Place upon the uppermoft Wool-fack,
and thereupon receiving the white Wand from
Garter and the Gentleman-Uther upon their Knees,
delivered it to the Ufher of the Black-Rod, who
held it during the Time of fitting there. Having
fo done, his Lordfhup faid, Cryer, make Procla-
mation of Silence. Then the Cryer, a Serjeant at
Arms, made Proclamation thus: All Manner of
Perlons are ftraitly communded to keep Silence up-

on Pain of Imprifonment. God fave the King.
Lord High Stcwerd. Make Proclamation for the

Lieutenant of the ower to bring the Prifoner to
the Bar.

Cryer. O yesy O ves; O yes; Lieutenant of
the Tewer of Londcin, bring forth thy Prifoner 777/-
ficziz Vifcount Stefferd, upon Pain and Peril {hall
fall thereon. God fave the King.,

Whereupon the Lieutenant of the Toteer brought
the Prifoner to the Bar.

Ulbei of the Black Red. My Lord Siafford muft
kneel 5 which he did.

L. H. §. Rife, my Lord.

Then he arofe, and flood at the Bar, and the
Lord High Steward {pake to him as followeth :

My Lord Fifeount Stafford,

HE Commons of Lr:gland aflembled in Par-

lament have impeached your Lordfhip of
High-Treafon 5 and you are brought this Day to
the Bar to be tried upon that Impeachment : You
are not tried upon the Indi®ment of Treafon found
by the Grand Jwy, though there be that too in the
Cafe ; but you are profecuted and purfued by the
loud and dreadful Complaints of the Commeons;
and are to be tried upon the Prefentment which
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hath been made by the Grand Inqueft of the whole
Nation.

In this fo great and weighty Caufe, you are to
be judged by the whole Body of the Ioufe of
Peers, the higheft and the nobleft (;UEH‘E in thie,
or perhaps in any other Part of the Cll{‘l&lall World.

Here you may be {ure no falfe Weights or Mea-
{ures ever will or can be found : EHere the Balance
will be exactly kept, and all the Gramns of Allow-
ance, which your Cafe will bear, will certanly be
put into the Scales.

But asit is impoflible for my Lords to condemn
the Innocent, fo it is equally impoflible that they
fhould clear the Guilty.

If therefore you have been agitated by a reftlefs
Zeal, to promote that which you call the Cuthc-
lick Canfe 5 1f this Zeal have engaged you m fuch
deep and black Defigns as you are charged with,
and this Charge fhall be fully proved, then you
muft expedt to reap what you have fown ; for eve-
ry Work muft and ought to receive the Wages
that are due to 1t.

Hear therefore with Patience what fhall be faid
agamit you, for youthall have full Time and Scope
to anfwer ity and when you come to make your
Defence, you fhall have a very fairand equal Hear-
Ing.
g]fn the mean Time the belt Entrance upon this
Service will be to begin with the reading of the

Charge.

L. H. §. My Lord, if your Lordfhip find your-
felf infirm and unable to ftand, your Lordthip may
have a Chair to eafe yourfelf whilt your Charge
s reading.  And a Chair wwas brought accordingly,
aid bis Lordbip fat thereos.

Clerk of the Parlizment, read the Charge,

ARrt1cres of Impeachment of High-Trea-
Jon, and other bigh Griames and Offences,
againft William Ear/ of Powis, William
Vifcount Staftord, and Henry Lord Arun-
del of Wardour, William ZLosd Petre,

and John Lord Bellalis, now Prifoners i

the ‘Tower of London.
I. HA'T for many Years now laft paf,

there hath been contrived and carried on
by Papifts, a traiterous and execrable Confpiracy
and Plot within this Kingdom of Exglend, and
other Places, to alter, change, and {ubvert the
ancient Government and Laws of this Kingdom
and Nation, and to fupprefs the true Religion
therein eftablifhed, and to extirpate and deftroy
the Profeffors thereof ; which faid Plotand Con-
{piracy was contrived and carried on in divers
Places, and by feveral Ways and Means, and by
a great Number of Perfons of feveral Qualities
ana Degrees who acted therein, and intended
thereby to execute and accomplith the aforefaid
wicked and traiterous Defigns and Puarpofes.
¢ 2, Thatthe faid /¥illiem Earl of Powis, IVil-
liain Vilcount Stafford, Henry Lord Arundl of
Wardour, Williain Lovd Petre, and fobn Lord
Beliafis, together with Philip Howard, common-
ly called Cardinal of Nerfolk, Thomas White,
alas Whitebiead, commonly called Provincial of
the Fefuits m England, Richard Strange, lately
called Provincial of the Feftits in England,

Vieent, commonly called Provincial of
the Dominicans in Lugland, Fames Corker, com-

* monly
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monly called Prefident of the Benedifiines 3 Sir
Fobn Werner, alias Clare, Baronet; William
Harconrt, Fobn Kenis, Nicholas Blundel, — Poole,
Edward Mico, Thoinas Beding field, alias Beie-
field, Bofil Langwortb, Charles Peters, Richard
Peters, Fobn Conyers, Six George IV akennan, Thomas
fepwick, Dominick Kelty, Fitz-gerald, Euvcrs,
Sir Thoinas Prefpon, William Lovel, Jefuits 5 Lord
Baltimere, Fobn Carrel, Jobn Townley, Richard
Langhorin, T¥illian Fozarty, Thomas Peuny,
Matthew Medbeurin, Edward Coleman, Willian
Ireland, Fobn Grave, Tbamrfs Pff%ﬁ‘?‘f?fg, Fobi
Smith, and divers other Jefuits, Priefts, Friers,
and other Perfons, as falfe Traitors to his Ma-
jefty and this Kingdom, within the Time afore-
{aid, have traiteroufly confulted, contrived, and
2&ted to and for the accomplifhing of the faid
wicked, pernicious, and traiterous Defigns; and
for that end did moft wickedly and traiteroufly
agree, confpire, and refolve to imprifon, depofe,
and murder his facred Majefty, and to deprive
him of his Royal State, Crown and Dignity ; and
by malicious and advifed Speaking, Writing,
and otherwife, declared fuch their Parpofes and
Intentions.

¢ And alfo to fubje@ this Kingdom and Nati-
on to the Pope, and to his tyrannical Govern-
ment.

¢ And to feize and fhare among themfelves the
Eftates and Inheritances of his Majefty’s Pro-
teftant Subjects.

< And to ere@ and reftore Abbeys, Monafteries,
and other Convents and Societies, which have
been long fince, by the Laws of this Kingdom,
fupprefled for their Superflition and Idolatry ;
and to deliver upand reftore to them the Lands
and Poffeffions now vefted n his Majefty and his
Subjeéts by the Lawsand Statutes of this Realm :
And alfo to found and ere@ new Monafteries and
Convents, and to remove and deprive all Pro-
teftant Bithops, and other Ecclefiaftical Perfons
from their Offices, Benefices, and Preferment,
¢ And by this means to deftroy his Majefty’s
Perfon, extirpate the Proteftant Religion, over-
throw the Riglhts, Liberties, and Properties of
all his Majefty’s good Subjeéts, {ubvert the law-
ful Government of this Kingdom, and fubjeét the
fame to the Tyranny of the Sce of Roie,

¢ 3. That the faid Confpirators, and their Com-
plces and Confederates, traiteroufly had and held
{everal Meetings, Affemblies, and Confultations,
wheremn 1t was contrived and defigned among
them, what Means fhould be ufed, and what Per-
fons and Inftruments fhould be employed, to
murder his Majefty ; and did then and there re-
folve to effe@ it by poifoning, fhooting, ftab-
bing, or fome fuch hke Ways and Means ; and
offered Rewards and Promifes of Advantage to
feveral Perfons to execute the fame, and hired
and employed {everal wicked Perfons to go to
Windfor, and other Places where his Majefty
did refide, to murder and deftroy his Majefty ;
which faid Perfons, or fome of them, accepted
fuch Rewards, and undertook the perpetrating
thereof, and did a@ually go to the faid Places
for that End and Purpofe.

¢ 4. That the faid Confpirators, the better to
compafs their traiterous Defigns, have confulted
to raife, and have procured and raifed Men, Mo-
ney, Horfes, Armsand Ammunition; and allo
have made Application to, and treated and cor-

refponded with the Pope, his Cardmals, Nun-
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cio’s, and Agents, and with other Foreign Mi-
nifters and Perfons, to raife and obtain Supvlies
of Men, Money, Armsand Ammunition, there-
with to make, levy, and raife War, Rebellionand
Tumults within this Kingdom, and to mvade
the fame with foreign Forces, and to furprize,
[cize, and deftroy his Majefty’s Navy, Forts,
Magazines, and Places of Strength within this
Kingdom ; whereupon the Calamities of War,
Murders of innocent Subjects, Men, Women
and Children, Burnings, Rapines, Devaftations
and other dreadful Mifertes and Mifchiefs muft
mevitzbly have enfued, to the Ruin and De-
{truétion of this Nation.
¢ 5. And the faid Confpirators have procured
and accepted, and delivered out certam Inftru-
ments, Commuffions and Powers, made and
granted by or under the Pope, or other unlaw-
ful and ufurpea Authority, to raife and difpofe of
Men, Montes, Arms, and other Things neceffary
for their wicked and traiterous Defigns; and
namely, a Commiffion for the fard [fezry Lord
Arundel of Wardeur, to be Lord-Chancellor of
England ; another Commniffion to the faid 7o
Earl of Poivis, to be Lord-Treafurer of Euglend;
another Commifiion to the (aid Fobn Lord 5l
lafts, to be General of the Army to be raifed,
another Commiffion to the fad 7/ am Lord
Petre, to be Lieutenant-General of the faid Ar-
my ; and a Power for the fuid 2%/ fam Vilcount
Stafford, to be Paymafter of the Army.
¢ 6. That m order to encourage themfeclves in
profecuting therr faid wicked Plots, Confpira-
cies and T'reafons, and to hide and hinder the
Difcovery of the fame, and to fecure themf{elves
from Juftice and Punifhment, the Confpirators
aforefaid, their Complices and Confederates, have
ufed many wicked and diabolical Praétices; v:z.
They did caufe their Priefts to adminifter to the
faid Confpirators an Oath of Secrecy, together
with their Sacrament ; and alfo did caufle thewr
faid Priefts, upon Confeflions, to give their Ab-
{olutions, upon condition that they fhould con-
ceal the fatd Confpiracy.
¢ And when about the Month of Scp‘ember laft,
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, a Juftice of Peace, had
according to the Duty of his Oath and Office,
taken feveral Exammations and Informations
concerning the faid Confpiracy and Plot 5 thé
faid Confpirators, or fome of them, by Advice,
Affent, Counfel, and Infligation of the reft, did
meite and procure divers Perfors to lie in wait
and purfue the fuid Sir Edmondiary Godficy di-
vers Days, with Intent to murder him; which
at laft was perpetrated and effected by thewm ;
(for which faid horrid Crimesand Gffences, Ro-
bert Green, Henry Berry, and Lazwrence Hill have
fince been attainted ;5 and Dominick Kelly, and—
Girald, and others are fled for the fame.) After
which Murder, and before the Body was found,
or the Murder known to any but the Complices
therem, the faid Perfons falfly gave out, that ke
was altve and privately married ; and after the
Body was found, difperfed a falfe and malicious
¢ Report that he had murdered himfelf.

¢ Which faid Murder was committed with De-
¢ fign to ftifle and fupprefs the Evidence he had
¢ taken and had Knowledge of, and difcourage and
¢ deter Magiftrates and others from a&ing in fur-
¢ ther Difcovery of the faid Confpiracy and Plot:
¢ For which End alfo the faid Sir Edmendbury
¢ Godfrey, while he was alive, was by them, élieir
¢ om-
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¢ Complices and Favourers, threatned and difcou-
¢ raged in his Proceedings about the fame.

¢ . And of their further Malice, they have
< wickedly contrived, by many falfe Suggeftions,
¢ to lay the Imputation and Guilt of the aforefaid
¢ horrid and dsteftable Crime upon the Protef-
¢ tants; that fo thereby they might efcape the
¢ Punifhments they have juftly deferved, and ex-
¢ rofe the Proteftants to great Scandal, and {ubject
¢ them to Perfecution and Oppreflion, in all King-
“ doms and Countries where the Romifh Religion
< 1s received and profeffed.

¢ All which Treafons, Crimes, and Offences
¢ ahove-mentioned, were contrived, committed,
¢ perpetrated, acted and done by the faid #illian
¢ Yarl of Powis, Williain Vilcount Stafferd, Wil-
¢ liain Lord Petre, Heuwry Lovd Arundel of War-
“ dony, and Febn Lord Bellafis, and other the Con-
¢ {pirators aforefaid, agamft our Sovereign Lord
¢ the King, his Crown and Digmity, and againft
¢ the Laws and Statutes of this Kingdom.

¢ Of «ll which Treafons, Crimes, and Offences,
¢ the Knights, Citizens, and Burgefles in Parlia-
« ment aflembled, do, in the Name of them{elves,
¢ and of all the Commons of England, impeach the
< faid Filliam Earl of Powis, Williain Vifcount
<« Stafford, William Lovd Petre, Herry Lord A-
¢ yundel of Wardour, and Fobn Lord Bellefis, and
¢ every of them.
¢ And the faid Commons by Proteftation, fav-
¢ ing to themfelves the Liberty of exhibiting at
¢ any Time hereafter, any other Accufations or
¢ Impeachments aganft the fad 77illiam Earl of
¢ Powis, Williain Vifcount Stafferd, William Lord
< Petre, Henry Lord drundel of Wardowr, and
¢ Fobn Lord Bellafis, and every of them: And
¢ alfo of replying to the Anfwers which they, and
¢ every of them, thall make to the Premifes, or
¢ any of them; or toany other Accufation or Im-
¢ peachment which fhall be by them exhibited,
¢ (as the Caufe, according to Courfe and Proceed-
¢ ings of Parllament, fhall require) do pray, that
< the fmd #illiain Barl of Powis, William Vilc.
< Stafford, William Lord Petre, Hemry Lord A4-
¢ rundel of Wardonr, and Fobn Lord Bellafis, and
¢ every of them, be put to anfwer all, and every
¢ the Premifes: And that {uch Proceedings, Ex-
¢ aminations, Trials and Judgments, may be upon
¢ them, and every of them, had and ufed, as {hall
¢ be agreeable to Law and Juftice, and Courfe of
t

Parliament.?

The Humble Anfwer of William Vifeount of Staf-
ford, now Prifoncr in bis Majefty’s Tower of
Loundon, to the Impeackment of High-Treafon,
and etber High Crimes and Mifdemeanois exhibit-
ed againft bim and others, 1o the Right Honoura-
ble the Lords Spirvitual and Temporal in Parlia-
ment, by toe Kuights, Citizens, and Burge[fes, in
Parliginent affembled, in the Name of themfelves,

and of the Commons of England.

HE fad Vifcount, faving to himfelf all

Advantage and Benefit of Exceptions to
the Generality, Incertainty, and Infufficiency of
the faid Impeachment, moft humbly befeeching
their Lordfhips thereof to take due Notice, and
thereunto at all Times to have a juft Regard : He
anfwereth and faith, That he is Not Guilty of
all, or any of the Offences charged againft him
by the faid Impeachment ; and for his Trial hum-
“ blyand willingly putteth himfelf upon his Peers;
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¢ no ways doubting, but that by the Grace of God,
¢« and their Lordfhips impartial Juftice, he fhall
¢ make s Innocence appear.  All which he moft
¢ humbly fubmitteth unto their Lordfhips further

¢ Confideration.’
STAFFQRD.

L H.S§. Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons,
be pleafed to proceed,

Then Mr. Serjeant Maynard, one of the Commitsee
appointed 1o ianage the Evideice, began as fol-
loweth.

My Lords,

A'Y it pleafe your Lordfhips; by the Com-

mand of the Houfe of Commons, who
have 1mpofed upon us this Taflz, we are here to
profecute this great Charge againt the Prifoner,
the Lord at the Bar, My Lords, there are two
Parts that are in this great Charge; there is a Ge-
neral, which is the Subverfion of the whole Na-
tion, the King himfelf to be murdered, the Pro-
teftant Religion to be fuppreff=d, War to be intro-
duced, and thofe other Things that are «xprefled in
the Articles. This General is charged in particular
upon this Lord ; and, my Lords, it was 1 Confi-
deration, how far 1t was fit to meddle with this
General at this particular Trial: For if this Lord
be guilty of fuch Crimes, it will prove well e-
nough that there was fuch a Plot, But, my Lords,
withat we did confider when the firft Difcovery
of this Plot was made, how afterwards it took
cold, how Rumors were raifed againft it, how
there were Iindeavours to fupprefs the Belief of
it 5 and therefore, my Lords, we do conceive that
it 1s fit we thould firft fettle that, that there was
a General Plot, a Plot of {uch a Nature as the Ay-
ticles exprefs,

Some Objections we thought there might be
tailfed, becaufe it hath been fo long inthe World,
fome Years now fince the Difcovery of it, {ome
Perfons, that 1s, fome ten or eleven, profecuted
and attainted for it, and therefore that might have
been Satisfaction enough that fuch a Plot thera
was ; befides, that there have been publick Decla-
rations of the Particulars of it to the World, But
teing now to proceed before your Lordfhips in 2
judicial Way, we did think fit, and we hope your
Lordfhips will approve of it, to fpend fome Time
n the Proof of the General Plot, which we hope
will be to the Satisfaction of your Lordfhips and
the whole World ; for we do not think that Eyg-
fand only looks into this Day’s Trial, but the
whole World one Way or other, the whole Chrif-
tian World is concerned in it. My Lords, after
the Publication of thefe Things, (which were not
judicial) how far your Lordfhips will believe them,
as Judges, we know not; we will prove it now,
that their Policies and Contrivances may be laid
open to the World, And firft we offer it to your
Lordthips, becaufe we have made it Pact of the
Charge.  And fecondly, we fhall doit, becaufe we
think your Lordfhips are not obliged to believe
Things that are in Print, till we prove them by
Witnefles judicially before you. But the main
Reafon why we do it, is, becaufe we would touch
upon thofe Endeavours that have been ufed to
make this feem as if it were a kind of State-Plot,
I know not what to call it, a Chimera, an Ima-
gination, and not a real Thing. This they la-
boured many Ways to effect, but we fhall prove
that it 1sa very real and a very true one. +

3 When
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When that Oafes firlt made a Difcovery, it
feems it had not that weight that we think now it
will clearly have with your Lordfhips 3 and had
not the Murder of Sir Zdmuidbury Godfrey followd
in the neck of it, the World, as it was afleep,
would have lain fo; but thatawaked us,

My Lords, it fell out in this cafe as it did in a-
nother : when Catiline the Trator was a great
way off Roixe, and four other Lqrds with him,
Caffius, Cetlzegns, and others, five in all; it came
to pafs, that, as the great Orator that was at that
time fuid, Maiy were fo ignorant that they would not
think it many wwere Jo uncoife they would not belicve
it5 fome fo ill that they world fevonr it 5 and fome
fo mch wwoife that they did fofter it 5 but all of them
ji ot beficving ity gave frength to the Confpiracy
end ibe Trcefon,  And fo it did here, for we look
not upon ouifelves as difcharged from the Treafon
when difcover’d, but when prevented.

My Lords, another Realon to induce vs into the
Proof of the Main Plot is this; we do not look upon
it 2s a particular Offence, as if one Lord was only
to be queftion’d, and appear before your Lordthips
judicially for it; he is indeed only before you at
this time to receive his Trial, and your Judgment:
But, my Lords, This 1s a Treafon of a Faétion,
and of a general Party i the Nation; *us not this
or that Lord, butagreat Number : tis not this or
that Lord that 1s mention’d in the Articles, but
the Confpiracy 1s of a great Facion. This do
we think, and this makes usfo earneft to prefs the
General before your Lordfhips, that we may give
Satisfaction to your Lordfhips and the World what
this Plot hath been, and how carried on every
where.

My Lords, the Confequence of that is very
great: ¥or my Lords, 1f there were a general
Defign, and a general Plot, as clearly there was;
fome were to act i Spain, and fome in France, fome
i other Places, fomein frelaiid, Scotiend, and Eng-
laidd, and a great number of Jefuits, (we have a
matter of Thirty i chafe about this Bufinefs ;) I
fay, my Lords, ifit be fo, if one A&ion be in one
Place, and another in another; yet if there be a
common Confent to accomplith this Plot, then
what the one does, is the Act of all, and the A&
ofallis the Act of every one.

My Lords, The Perfons were many, and the
Places and Times many they aded in, and the De-
fignswhich they were to accomplifh, and the Means
wherewith they were to accomplifh them, were
many too. Great and wicked were their Defigns,
to deftioy our King, to take him out of the
World; and why? upon hopes of better Times
to them under him that thould fucceed him. Ano-
ther part of the Defign, was to deftroy, not this
or that Man that ftood in their Way, but the whole
Body of the Proteflants here in England; not a
Murder but a Maffacre and a Slaughter of all who-
oever they were that came near them, and none
were to efcape; for if any meant to flee, they
would be fure to cut them off: nay, not only to
deftroy our King, though that be the greateft Of-
fence that our Law can take hold of, but to de-
ftroy our Religion, and to deftroy us becaufe of
our Religion. '

To accomplifh this, that we may open the Ge-
nerals of it, Arms were to be provided, Men to
be ratfed, an Army was formed in effe¢t s and
who to lead, and who to command, and who to
pay. But, My Lords, not only were Armsto be

had here among ourfelves, but a French Aid muft
Vou. III. |
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be fetch’d in; Affiftance from France muft come
too: Intelligences and Letters are written, and
Correfpondencies had, and Aids promifed by the
Minifters from thience.

My Lords, *Tisa ftrange Thing that Englifmen
fhould contrive to have an Invafion of Strangers
upon their own Country ; and furely they are the
worft Bigots in the World that were fo zealous to
deftroy their own Nation : and they were not w.fe
fure to think, thatif the French did come in, they
fhould continue great Lords or great Men ; and
yet thus it was in general, It is very ftrange that
it {hould enter into the Heart of any Man to de-
{troy fo many Perfons. But, my Lords, if we
look upon what did encourage them, and what
confirmed them in this Defign, and what they
have publithed to the World about their Religi-
on, we fhall not wonderat it; fince they tell us
*tis lawful to kill a Heretick King, and the King
of Eugland is an Heretick, they fay, and fo decla-
red, fo that whofoever would kill him did a lawful
and pious piece of Service to Ged: nay, not on-
ly fo, but a meritorious and glorious one too, for
which they may be canoniz’d for Saints.

My Lords, We find it is no new thing: Look
into all the Nations where the Pope hath any
Power, or a poflibility of hope to gain a Power,
nothing hath been able to ftand in their way, but
they have broken thro’ all the Bonds of Nature,
and other Obligations to attain their Ends. Look
into Spain, King Philip there removed his own Son,
by what Means the Story tells us, he was Heir ap-
parent, but he was a Proteftant; and there alfo
the Father puts fire to his own Daughter, becaufe
the was a Proteftant ; there a Spaniard goes from
Spain mto Germany to murder, and did murder his
Brother for no other caufe but becaufe he wasa
Proteftant. Leave Spain, and go into Fraice ;
what Maflacres have been committed there under
the colour of a Marriage in Queen Elizabeth’s
time ? And before that, how many hundred 4/b;-
genfesand Waldenfes have been put to the Sword for
Religion? Come we to our own Country, and look
into Eagland,whathath beendone here,when Queen
Llizabeth had a Succeffor of another Religion, how
many Attempts were there made upon her Perfon
to bring that Succeflorin? When King Fames came
to the Crown, let us remember the Gunpowder-
Treafon, whereinallthe Nation was to be deftroy’d ;
King, Lords, and Commonstogether, and in Par-
liament affembled, were then to be a Sacrifice, a
Burnt-Offering, though they might callita Peace-
Offering ; for thefe Gentlemen are for Sacrifices of
Blood as Peace-Offerings, to reconcile us to the
Pope. If this be made out, we think, their Prin-
ciples having produced thefe Fruits in other Ages,
we may believe they would do {o now.

What has been faid as Hiftory of former Times,
is not offered as Evidence of Fa& to the prefent
Cafe, but induces a Probability that what hath
been done by fuch Perfons may be done by them
agamn. But, my Lords, we fhall make it clear,
and bring it home to this Lord, that he hath had
his Head, his Tongue, his Hand, his Heart and
his Purfe in this damnable and horrible Contri-
vance and Treafon for the deftroying of the King,
the Government, our Religion and our Nation.
We fhall bring 1t home to him; but my Part is
only to open the general Confpiracy : And indeed,
my Lords, it 1s an heavy Burdenonmy aged Shoul-
ders, confidering that the Winter of Infirmity and
Age 15 growing fo faft upon me.
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My Lords, The Particulars concerning this no-
ble Lord, becaufe the Credit of 1t reftlson the
Teftimony only of ene Man, wiz. Mr. Oates, whofe
Teftimony being taken by Sir Ednnnabury Godfrey,
Juftice of Peace, and kept in writing by him, then
Sic Edpundbury Gedfrey was way-lad, and mur-
der'd by Men of the Popifh Religion, thereby to
fupprefs the Examination that he had taken.

This ftartled and open’d the Eyes of the World
to look about us for farther Difcovery, left we
fhould be led as Oxen to the Slaughter, not knowing
whither we weit.

Afterward it pleafed God to bring {ome of ther
Religion and Party to make further Difcovery:
whereupon feveral Jefuits, guilty of the Plot,
were therefore profecuted and brought to Judgment

and Death.
After the Murder of Godfrey, feveral Fables

were {pread abroad, as if he were alive and mar-
ried, as was declared to feveral Lords : others of
the Party reported he had murder’d himfelf ; but
his Body being found, it was hard for the Party
to invent or tell, whether he firft firangled him-
{elf, and then run himfelf through, or firt run
himfelf through, and then firangled himfelf: That
was a Dilemna to difprove their Fables touching
Godfrey’s Murder,

It then fell out, that Mr. Bedisww came as a
{zcond Dilcoverer, whofe Teftimony concurred
with Oates s and then there being two Witnefles,
as 1s necellary in Cafe of Treafon, the Defign was
to take off Bedlco, that there fhould remam but
one. afingle Witnefs: In order to which, Reading
tempts Bedlow with Rewards to leflen his former
Teftimony, and qualifies that which he had de-
pofed pofitively was but Matter of Hear-fay
for which Readiiz, the Inftrument in that Defign
and Attempt, was indicted and convicted by three
Witnefles, and fuffered accordingly.

But then this Attempt upon Bedlow failing, the
next Attempt was to take off Oates’s Teftimony,
by charging him with an infamous Offence : for
which purpofe one Awoy 1semploy’d, who fuborns
Laire and Qfborn, and they fwvore it againft Oates
but on Re examination confefs the Subornation and
Falfhood of their Defign, and Kusx and Lane are
therefore indicted and found guilty.

Thus when the T'reafon was difcover’d, the Mur-
der of an Officer of Juftice 1s made the Means to
hide it and then falfe and infamous Stories fet on
foot of that Officer to hide that Murder, and Per-
jury and Subornation the Means to blaft the Dif-
coverers,

Thefe wicked and 11l Practices we take to bea
fecond Proof of the Plot, both in general and
particular, the Records of which Convictions are
here before your Lordfhips ready to be proved :
For, cui beio, none would do fuch wicked Pra-
&ices, but to hide a greater Sin; and worfe De-
figns if poffible will be opened, and proved by one
to whom that is particularly appointed.

My Lords, We {peak this that the World may
receive Satisfaction ;3 we will let our Evidence be
all open and publick in the Face of the Sun, and
(hew, we go not about by private Subornations,
though there are Endeavours to encounter us by
fuch.

My Lords, If wemake out thefe things, here1s
Matter enough for the Satisfaction of the World,
as to the general Contrivance. But, my Lords,
as you fit here as Judges of this Lord, the Prifo-
ner at the Bar, we muft bring it down to particu-
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lar Perfons, and we fhall do it even to him, that
thofe things which were mention’d in general were
his Contrivance at leaft-wile, as a Man highly
deeply guilty of confpiring the King’s Death ; and
inorder to that, of raifing an Army, and the o-
ther Things that have been open’d.

My Lords, Ibefeech youto pardon me, if I have
troubled you too long : The Particulars are many,
I have had lhittle help to prepare 1t from any body
but my felf, but I fubmit my felf to your Lord-
fhips ; and hope that what 1s wanting in me, will
be fupply’d by others that follow: and I alfo hope
you will find no defe@ in our Evidenceat all,
whatfoever may have been m the opening of it

Then Sir Francis Winnington, awether of the Cosm-
mittee appointed for the Management of the Evi-
dence, [poke as followeth,

My Lords,
I Shall begin where Mr. Serjeant Maynard ended,
L and confine my {elf to this Cafe, as it ftands
before you, and to open the particular Evidence
relating to the Lord, the now Prifoner at the Bar.

My Lords, Ilook upon the Caufe of this Day
to be the Caule of the Proteftant Religion 5 and [
doubt not but that Plot, which has alarmed all
Coriffendoin, will be fo clearly made out in this
Trial, that the moft malicious of our Enemics
will henceforth want Confidence todeny it.

That the Religion of the Papifts does counte-
nance and encourage the murdering of Princes, the
maffacring of fuch as they mif-call Hereticks, and
the committing of all forts of Impiety, in order
to promote their Superftitions, and Idolatries, has
been mention’d by the Gentleman who fpoke be-
fore me; and I thould mifpend time to fay more of
a Truth {o well known, in {o great and o learned
a Prefence: I will therefore direétly apply my felf
to the Bufinefs of the Day, to reprefent to your
Lordfhips our Evidence of the Plot in general,
and of the Guiit of this Lord at the Barin par-
ticular,

In order to which, I fhall crave your Lordfhips
leave that I may ufe this Method.,

Firft, to fhew what advantageous Opportuni-
ties the Papifts had to enter into, and undertake
this great and deteftable Con{piracy.

Secondly, to prove the Reality of the Plot in
ge]?eral, which I look uponas a very eafy Undet-
taging,

Thirdly, To ftate the particular Evidence againft
the Prifoner at the Bar, by which he will appear to
have been one of the principal Confpirators in this
hornd Defign, to murder our Sovereign, (whom
God preferve) toextirpate the Proteftant Religion,
and to fubvert totally the Government and funda-
mental Laws of this Kingdom.

My Lords, to fhew what extraordinary Advan-
tages the Papilts had to enterupon this Confpiracy,
will very naturally lead us into our Proofof it
and therefore I fhall {fpeak fomewhat to that in the
firft place.

[t 15 not unknown to your Lordfhips, or to any
others who have in the leaft degree enquired
into Affairs, that his Majefty has been fo unhappy
as that (unawares to him) fome Minifters, who
have been P_'Epiﬁs at the bottom, and others that
have drove ‘on their Intereft, have crept into
his Councils, and thereby gave great Opportunities
to advance Popery.
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sT4s moft true, that as-foon as thefe ill Minifters
were detected, and their ill Defigns difcovered,
his Majefty did difcharge thf:m . But to tbc Mif-
fortune of the King and his People, as ill Men
have been recommended to {ucceed them, and
came into their Places. _

In the next place, my Lords there d:_d appear
in fome Men too eafy and favourable a Difpofition
towards the Papifts. They were grown firangely
moderate towards thefe old Enemies of our Church
and State. New Projecls of reconciling us were
{et on foot, and Books were written to diftinguifh
the Church of Rome from the Cowrt of Reme,
One of thofe Books, which was printed the Year
before the Difcovery of the Plot, pretends, that
there ought to be a Difference madt Letween Pa-
pifts of loyal and difloyal Principles. This Book,
as it was written more artificially than the reft, and
publithed in fo critical and dangerous a Jun&ure,
deferves, and I doubt notn time will have, a par-
ticular Confideration. Tis eafy to helieve how
oreat Encouragement this muft give to the Rona-
aifts, to fee how very willing Men were to meet
them, and how freely the Pen was drawn in their
favour.

Another great Encouragement, my Lords, which
the Papifts had, was, That by the means of thofe
Minifters who were fecretly of their Faétion, when-
foever his Majefty was pleafed to command the
Laws .made againft them 1n the Reign of Queen
Elizabeth and King Fasires, to be put in due Exe-
cution, his good Intentions were fruftrated, and
the Severity of thofe Laws was turned upon the
Proteftant Diffenters.  This was a Mafter-piece of
Roime, not only to divert from themfelves the Edge
of thofe Laws which were defigned againft them,
but to turn them upon the Proteftants, and to make
them ufeful to advance the Remifh Intereft : And
when they had thus divided and diftracted us, then
was the faireft time for them to attempt to deftro
us utterly, and to make fharp their Weapons in
order to a Maffacre.

But, my Lords; that which gave the Papifts
the greateft Encouragement to enter into this dete-
ftable Confpiracy, was, that they had (to the great
unhappinefs of this Kingdom, and the Proteftant
Religion) the Expectation and Hopes of a Popith
succeflor.  This was an Opportunity not to be
loft. They had abundant Experience of his Ma-
jefty’s Firmnefs in the Proteftant Religion, both
during his Exile, and fince his happy Reftoration,
and how refolutely he had kept that Promife which
he made i his Letter from Breds, That neither
the Unkindnefs of fome Proteftants, nor the Ci-
vilities of fome Papifts, fhould in the leaft degree
ftartle him, or make him fwerve from his Reli-
gion.

They therefore could have no Hopes of arrving
at their Point,the Re-eftablifhment of their Church,
whilft the King lived ; and it was too great a Ha-
zard to expet his Majefty’s Death by the Courfe of
Nature: And therefore, like true Papifts, that
would ftick at no Wickednefs to accomplith their
Defigns, they threw off all Bonds of Loyalty and
Allegiance, and refolved to deftroy our Sovereign,
whofe Life was the only Obftacle in their way.
This was the laft and moft wicked Part of their
Plot, which, the’ it confifted of very many Parts,
yet this was the princtpal 3 and our Evidence a-

gainft the Lord at the Bar will chiefly run to this
Part of the Defign.
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I have only mentioned fome of thofe Encou-
ragements which the World plainly faw the Pa-
pifts had, before the Plot was deteéted : But fince
the Difcovery, it has been abundantly proved, that
it had been carrying on for many Years, and that
fo univerfally, that it is a wonderful thing it ap-
peared no fooner.

My Lords, I come now to our Evidence: And
tho’ it may feem unneceffary to prove to your
Lordfhips & g:neral Plot of the Papifts, who are
{o well fatisfied of it already, and have more than
once declared fo to the World; yet becaufe it is
the moft natural Method for us, firft to prove that
there was a Confpiracy, before we attempt to
prove this Lord to have been one of the Confpi-
rators, we fhall beg your Jeave as to that particu-
lar. And as we fhaii be careful not to take up too
much of your Time, {o we well know your Lord-
fhips will allow us all the Time neceffary to give
our Evidence.

We havemany Records, things reduced to Judg-
ment, whereby the Plot is moft undoubtedly
proved, and which are legal Evidences before your
Lordihips: the Attainders of feveral Jefuits and
Priefts, the Attainder of Laughorn and of Cole-
sman, whom I fhould have named in the firft place.
We have alfo the Conviction of thole that were
profecuted for the Murder of Sir Edmundiury Goi-
freys and there is a Conviction, tho’ not for the
Murder, yet for cutting the Throat of Mr. Arusld,
*Is true he 15 not dead, yet as to the Publick, [
count htm murdered by the Papifts, tho® he be a-
live in the World, My Lords, we have Convic-
tions not only of T'reafons, Murders, and cutting
of Throats, but of almoft ail other Villainies what-
foever: Asof Attempts to fuborn Witnefits, and
to {candalize the King’s Evidence ; and to that
we fhall produce the Records concerning Reading’s
Attempt upon Bedloe; that concerning the {ub-
orning of Kiox and Lane to fwear Buggery apainft
Dr. Oates ; and the Convi&ion of Tafborough and
Price to corrupt Dugdale, a principal Witnefs as
to this Plot,

Tonly mention thefe Particulars, my Lords ; and
certainly as you are a great Court of Record, you
will take notice of them. It would be a hard thing
perhaps to {fpend the time in reading all, fince all of
them are made known to the World already; butwe
fhall in the Courle of our Evidence produce them,
and you may read fuch of themas you pleafe.  All
the Ule we make of them, 1s for the Proof of the
general Plot, which is requifite to be done ; for it
will be hard to believe the Prifoner guilty of the
Plot, if there were no fuch Plot at all.

My Lords, We fhall make appear to you things
which have not yet been brought into Judgment,
In the Year 76, we fhall prove by a Witnefs that
was then abroad, and difcourfed with Auderton,
Campion, Green, and feveral other Priefts and Jefu-
its, that they did acquaint him that there would be
great Alteration m England €er long ; that the
King was a Heretick and excommunicated, and
might be deftroy’d; and this Doétrine they continu-
ally and induftrioufly preached. And they fusther
fard, 1f once the King were removed, (who alone
{tood in the way) their Religion muft needs flourifh;
for this reafon, as the Witneffes will fpeak, that
the Duke of 2ork was on their Side.

My Lords, We fhall prove, that they had in
Eigland Men no lefs induftrious amongit them,
{ome whereof have been executed : Gazan by name,
who made it his Bufinefs to go up and down in fe-
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veral Counties of this Kingdom, to prove by Scrip-
ture, Councils, and Examples, Thatit was a I_aw-
ful Undertaking to kill his Majefty. Thefe things
I name, as neceffary in order to introduce our par-
ticular Evidence; T am unwilling to dwell longer
upon this Point of the general Plot. I fhall pro-
duce the Records, and produce our feveral Wit-
neffes, Mr. Oates and others, that will give you
a full and plain Account of it.

My Lords, Having done with the general Plot,
I come now to open the particular Evidence a-
gainft my Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar, As to
him, my Lords, our Evidence flands not upon
Conjectures, or upon mere Probability, becaule
this Lord is, (as we well know) a zealous Papit,
and hath owned himf{elf {o ; but we have exprefs
particular Proofs againft his Perfon. My Lords,
we have one Witnefs to produce to your Lord-
thips, who will prove, that in September 48, there
was 2 Confult of fome Pricfts, and other Confpira-
tors, at Tixalin Stafferdfbire, my Lord dffoi’s
Houfe, for killing of the King, where my Lord
Stafford was prefent. And by a Difcourfe m the
fame Month, we fhall prove what Reafons this
Lord did give, why he and their Party undertook
the murdering of the King, becaufe, he faid, that
he and many Catholick Families had no Recom-
pence for thew Loyalty; but 1f any thing fell, it
was difpofed of to Rebels and Traitors. This he

refented deeply ; but above all, the Oblization of

his Confcience, and of his Religion perfeaded him
to 1t, and confirmed hun m his Refolution to go
on in this hornid Defign,

My Lords, Wewill go further, and prove that
this Lord offered 500/ out of his own Purfe to
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Foeyevich made anfwer, Your Lord[hip muft look af-
ter the Bufinefs as well as other Perfons ; and
there will be need of fome to countenance 1t in
Town: Thereapon the Lord, the Prifoner at the
Bar, faid, That they had been often deceived by
this Prince, and been patient with him, but they
would bear no longer, but were now refolved to
do the Work without Delav, for their Patience
was worn out, Several other particular Circum-
ftances the Witnels will acquaint your Lordfhips
withal, which I {hall not take up your tine with,
My Lords, We have a third Witnefs as confide-
rable and particular as any of the relt, one that
lived three Years in the Lady Potwss’s Houfe, had
his Fducation there, and was perfuaded by that
Lady, and by onc Adorgen o Jetuit, to become a
Frier, and to that end was fent to Doweay; but not
liking to continue at Desvar (he will tell you the
Reafon why) he efcaped to Fiaice, and at Paiis
caine to his Drother, a D.idi%ine Monk there,
who advifed him to go for Liglnd. But wiilft he
ftaid at Passs, this Gentleman, by the meansof his
Brother and other Priefts, grew into a great famu-
liarity with my Lord Siafferd, who was then
France, and who at Ialt came to have fuch a great
Confidence in himy, that his Lordfhip could not
hold, buttold him, that tho’ he had difobliged all
his Iriends by going away {rom Dziway, yet he had
{omething to propefc to him, whicl would be a
micans to reconcile him to his Friends, and bring
him into Preferment, and ieto the Friendfhip of
all good Catholicks, whom he would obhge by it.
The Gentleman was willing to embrace fo happy
an Opportunity, and defired to know what 1t was
could procure him {o great a Good. My Lord Siaf-

carry on the Plot, and particularly this part of ford, the Prifoner at the Bar, told him, It wasa

it, for killing the King. We fhall produce to
your Lordfhips a Witnefs to whom he made this
Offer, as looking upon him to be a faithful Man,
and having reccived {o great a Charaéter of him
from onc Lrveis a Prieft, that he thought he might
fafcly communicate the Matter to him; and the
Argument he urged to perfuade the Witnefs, be-
fides the 500/ which he {fud upon his Application
to [arconrt and fieleid they fhould pay him, was
this, That others as well as he were employed
the fame defign 5 that it was the anly way to efta-
blifh the Roirijo Religionin Englend; that he would
lay an everlafting Obligation upon all the Per{ons
of that Perfuafion, and that he fhould not only
have his Pardon, but be canoniz’d forit.

My Lords, This 1s the Subftance of the Teiti-
mony of the firt Witnefs which we fhall produce,
againft my Lord Staffeid 5 and that 1s fo exprels,
as I think 1t can hardly be anfwered.

My Lords, Our next Witnefs fays thus; {for I
fhall but open the Subftance of what they fay :) In
Fune or Fuly 1648, there were {feveral Letters from
fhis Lord at the Bar to the Jefwfs m Loadsi, in
which his Lordfhip did declare his Readinefs to
ferve them in their great Defign : And i Fzu>
(78) the latter End of the Month, my Lord §:af-
ford came toMr, Fenwicx’s Chamber in Dr#iy-Laie,
{he went not then by the Name of my Lord Siaf-
foird, but by the Name of Mr, Howard of Efjtucham)
and there hedid receive a Commiftion from Fiawwick
to be Paymafter-General of the Army which was
to be raifed for the carrying on the Plot. His Lord-
dhip told them he was then going into the Country,
but he hop’d ke fhould {foon hear from them, that
they had done the Bufinefs, at leaft that it would
be done before ts Lordfhip did return. To which

thing of very great Importance ; and after having
required from him all pofiible Obligations of Se-
crecy, he told him plamly what great DLenefits
would accrue to himfelf, and what Advantage
to the Catholick Caufe, if he would make him.
felf and the Nation happy, by undertaking to
kill the King of Erglend, who was an Heretick,
and confequently a Rebel to God Almughty. My
Lord Staffcrt did believe the Witnefs did embrace
this Propofal warmly, and therefore directed him
to prepare to go for England, and to go before-
hand from Peris to Dip, where he would mest
him, and oo over with him. But 1t feems my
Lord §#ffeid met with fome Diverfion, for he did
not keep his Word wita him m coming ; and fo
this Gentleman being difappointed, went over
without him @ But fearing to be called upon to
the fame Service, he rcturned back again fudden-
lv, and went mto the Fronch Army.

My Lords, we fhall produce thefe Witnefies
againft the Lovd at the Bar; and when they have
proved to your Lord{lps what [ have opened, any
one who was not acquainted with the Popifh Party,
would believe they would be at a lofs how to ac-
quit themfelves from this Charge.  All manner of
foutand indiredt Pradtices have been ufed by them
to terrify, to corrupt, and to {candalize our Wit-
nefles 5 all manner of Ohje&ions have been made
to our Lividence.  If the Witnels does not come
up to {peak directly to every Point, we are told,
he fuys nothing at 2l 5 1f he fpeaks dire@ly, they
ciy, hesnot to be believed, Thus they havea
ready Anfwer to every Witnefs that has been or
ever fhall be produced, either that he fays nothing
material, or that nothmg that he fays ought to
have any Crecit,
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" But we doubt not by this Trial before your
I ordfhips, if we cannot ftop their Mouths, at leaft
+o convince all the World befides of the Reality of

s Yiot.
thl%tl;l.rill be no wonder if their Confidence goes
on {till to frame Cavils: They are us’d to fcandalize
the Government, and they cannot give it over,
Llow often has his Majefty under his Great Seal
publifhed and declared this Confpiracy ! How often
has he prefs’d his Parliaments to go on to bring
the Confpirators to Punifhment? Andat the Open-
ing of this very Parliament he fays plainly, That
he does not believe himfelf fafe from their Defigns.
Your Lordfhipsalfo have voted the unqueftionable
Truth of the Plot, and fo have the Commons;
yet thefe Men are fo hardy as fhll to deny the plain-
eft Truth, fo confirmed as this hath been.

Nay, my Lords, their Malice goes yet farther,
for they have been fo bold as to whifper up and
down, and induftrioufly to {pread Reports, before
the Trial, as if this Lord at the Bar, and the reft
who are impeached, fhould certainly be acquitted.
We do hope to be abie to dete®t the Authors of
this great Scandal 3 and the Commons doubt not of
your Lordfhips Concurrence to afhift them 1n bring-
mg them to thet deferved Punmfhment. This is
fure the firt time that ever any fort of Men pre-
fum’d to refleét upon the Juftice of this High and
Noble Court.  Your Anceftors, my Lords, did by
their Honour, Courage and Juftice, preferve our
Anceftors ; the Advantages of which, we, who are
defcended from them, do now enjoy 5 and we {hall
never have occafion to doubt in the leaft, but that
vour Lord/hips will tread 1n their Steps, You have
in your Hunds a great Opportunity to make your
Zcal for Truth and for the Proteftant Religion fa-
mous to Pofterity. No Artifice or Malice can cre-
ate the leaft Jealoufly 1 us, that ever your Lord-
fhips fhould thew any Partiality or Injuftice to the
Commons of Luglend. To your Judgment this
Caufe s fubmitted 5 and when we have your Judg-
ment, we doubt not but we fhall drive Popery out
of this Euglifh World.

My Lords, We fhall go on to the Proof of our
Caufe; and I hope this will be a happy Day to us
and the whole Proteftant Intereft.

Thein My, Treby, alfo one of the Committce appoint-
cd for the Management of the Evidence, [poke as
[followeth :

ol oL .

My Lords,

Hefe two learned Gentlemen have fully dif-
charged thetr Province,

I'fhall proceed to call our Witnefles to give
their Teftimony.

But before we produce them, your Lordfhips
will be pleafed to take notice, that our Evidence
will confift of two Parts, General and Particular ;
the General, to fhew the Univerfal Confpiracy ;
the Particular, to thew what fpecial Part this no-
ble Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar, had in it.

And tho’ in the firft Part my Lord Stafford may
not be particularly nam’d, yet that Evidence will
be pertment and proper for us to give in this Tri-
al of my Lord Stafférd; for we chazpe him not
with the private Treafon, wherein he with his im-
mediate *Complices only might be concerned, but
it1s a Treafon of the Popith Faction, or at leaft
the principal and active Papifts.

We lay it in our Articles of Impeachment, That
there was an execrable Plot contriv’d and carried
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on by Papifts, and that the Conlpirators acted di-
vers Parts, and in divers Places, beyond Sea as
well as here. It was a Treafon that did beftride
two Lands: Eugland indeed was the Thing aim’d
at; the Deftruction of the Religion, Government,
and Laberty of Eugland, was the End; but the
Means and Inftruments were not colleéted here on-
ly, but part of them were to be brought in from
Abroad.

This 15 an Enterprize too extenfive to be entire-
ly managed by a fingle Nobleman: And though
we look upon my Lord Stafford as a great Male-
faltor, yet we cannot think him fo great a Man,
as to be able within his own Sphere to compafs
this whole Defign.

Should we not take this Courfe of Evidence,
firft to prove the gcueral Plot, it might be a great
and juft Objection in my Lord’s Mouth to fay,
You charge me with a Defizan of [rhverting the Kiig-
dem, how is that poffidle 13 be undertaken by me, eud
thofe I havz bad opportinity to converfe and confode-
rate with? A mighty Part of the Cetbolick IVorid
bad need fo bz engaged for fuch a Puipof.

My Lords, If this would be a material Objection
from this Lord, then will it be requifize tor us to
obviate and prevent this Objeétion, by fhewing,
firft, that there was fuch a grand and untverfal De-
fign of Papifts, inwhich this Lord was to co-ope-
rate for his diftinét Share; tho’ perhaps when we
defcend to our particular Evidence, 1t will appear,
that hus Part hath been great, and manag’d with
Malice as great as any.

My Lords, We fhall begin with a Witnels, a
Gentleman whofe Education has given lum the Op-
portunity of knowing the Infide of their Affairs;
and we prefume he will give you a fatisfadtory Ac-

count: His Name1s Mr. Fohn Suiith.

L. H.§. What do you call him to, Gentlemen?

Mr, Trely. To the general Plot, my Lords.

Lord Siafford. May it pleafe your Lordthips, I
know not who he 1s, nor his Name 3 I humbly be-
feech your Lordfhips, that this Witnefs, whoever
he be, and all the reft that have any thing to wit-
nefs againft me, may look upon me face to face,
according to the Words of the Statute. I humbly
befeech your Lordfhips to grant me this, which [
take to beaccording to Law ; and that each may give
his Lividence alone, and that both agamft me and
for me, one may not know what the other fays.

L.H. §. My Lord, You fhall have all the fair
Proceedings that can be. |

L. 8zaff. The Law fays my Accufers muft look
me face to face. 1 defire to have the Words read.

L. H. S, Your Lordlhyp may fee him where he
{tands up.

Then Mr. §mith turn’d, and look’d upon my
Lord Stafford.

L. S:aff. 1 do fee him, but I don’t know hiny.

L. H.§. Swear him,

Clerk. The Evidence that you fhall give in the
Trial of William Vifcount Stefford, fhall be the
Truth, the whole Truth, and nothing but the
Truth; fo help yon God, and the Contents of
this Book.

L. H.§. Your Lordfhip ob{erves he 1snot brought
as a particular Witnefs againft your Lordfhip, but
to prove the general Defign of your Party.

L. Steff. *Tis full concerning me.

L. H. §. Look upon my Lord S#zfford, (which
he did) and now tell your Evidence.

Mu. Treby. This is Mr. Smith, my Lords. And
that which we would examine this Witnefs to, is,

the
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the general Ds.;ﬁgn of the Plot; what Knowledge
he hath had of it here or beyond Sea; the Gen-
tleman is able to underftand the general Queftion.

Mr. Smith. My Lords, 1 remember very well

when I went firk into France, I came acquainted with
Abbot Mantaguz, Father Gaftoigne, and {everal o-
ther Popifh Priefts and Jefuits, who often difcour-
{ed with me, and told me, if ] would make myfelf
a Catholick, I fhonld have an Employmentamongtt
them there, and afterwards in Euglend; for they
did not doubt but the Popifh Religion would come
i very foon. Upon which lafk’d his Lordfhip
the Abbot one Day, what reafon he had to believe
it? He told me two Reafons; firft, that they did
not doubt but to procure a Toleration of Religion,
by which they fhounld bring it in without Noife,
and {econdly, that the Gentry that went abroad
did obferve the Novelty of their own Relizion, and
the Antiquity of theirs, and the Advantages that
wete to be had by it. Thefe Reafons Abbot M-
tague gave me. There was one Father Bzumes and
others that told me the chief Reafon was, thetr
Party was very ftrong in England, and in a few
Years they would bring it in right or wrong,  All
this would not prevail upon me to turn Papift, and
I liv’d among them' feveral Years. At laft I had
a Defign to go to Rome; and as I went I had a
Defign to go to Pigveice, (and o into Jraky)
where there was one Cardinal Grimaldi coming thro’
the Town, and the Jefuits having a great School
there, I was curious to go to the School, and they
were very defirous [ fhould tarry for fome time in
the Town: Idid, and they made much of me, and
told me much to the fame Subftance, what Affu-
rances they had of their Religion coming into Exg-
land, At lalt they had a defire I fhould difcourfe
with the Cardinal, which I did; and he made
much of me, and he it was that perverted me to
the Romifh Religion. Upon this, the Cardinal thew-
ed me a Pair of Hangings that were in his Houfe,
which he {aid did belong to the Queen-Mother,
and were bought in Paivs; and he told me he was
acquainted with many of the Nobility in Euglain,
and that he had great Aflurance the Popith Reli-
oion would prevail; and he told me there was but
one in the way, and tho’ that Man was 2 good-na-
tw’d Man, yet they could not {o far prevail upon
him 5 but that to accomplith their Definns they
muft take him out of the way. But at laft T left
this Place, and went ta Reie, where I livd fome
Years in the Eiglifh Jefuits College there; and
when [ had [iv’d there five Years, { came to be Pre.
fect of feveral Rooms there, which are the Scholus
Lodgings and Places of Study. I have heard it there
often difputed in their own College, both preach’d
and privately exhorted, that the King of Zislend
was an Heretick, and that there was no King really
reigning, and whoever took him out of the way
would do a meritorious Aétion.

L. H. S, Who was that that fad {o?

Mr, Treby, Name the Perfons,
Mr. Smith, Father Auderton, Re&or of the Cal-

lege,who wasa very good Scholar; Father Miuiford,
and one Father Cuinpion, butchiefly one Father$suz4-
well,one of the chief of the Jefuits, And I doubting
of the Truth of that Opinion, they did thew me fe-
veral of their Books, there, and direCted me to
(ome Paftages of Mariana, Vafpucss, and Ballariine,
which [ have fiace publifh’d to the World, where-
i they did afftst 1t as a true Do@rine, and as
Chriftian Doétrine, what the Fathers told me and
this was never condemu’d at Rome,  Befides, my
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Lords, when I was coming from Rame, with my
Faculty and Licenfe fign’d by Cardinal Barberine,
who generally conduéts, or caufes to be condud-
ed, all Papifts to take their Leave of the Pope;
and before we came away, (for there were five or
fix of us together) for a whole Month thefe Fa-
thers were exhorting of us, That we were not o-
blig’d to obey the King of Zugland, and that in
all private Confeflions we were to inflru@ all Per-
fons that we thought were capable of any Defign,
that they thould ufe all their Kndeavours for pro-
moting the Popith Religion. 1, coming into firp-
land, made my Application to Br. Perrof, who be-
longed to the Poriugal Ambafiador, and was chief
of the Popith Clergy tn Eungland, 1 was kept there
fome Months to fay Mafs in his Chapel ; and af-
terwards [ was fent into the Norsd, where there
were abundance of Jefuits and Friers, to one My
Jenifui’s Houfe 5 where knowing the Principles of
thefe People, I made it my Bufinefs to rout thei:
Jelutts away, elpecially our of Mr. Feaifoi's Houfe.
who had a Kinfman ot his own that was a Jefuit,
and us'd to ferve him in his Houfe, and oreat Com-
plamt was made againft me: And there was one
Me. Smith, otherwife Serjeazt, n the North, who
gave me Intimation of 1t, and to whom I wrore
to fatisty him and the Clevay of the Grounds and
Reafons why I routed them away; which, if he be
m Ligland now, he can julltify.  Upon this, 1 re-
caved 2 fmart Letter, as a kind of Reprimand
for my doing fo; and he told me, that the’ they
did agree with me in Doctrine, yet they would
endeavour what they could to bring in the Popith
Religion, and tax’d me fharply for appearing a-
caintt it. I told him how the Jefutts pervaited the
Duke of 2ert 4 and that by that means thev would
be the chief Men in England, the’ there were
nene of their Order till Queen Elizabert’s Time,
Bzfides, my Lords, in Rear: I faw Celeinan’s Ler-
ters, and read them once a Month, as I belieye ;
wherein he gave us Intellizence of feveral Paffages
that happened in Court; how the Duke, apd the
Queen, and the chief of the Nobility were of the'r
fide; how they carried Mztters feveral times; the
Ways my Lord Clifford did ule, and Sir Jilliam
Go.!alphiin,to effe@ the Work ; and that they did not
queition but they thould get my Lord-Treafures
Dby on their Side too. This was in Columan’s
Lettersy and he had fo much Alowance for his
Intelligence. Thefe Letters of his I yead {everal
times in the College. My Lords, afterwards, when
I came from Reie, | faw Abbot Montague again,
and he faid he was very glad to fee me, and that
Fwasa Prieft. Well, but faid I, what am [ the
better f where is the Employment you promis’d
me when I fhould come into Englsnd? He told me
I thould have it very foon, and he was plad that I
had not made myfelfa Jefuit; and he recommend-
ed me to Dr. Goffe, Confeflor to the Oneen-Mo-
ther, who faid he would do any thin g in the world
for me, and he did not doubt but he fhould get 2
Preferment for me; which Dr. Goffz is now living.
'l;ru}y when I came into Enrlond, I found all the
Popith Clergy of Zugland, that T difcourfed with,
of the fame Opinion, that they did not doubt
but the Romifb Relhgion would {oon come in.
And befides, i the Noith there was gathering
of Money, in which [ was order’d to be one of the
chief Men; but I was againft it. I told them I
would do nothing inits I thought it was illegal to
fend any Moncy beyond Sea: They told me 1t was
Charity, only to repair the Coliege ar Deway, 1
2 told
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told them it was firange that there thould be fo
much Money raifed only to repair one College,
which would ferve three or four Colleges; and I
perfuaded M. Senifon, and all other Perfons Ihad
to do with, not to meddle \ﬁ:’lth': it. As.tq this
caifing of the Money, [ concetve it may be inferr’d,
it was for fome other private Buﬁngfs, and T be-
lieve was for the carrying on the Defign, As
for the Gentleman at the Bar, my Lord Stafford,
[ know nothing of my own particular Know-
ledge, but only this; There was one Thomas §mith,
Sir Edward Swith’s Brother, that lived at a Place
1ot fr off the Place where I lived, who was one
that contributed in paying the Money that was
then colleéting: He was the Man that writ a Let-
ter up to my Lord Stafford, to complam of two
or three Juftices of the Peace that were active a-
gainft Popery 3 upon which there was one that
was turn’d out, that I think is now of the honou-

rable Houfe of Commotis——

Mr. Tredy. Name hun.

M. Swith.  Sir Henry Calverly. "Fhe other was
not turn’d out. So I afk’d Swith, when I was
lately in the Country, aboutits; for I heard a Ru-
mour, that there was a Letter of this Mr, Smitl’s
found in my Lord Stafford’s Chamber, and I was
told it by a Parliament-Man, one Colonel Tempzft.
So, faid I to him, now you will be concerned mn
the Plot. No, faid he, I care not for that Letter,
it will fignify nothing; for my Lord won’t keep
by him any thing of any Moment. I atked him
what he knew about my Lord. FHe told me he
writ another Letter to my Lord, to know whe-
ther he would make a Conveyance of his Eftate
away, and whether he apprehended they were
Danger: And he told me, his Lordfhip’s Anfwer
was, That feveral did fo, but he would not; for
he expetted {fome fudden Change or Alteration. 1
aflked him what Change or Alteration he under-
flood by it.  Sir, faid he, what can be underftood
by it, but an Alteration of the Government and
Religion ? T am fure, faid he, my Lord 1s fo wife
a Man, that he would not write fo without fome
Ground. This s all I can fay to the Gentleman
at the Bar 3 and this is true by the Oath I have
taken.

Mr. Zreby. My Lords, Iobferve Mr. Sauthin
the Begining of his Teftimony ({peaking of the
Difcourfe he had at Rome) faid, they told him there
was one mn the way ; I prefume ’tis not unealy to
conjecture who was that one.

L. A §. It was furely the King.

Mr. Treby,  But we would rather have it ex-
plained by himfelf. .

Mr. Smith,  Father Auderion and Father South-
well did fay that the King was a good Man, but
he was not for their turn, and he was the only
Man that ficed in the way.

Mr, Tredy.  Did they name the King ?

Mr, Simith.  Yes, it was the common Difcourfe
all over the Country.

Mr. Trely. My Lords, I defire Mr. Smith in
the next place may give an account of the Me-
thods they were to ufe to accomplith this Defign,
the firing of the City, and the reft,

Mr., Swith. As to the burning of London, I
heard nothing beyond Seas at all but this ; it was
cifcourfed that the Papifts did it, and the like, but
:thc;y denied it, and they faid it came accidentally
in a Baker’s Houfe: But this I have often heard

them fay, that it was no great Matter if it had
beenall burnt, ’ :

- L. H.-5. Wil you afkc him any more Qleﬁionﬁ

IYTI

et ?

’ Mr. Zreby. No, we have done with him.

N }% H. §. Have you concluded your Evidence,
it !

Mz, Smith. Yes.

L. H. §. My Lord Stafford, will your Lord-
fhip afk him any Queftions ?

L. Stafford. 1 defire to know how longago it was;
my Lord, fince he was made a Prieft,

Siv K. Win. My Lords, with your Lordfhips
Leave, no Man is bound to anfwer a Queftion
whereby he fhall accufe himfelf ? therefore under
favour the Queftion is fomewhat harfh, and we
demand your Judgment n it.

L.H.S. What 1s the Queftion your Lordfhip
would have afked him ?

L. Staff. T will not afk it fince ’tis an Offence ;
but did not he fay he faid Mafs? Pray how long
ago was that ?

L. H.§ 1wilafk hima Queftion. Are not
you a Proteftant ¢

Mr. Smith. Yes, my Lord.

L. H. §. How long have you been {o ?

Mr. Smith: 1 have been a Proteftant near upon
two Years,

L. H. §. How long ago before were you per-
verted ?

Mr, Smith. Some {ix ot feven Years.

L. H.§, That s nine Years. That was, I fup-
pofe, about 71.

Mr, Swith. 1 was always bred a Proteftant, and
was fo abroad till I went towards Roie.

L, H. §. Itisnotcriminal to have been a Prieft,
if he have conform’d.

L. Stzff. 1 have no more to fay to him.

L. H, §. Have you any more Queltions to afk
him ¢

L. Staff. No; I never faw him before ; he may
be as honeft a Gentleman for ought I know as any
one here.

Mr. Treby. Then, if your Lord{hips have no
more Queftions to afk him, he may withdraw.
My Lords, the next Witnefs we produce Is to
the General fhill, and that is Mr. Stepbenr Dugdele.

L. Staff. Is he only to {peak to the General, or
to me?

Mr. Trely. To the General; we fhall tell your
Lordfhip when we come to the Particular.

Siv £, Win. My Lords, with your Lordthips
Favour, we have opened our Cafe, firft, that we
would go on with the General; while we are up-
on that Head, we will only call thofe that fpeak
to the General, but it may happen that one Wit-
nefs may fpeak to both; but we fhall divide his
Teftimony when we come to obferve upon it.

Mr, Treby. My Lords, Itake leave to acquaint
your Lordfhips, that Mr. Dugdale hath but 2 low
Voice, and your Lordfhips will not hear him with-
out a Command of Silence : which was done by
Proclamation, and Mr. Dugdele {worn.

Mr. Treby.  Mr, Dugdale, take notice, we call
you now only to the general part of the Plot,
what Difcourfes you have heard from Priefts in
general concerning any part of the Plot: And you
are not to give your particular Evidence againf}
this noble Lord, my Lord Stafford, tll we call
you thereunto.

L. H. §. What fay you, Sir?

Mr. Dugdale. About fifteen or fixteen Years 1.
have been acquainted, that there was a Defign car-
rying on for the bringing in the Romifh Religion.

| I have



112
I have at feveral times, by the means of my ghoft-
1y Father, that was Mr. Evers, been acquainted
that there were feveral Lords and {everal Priefts in
feveral Places in England that were to carry it on 3
that is, they were to have Money and Arms ready,
for thofe that wanted, againft the Death of the
King., I have feen feveral Letters which have
come from Paris, Rome, and St. Omers, all rela-
ting to this, to encourage Mr. Evers, and that he
fhould go on to encourage the reft that were en-
gaged. For that purpofe I read {ome of ’em, and
intercepted them, becaufe they were all directed
to me. Mr, Evers hath fent me upon Meffages,
fometimes by Letters, and {ometimes by word of
Mouth, and all tended for the introducing of their
Religion, that all fhould be ready with Money
and Arms apainft the King’s Death: For I did
hear nothing till of late about the killing of the
King. In particular, there came one Letter to
Ewvers frommy Lord Stafford, to fhew that things
went on well beyond Sea, and hoped they did {o
here. I faw another time fome Letters which were
allo tranfinitted to my Hands by a Meflenger that
came from Bofcodel, which did come from Paris,
and fo to St. Omers, from whence they came to
Harcourt, and Harconrt had delivered the Letters
to have the Opinion of fome Lords 3 all which
contained Advice which they had received from
Paris, which they counted extraordinary pood.
The Purport of thefe Letters were to thew there
was no way could be more likely to do their
Work, than if any fudden Death fhould happen
to the King, then to throw it upon the Presbyte.
riaits, who had killed the old King, and were like-
lieft to be thought to have done this ; and {o they
might eafily get the Proteftants, thofe of the Church
of England, to join with the Papifts againft the
Prefbyterians, who would by that become odious,
and fo fhould weaken the Party, the moreeafily to
accomplifh their Defign. I have of late {everal
times been i Company with Priefts and other
Gentlemen in the Country, when they have had
Coulultations both for the introducing their own
Religion, and taking away the King’s Life, which
they did always intend to be about November, De-
ceinbéry or January 78. It was late in the Year
but all that Year(78) this was their Confultation.
{ have been fent to the Jefuits, fome of them, par-
ticulatly to Mr. Vavafor and Mr. Gavan, for fome
Monies, for there was a general Collection, and
there was the Sum of five hundred Pounds at one
time, which I received, and gave to Mr. Evers,
and he returned 1t to Londoz for the carrying on
this Defign, and for difcharging an Account of
Arms and Things received from beyond Sea, And
it was agreed that my Lord Aflow, Siv Fames Sym-
mans, and others, fhould go in Offober 1648, to
difpofe of the Arms which they had fo received,
fome here, and fome beyond Sea, to the Value, I
heard fay, of 30000/. Moreover, I did hear that
they were to have Men raifed there, as well as
here. So I have heard from Mr., Evers, and Mr.
Gewan and others, and I have been alfo by when
it hath been difcourfed that the King of France
was acquainted with all thefe Defigns, and that
he would furn'th us with Men, and fhould not be
wanting with all other Aid and Afliftance, if there
fhould be any Alteration, if the King fhould die
or be taken away, or to that purpofe. I have been
{everal times put upon to make Foot-Races, to
draw People together, that they might the better
have Difcourfes together without Sufpicion. 1
was likewtle put i troft by the Jefuits all the
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while the Plot was catrying on, and particularly,
for two Years, all the Letters relating to the Plot
came to my hand, fome of which I apened, and
fome I kept in my own Hands; and particularly
I had one that came to my Hands, which was
about the Death of Sir Edmunbury Gedfrey 3 for
when I carried it to Mr. Evers, he faid, There was
one of our Enemies taken out of the way: and it
was contained 1n the Letter, This Night Sir Ed.-
mundbury Godfrey is difpatcl’d ; which by the
Date of it was the 12th of Offeber 1678. T told
him that that would prove a Difcouragement to
us, and would be the Ruin of all the Defign: he
faid, not fo, it would rather prove otherwile ; for
he was one that was active m punifhing lewd and
debauched Perfons, and it would rather be put
upon them than us, as done out of Revenge.

Mr. Treby. Pray, Sir, fpeak the particular time
when that Letter came into Staffordfbire.

Mr. Dug.’. The 14th of Ofoher 1698, which
was Moncey,

Mr. Trey. The Date of it pray tell us.

Mr. Dugd, The 12th of Offober 1678.

Mr. Treby. The veryNight that it was done,

Mr. Dagd. Likewife when I did hear there was
like to be an Alteration in the Government, and
having {uch fair Promifes, I was encouraged to it,
and was very willing to contribute to the Defign ;
and I did then make over an Eftate which I had of
four hundred Pound Value for that Purpofe, and
for the praying for my Soul. And when my Lord
Afton and I fhould come to account, as there was
Money over and above due to me, I did likewife
promife, becaufe I faw Money would be wanting,
I would give them a hundred Pound more. There
were feveral other Gentlemen, as Mr. Hevening-
haim, Sir Femes Symons, my Lord Affon, Mr. Dray-
cotty Mr. Heward, and Mr, Gerard, who did to
my Knowledge contribute towards the carrying
on of this Charge, for defraying of Money and rai-
fing Arms, and paying for them. And I have feen
Letters from beyond Sea, that have been to Mr.
Lvers, that all Things have been ready as to the
Arms, and there only wanted Orders how they
fhould be difpofed of ; and I have been feveral
times brought to the Oath of Secrely for fear I
fhould difclofe it 3 and particularly that time that I
went away from my Lord ffon’s, which was on 2
Monday Morning, Mr. Ev.rs gave it me, about the
13th or 1g9th of Nowvember 1678. And T did then
promfe by all the Promifes I could make, and up-
on the Sacrament, in his Chamber, that I would
not dilclofe 1t; but having others to advife me in
it, fuch as could better do it, that told me fuch
Qaths were better broken than kept: and there-
upon I came to difcover the thing, which I have
done to the beft of my Knowledge. I am very
loth to charge my Memory in particular, about
Thmes, or how many were in Company, but thofe
that I am {ure of ; but there hath been in Compa-
ny at the Confultation feveral times, Mr, Hevening-
Lamy St Fames Symons. Mr. Vavafor, Mr. Petre,
Mr. Howard, and my Lord Afos himfelf ; when
there hath been a Speech about the Defign, for the
intreducing of Religion, and for taking Order a-
bout Money to buy Arms, and particularly when
my Lord Stafford was by about the Death of the
King, and that was about Seprember 1698.

Mr. Treby. N, Dugdale, you fpeak of levying
Arms, and of the Oath of Secrefy that was given
you ; were therenot other {piritual Weapons ufed ?

Was there not an Indulgence, or fuch a thing?
I Mr,
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Mr. Drgd. There was an Iidulgence about 48,
or thereabout, whichcamethrough freland’s Hands,
cranfinitted from beyond Sea, and fo to Mr. Ewers,
and Br. Geozi was put on to publifh it, which he
1id one Time at Befisdel. And 1t was likewife at all
private Chapels, That whufa_ex:er was active for the
introducing the Romifb Religion, or klll_mg‘ the
King, fhould have a free Pardon of all his Sins.

Mr. Foley. Pray declare what Arguments have
been ufed by your Priefts, to induce you to this

afign ? -

L. 1. §. Raife your Voice, that we may hear
what you afk.

Mr. Foley. We would know what Arguments
have been ufed to perfuade to this Defign ?

Mr. Dugd. They have told me m their Meet-
ings, the King was an excommunicated Heretick,
and he was out of the Pale of the Church, there-
fore it was lawful to kill him, and 1t was no more
than the klling of a Dog.

Sir Febn Trevor. My lords, Idefire toafk him

one Queftion farther, what he hath heard about a

" Maffacre that was intended ¢

L. 11.§. Have you hecard of any Maffacre that
was to he?

Mr. Duvd. T have heard that about the Timethe
King (hould be killed, feveral thould be provided
with Arms, and fuch Inftruments, and nifeall of a
fudden atan Hour’s Warning, and focome in upon
the Proteftants, and cut their Throats; that was
one Propofal : Andif any did efcape, there thould
be an Army to cut them off n their Flight.

Mr. Treby. My Lords, I defire to afk him one
Queflion further, Whether he ever knew or heard
of Mr. Oates and Bedlne t1ll the Plot was deteéed ?

My, Dugd. 1 have heard of them from Priefts,
as Meflengers entrufted by them, but no otherwife.

L. H.§. When did you hear that ¢

Mr, Degd. ] have formerly declared it.

Mr. Trcly. Ay, when?

L. H.§. Before the Dicovery, or after ?

Mr. Dugd. Before the Difcovery.

Mr. T7cdy. My Lord, the Reafon of the Quef-
tion, and the Ule we make of it is this; we charge
the Papifts with the Confpiracy of a Plot, and they
charge our Witnefles with a Confpiracy to accufe:
Now it appears, that Mr. Dugdale had not any
Knowledge of the other Witnefles, and only had
heard of them as Perfons concerned 3 fo it could

not poflibly be a jomnt Contrivance amongft them..

ot Febir Trevor. My Lords, I defire to afk this
Quettion, Whether Mr. Dugdale hath feen any
Lectters from Hhitebread to Evers, and what In-
ftructions were n thole Letters to Zwers about
the Perfons to be concerned, and what kind of
Creatures he was to employ mn this great Defign of
theirs ?

Mr. Dugd. T faw a Letter from Fhitebread, to
give Mr. £oeis a Caution who he did employ or
trult m the Defign 3 for he told him there had
been good Care taken therein hitherto ; and it were
no Matter whether they were Gentlemen of Qua-
lity or not, fo they werc ftout and trulty, or to
that Purpofe.

L.H.§. What fhould they be trufty for ?

Mr. Dugd. For the killing the King,

L. H.§. Was that faid plamly in the Letter ?

Mr. Dugd. To the beft of my Remembrance
i thofe very Worids.

L. I{. §. Was there no Cypher or Character ?

Mr. Drgd. There was no Cypher or Characer
that I know of, nothing but two Letters for his
Name, |
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Mr. Treby. My Lords, I defire Mr. Dugdale may
give an Account of thofe Papers he fpeaks of;
what became of them, and tell us the Realon why
they wercnot produced ?

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, when I was by the In-
ftruction of Mr. Fvers to take my Flight, I con-
veyed all my Papers, that either belonged to him
or myfelf, for the carrying on of the Plot, and
carried them to an Houfe not far remote from my
Lord Aften’s, and by the Help of two Maids—

Mur. Treby, Name them.

Mr. Dugdale. Eiizabeth Eld, and Anne Eld. And
they two did prepare a Fire in their Chamber for
that Purpofe, and they aflifted me to burn them :
I was in a great Confternation, and great Fear, in
regard I muft fly and abfcond myfelf, and indecd
[ dd it with Temrs in my Eyes.  And whilft we
were burning of the Papers, one of them fpied 2
little Paper-Book, by Chance, and fhe afked me,
whether that fhould be burnt; I told her, no
burn not that, for there is no Treafoninit. With
that one of them afked me, Is there any Treafon
in the reft 2 And I put them off, to the beft of my
Knowledge, and would not give them a direct
Anfwer.

Sir fedin Trevor. Why did you confent to burn
them ?

Mr. Dugd. Becaufe 1 knew they would difcover
me, and others that were concerned in the Plot.

Sir F1-. Winiaington. Your Lordthip will be pleal-
ed to obferve, the burning of the Letters was be-
fore hedifcovered the Plot, or any Thing.

Mr. Sackeveiell. My Lords, We defire he may
be afked one Queftion ; he told your Lordfhips of
the Letter that came into Staffordfbire about the
Death of Sir Edumundbury Gedfrey, but he hath not
told you of the Reafon why he was to be taken
away. We defire he will et your Lordfhips know
what Reafons they gave for it.

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, 1 was defirous to know
how Things went, being concerned as well as Mr.,
Evzrs 3 and [ atked what the Reafon was they took
away his Life ? Mr, Evers told me, that there was
a Meftage fent to M. Coleiman, to defire him that
he would not reveal what he knew concerning the
Plot, orany Thime of that Nature. ,

Mr. Sacheverell, From whom was that Meffage
fent ?

Mr. Dugd. From the Duke of 221k, And Cole-
mair did fend Word back again, What was it the
nearer? for he had been fo foolith as to reveal all
to Str Ldinunbury Gedfiey, who had promifed to
keep it ali asa Sccret.  But upon the Examinati-
on of Oates, before Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, as a
Juftice of Peace, he was afraid he would come in
an Fvidence againft him; and had thewn himfelf
a little too eager, which made Colenan afraid he
would witnefs againft him. And the Duke of York
did fend Word back again, That if he would take
Care not to reveal but conceal it, he fhould not
come in againft him, or to that Purpofe : And the
next News we heard was the Latter that he was
difpatched. |

My, Foley. T defire he may give an Account what

Afliftance the Pope gave for the carrying on of this
Defign ?

Mr. Dugd. 1 heard the Pope had out of his Re-
venue promifed feveral Sums of Money for the
carrying on this Plot 3 and particularly that he
would affift the poor diftrefled frifh, with both Men
and Money 5 and there fhould not be any Thing

wanting on hus Part.
Q_ L HS.
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L. H. . Have you done with him, Gentlemen?

Mr. Trely. Yes, I think we have done with
him as to the general. |

L. Staff. 1defire to afk him then what Sums of
Money did the Pope contribute to 1t ?

L. H.§. What Sums of Money did the Pope
contribute to this Defign ¢ _

Mr, Dugd. 1 have heard of feveral Sums m
general that he was to contribute for the carrying
on of the Plot. .

L. H. §. Did you hear of any Sum certam ¢

Mr. Dugd. I do not know, but I think T have
heard fometimes of ten thoufand Pound, or fome
fuch Sum. T have been told by a Servant, that
formerly belonged to my Lord Staffoid, That the
Pope’s daily Income was twenty-four thoufand
Pounds aDay; and that if he would do as he had
promifed, he was able to do very much.

L. H.S. They told you fo, you do not know
1t otherwife.

Mr. Treby, 'We have done then with him: We
call Mr. Prance next.  (Who was fworn.)

Mr. Tiehy. My Lords, Idefire Mr, Prance would
give us an Account of what Difcourfe he had with
one Mr. Siugleteir 2 Prieft, and when.

Mr. Prance. I went to one Mr. Singleton a Prieft,
at one Hall's, in the Year 78 ; and he told me, That
he did not fear but in a little ‘Time tobe a Prieft
in a Parifh-Church ; and that he would make no
more to ftab forty Parliament Men, than to eat
his Dinner, which he was at, at that very Tume.

L. H. §. Where was that ?

Mr. Praunce, At one Holl’s a Cook n fuy-Lane.
L H. S, Wil you afk hir any Queftions, my
Lord?

L. Staff. No, my Lord.

Mr. Tieby, Then call Dr, Oates. (Who was
{worn.)

L.H.S. Do you examme Mr. Oates upon the
peneral Plot, or the particular ¢

Mr, Trely. Only to the gencral now ; and we
defire him to take Notice he 1s {o to {peak, and to
confine himfelf to that at prefent.

Dr. Oates. My Lords, in the Year 76, I was
admitted into the Service of the Duke of Nerfolk,
as Chaplain 1 his Houfle, and there I came ac-
quainted with one Bing, that was a Pricft in the
Hovfe. And being acquainted with him, there
came one Kemifh very often to vifit him, and one
Strigleton, who told me, that I fhould find that
the Proteftant Religion was upon 1t’s laft Legs,
and that 1t would become me, and all Men of my
Coat (for then I profefled myfelf .a Mimfter of the
Church of £nglend) to haften betimes Home to the
Church of Rease. My Lords, having had ftrong
Sufpicions for fome Years before, of the great and
apparent Growth of Popery ; to fatisfy my Curi-
ofity, I pretended fome Doubts in my Mind. My
Lords, after fome Time had pafled over, and I had
had {ome Converfation with thefe Men, I found
they were not Men for my turn, becaufe being re-
gular Men, they were not Men'that had any great
Degree of Learning. Afterwards, my Lords, I
met with one Hutchinfen 3 I found him a faint-like
Man, or one that was religious for Religion fake ;
and him I found not for my turn neither : For,
my Lords, my Defign was to deal with their Ca-
{mfts ; that is, thofe of the Society. After that
I had obtained the Favour from him, to have fome
Conference with one of the Society, I found they
were the Men for my turn, becaufe I found they
were the cunning politick Men, and the Men that

I

could fatisfy me,  After that I had had fome Dif-
courfe with theny, I pretended to be convinced by
their Arguments. And, my Lords, after that [ had
thus acknowledged my Conviction, I defired to be
reconciled 3 and accordingly on Ab-Wednefday,
1625, I was reconciled, And foon after my Recon-
ctliation, Strange, who was then Provincial of the
Society, did tell me much after thisway ; Mr. Oates,
you are now reconciled to the Church of Rome,
and you muft lay down your Miniftry, for your Or-
dination 1s invalid, and you muit leok upon your-
{elf as no more than a Layman : Pray, f{ays he, now
what Courfe do you think to take? I told him, I
did defire to be one of their Society, and to be ad-
mitted a Novice into thetr Order, He f{aid, it was
a very honeft Requeft, and a very honeft Defire ;
and he faid, he would take fome Tune to confider
of it, and he would take till the Seturday follow-
ing. Saturday following I was fent for by one Fen-
wick : 1lodged then in Barbicai, and Fenvick came
to me, and told me, the Fathers were met at J#7/4-
heufe, and would fpeak with me: And he alfo told
me they had granted my Requeft, and I fhould be -
admitted. After I was admitted, they told me, I
had fome Years upon me, and I could not undergo
thofe Burdens they put upon younger Men 3 but
what did I think of travelling, and going beyond
Sea todo their Bufinefs? I did agree toit, and in
April 7, 1 went aboard one Luke Roch, Mafter of
the Bilboa- Merchant, bound for Biiboa, having their
Letters of Recommendation. After I arrived there,
which was ona Suiday in May or Fune, I can’t tell
which, I went the Friday following for Valledolid
in Caflile, and I got thither the Tuefday following ;
but by the Way I opened certain Letters, wherein
was made mention of a Difturbance defigned in
Scotland. And the Letters did exprefs what Hopes
they had to effect their Defign in Euglond, for the
carrymg on (as they worded it) the Catholick
Caufe, and for the Advancement of the Intereft of
the Bithopof Reine. My Lords, after I had arriv-
ed at Valladolid, there were Letters there got be-
fore me, which were dated in My, wherein was
exprefled News, that the King was difpatched,
which was the Caufe of great Joy to the Fathers
there ; and afterwards Letters dated in Aday too
(but towards the latter End of May) came, that
they were miftaken, and defired the Fathers there
to ftifle that News. My Lords, there came Let-
ters dated in Fzwe, wherein they did give an Ac-
count, That they had procured one Bedding field
to be Confefior to the Duke of 2%r4 3 which Bed-
dingfield by his Intereft might prevail much with
the Duke, in order to this Defign.  Letters came
al{o 1n Fune from St. Omers, which gave them an
account, that Father Bedding field had aflured them
of the Duke’s Willingnefs to comply with them
for the Advancement of the Catholick Religion.
My Lords, after I had ftay’d fome Timne there, and
had paffed through the Country for the Bufinefs of
the Society, I found that in the Court of Spain
fome Minifters of that Court had been very ready
to advance Money, which Money was returned
for Englandy and that the Father Provincial of
the Jefuits of Caffile, by his Care and Induftry,
had advanced ten thoufand Pound, which was
promiled to be paid in Fwae following, within a
twelve Month after. My Lords, in Fuly I received
Letters out of England, wherein an Account was
given there, to the Fathers in Spain, that they were
fending them a Miffion of twelve Students, four
whereor were to go to Madrid, and eight to Val-

ladolid




1680. H. L.

Tedolid : The Conducors of thefe twelve Students
were one Father Croffe, that was his true Name,
and one Father Mzs::;fard, Whoﬁ-;: true Name was
Armfirong. Thele Miflioners arrived in December,
where they had a Sermon preached at their coming
by this fame Arimftrong, wherein the Oaths of
Allegiance and Supremacy were declared to be an-
ichritian, heretical, and devilith ; in which the
King’s Legitimacy was viliﬁed_ and abufed ; and
that his Religion did entitle him to nothing but
fudden Death and Deftruction, in that he appeared
an Enemy both to God and Man. Thefe were the
Contents of that Sermon, as near as I remember.
My Lords, after the meeting with fev_eral Letters
there, in Fuly, Augnft, and September, in the King-
dom of Spain, it was ordered, I fhould return for
England ; and in the Month of November 1 came for

England, at which Time I had Letters from the .

Provincial of Coffile, called by the Name of Padre
de Hicronimo de Corduba, who did in his Letter affure
the Provincial in England and the Fathers here, that
the ten thoufand Pounds thould be paid (as] faid be-
fore) in Func following. When I came for Eng-
land, at Loudon 1 was lodged at one Grigfon’s, that
lived in Drury-Lane, near the Sign of the Red- Lion,
and there I lay till I wentto St. Omers 3 and by the
Provincial and Confultors of the Province I was or-
der'd a Maintenance, and it was paid to this Man
for entertaining of me. 1 wentand brought thefe
Letters to this Strange, and there was Father Keins
lying ill upon Strange’s Bed 5 and Keins was faying,
he was mighty forry for bongft William (fo they call-
ed the Ruffian that was to kill the XKing) that he
had mifled in his Enterprize. But, my Lords,
thisI think goed to tell your Lordfhips, they were
not fo zealous for the Deftruction of the King,
till the King had refufed Colenan the diffolving of
the long Parliament. Then they were more intent
upon it, though they had feveral Timesattempted
it ever fince the Fire of Londony but when Cole-
man was refufed the Diffolution of the Long Par-
liament, then were they more zealous for the De-
ftruction of the King : But the Defign for the in-
troducing the Popith Religion, they have been
carrymng on fome Years before the Fire, by thofe
Inftruments, fome of whom are yet alive. My
Lords, I left England in November O, S. and De-
cesiber N. S. for when I came to St. Omers, it was
(as near as I can remember) the gth or 10th of
December, according to the Stile of the Place. [
carried with me a Packet of Letters from Strange
the Provincial, and other Fathers that were of the
Confult for the Province of Englaid, to the Fathers
at St. Omers, wherein Strange did tell them, that
they had great Hopes of theit Defign taking effect
the next Year, but as yet it would not be effedted :
He faid, therefare they at London thought fit to
fufpend it ¢ill they faw what the Parliament would
do. And hedid in the fame Letter declare, That
the Parliament would be about a long Bill that
had been brought into the Commons Houfe fome
‘Seflions before, but he did not queftion but that
the Catholick Party would evade that Bill. And,
my Lords, in that Year, fome Time after, we had

a Letter from our new Provincial, whofe true Name-

for High-T'reafon. -
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the Sodality Church, wherein after he had com-
mended the Saint, whofe Day they celebrated, for
his great Virtues, declaring how unworthily he was
facrificed, he did inveigh againft the Tyranny (as
he called it).of temporal Princes, and particularly
of the King of Englaid ; and when he came to fpeak
of the Qaths of Allegiance and Supremacy, he de-
clared, that he looked upon them as antichriftian
and devilifh, and that it was fit to deftroy all fuch
as would countenance them. 'We have done with
the Year 77, and we come now to Fansuary 1678.

L. H.§. You fpeak of one Keins, who (lying
upon Strarge’s Bed) faid he was forry honeft J¥ill
had miffed his Enterprize: You have not explain’d
who that boneft Wil was s explamn that.

Dr. Oaies. It was Grove.

L. H. §. But about what did he fay he was forry
for him ?

Dr. Oates. That he had miffed his Defign.
; Ngr. Foley. What was that mifling of his De-
ign

Dr. Oates. That he had not killed the King,

my Lords, in January 78.

L. H.§. You meanaccording to the foreign Stile?

Dr. Qates. Yes, according to the foreign Stile,
my Lords ; we received Letters out of Jreland, and
there, my Lords, we found by the Contents of
thofe Letters, that they were as bufy in Ireland
as we were i England,  We found there that the
Talbots, and other Perfons, were very zealous in
raifing of Forces, and were refolved to let in the
French King, provided that the Parliament fhould
urge the King to break with France, My Loxds,
likewile in Fanuary (as near as I can remember)
Morgan was fent into Ireland as a Vifitor, (which
is fomething a better Place thana Provincial, but
only it 1s but temporary for the Time he vifits) and
he returns in February or March, and gives us an
Account how ready the Jrifb were tovindicate their
Freedom and their Religion, from the Oppreffion
of the Euglifh, as they calledit. My Lords, in Fe-
bruary fome were employed to go into fome Parts
of Germany, to Liege, and to fome Parts of Flan-
ders, to fee how the Affairs there ftood, and how
their Correfpondencies ftood, to fee whether there
was not an Interruption in the Correfpondencies.
My Lords, upon their Return, they found that the
Fathers at Ghent were inclined to take into this
Bufinefs the fecular Clergy ; but the Fathers of St.
Omers, together with the Provincial, did refufe the
Motion, becaufe the fecular Clergy were more
cowardly, and fought themfelves, and not the In-
tereft of the Church, or to that Purpofe. My
Lotds, in March we received Letters, that there
was a very fhiewd Attempt made upon the Perfon
of the King, and that the Flint of Pickering’s Gun
or Piftol was loofe, and his Hand fhaking, the King
did then efcape, for which he received a Difcipline,
and the other a fevere Chiding.

L. H.§. You explain not the Meaning of what
you fay 5 that was not boneft J#ill, for he you fay
was Grove,

Dr. Oates. 1 mean Pickering received the Difci-

pline, and #illiam was chid ; for it was Pickering’s
Flint that was loofe. My Lords, this wasin March,

and at the latter End of March there comesa Let-
ter from Lowndon, in which there was a Summons
to a Confult here in London 3 and being fummon’d,
there went over eight or nine from St. Omers,
Lejge, and Ghent, to this Confult, and I did attend
them in their Journey.
L. H, 5. Whendid that Summons come ?
Q2 Dr, Qates.

was /W hitebread, and his counterfeit Name White.
This Father writes to the Fathers at St. Omers, and
therein he does order one Conyers to preach upon
St. Thomas of Canterbury’s Day 3 and he did therein
alfo tell them, that he would be as zealous for the
carrying on of the Defign as his Predeceffor had

been: And a Sermon was accordingly preached at
Vou. III,
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Dr. Oates. The latter IEnd of Maich, or the Be-
ginning of April, as 1 remember 3 they hRC_l Notic'e
of it in Exgland before, but we had_Nut_lce of it
juft when we were to come. I think it wasn
April, as near as I can remember; I cannot be
certain in that, my Lord. We did come to Town
in April, there the Confult was held ; it begun at
the White-Florfe Tavern, where they did con-
{ult about fome Things of the Society, and after-
wards they did adjourn into particular Societies,
where they did debate and refolve on the Death
of the King, and that Grove fhould have fifteen
hundred Pounds for his FPains, and the other be-
ing a religious Man, fhould have thirty thoufand
Maffes faid for him. My Lords, after ftaying in
Town a while we returned to St, Omers 3 and after
I had ftaid there fome few Days, the new Provin-
cial did begin to vifit his Province, and comes
over to St. Oiers, where after ffaying fome fixDays,
he goes over from thence to #ottou. But whilit
he ftaid at St. Oimers, I was ordered to go mto Eug-
land to attend the Affairs here, and for to do {fome
other Services that they fhould employ me about.
My Lords, accordingly ‘1 did come over, and it
wason the 23d N. S. as near as I remember, I got
to Celais 3 the 24th I got to Dover ; on the 25th
I oot to Sittenbuin, but between Dever and Siften-
brrn we had fome Boxes feized : For at Dover we
met with Ferwrck, whois fince executed, who went
by the Name of Thampfon, and carried a Box with
hinm; and a little on this Stde Canterbury it was
feized by the Cuftom-Houfe Officers, and feveral
little Trinkets 1n 1t, which were feized as Freunch
Goods; and he did defire the Searcher to ftand his
Friend, and he would give him fomething for his
Pains, and told him where he thould write to him
in London, There was a Superfcription on the
Box to one Bluundel, but he fhould write to him by
the Name of Thouipfon, at the Fountain Tavern
near Charing-Crofs.  Wearrived in Town the 17th
of Fene, which is the 27th N. S, 5 1t was upon a
Menday 3 and there were Letters which did follow
us, wherein were Propofals made to Sir Gesrge
IV okewman for the poifoning of the King, and thatthe
ten thoufand Pounds which the Spaniards had pro-
mifed in Fenuary before, and was accordingly paid
in London at the Time, fhould be propofed to Zake-
man to poifon the King. 1 found that Cilemai did
look upon it as too little, and he thought fifteen
thoufand Pounds fhould be given to him : I found
that Langhamn thought 1t too much, and that he
otight to do {o great a Piece of Service for nothing,
and told us he was a narrow-{pirited Man, if he
would not engage i fuch a Thing, My Lords,
there was five thoufand Pounds, as the Books told
me, paid ; but Idid not then fee it paid, becaufe [
was then 1ll, and not fitto fiir Abroad. My Lords,
we are now palt Fuie 78,  In Fuly Father 4iody
comes to Town, who did revive the Propofal to
Sir George Wakeman ; but bemg fick of the Gout,
he haftened down to the Berhy and when he came
there, as foon as he began to be well, he wasad-
vifed by the Fathers to {ee low the Catholicks
ftood affeCted m Sosmerfeifbire 5 for they had an Ac-
count in March 78, by Letters from Berkfhire, Ox-

fordfbire, and Effex, that the Catholicks ftood well .

affected 5 and Sir /7illiaii Andieczs did fecure that
the People of Effsx fhould ftand to their Points 3
and fo feveral Men did {ecure that they would
have them in Readinefs. My Lords, in Auguft
(I cannot remember every Particular, but refer
myfelf to the Records of the Houfe,) about the
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20th of Auguft, 1 find that Femwick went to St.
Omers, and there he was to attend the Provincial
Home, and to give the Provincial an Account of
the Propofal accepted by Sir George Wakeman 5 but
in Fuly (if your Lordfhips pleafe to give me Leave
to o back again) §/range comes to Town, and fall-
ing in Difcourle about the Fire of London, and the
Rebuilding of it, he very frankly told me how it
was fired, and how many of thofe concerned were
{eiz’d; and amongft the reft, told me, that theDuke
of ¥or#’s Guard, as by his Order, did receive them,
and were afterwards willing to difcharge them ;
which I forgot to mention before, but upon re-
view of my Papers, I do find that it was told me
his Guard did releafe the Prifoners that were {uf-
pected about the Fire, and thatall the Order they
had forit, they pretended was from the Duke. But
now, my Lords, we return to Augnftagain, Up-
on the 3d of Augft, I find Jrelend did pretend to
oo to St, Omers, and 2 Letter came from him as di-
reCted ivom thence; but we find by his T'rial and
other Things fince, that he went into Staffordfbire;
and about the 12th of Augufl (as I remember) he
was herem Town. The latter Part of Fuly I com-
municated with Dr. Tongre, and gave him fome
particular Account of Affairs; I defired him to com-
municate it to fome that might make it known to
the King : The King had Notice the 13th of Ax-
guft, or the 14th, 2s I remember ; and by the 3d
of Seprewmber 1 was betrayed, and was expofed to
the Vengeance of thefe Men whofe Contrivances
I had thus difcovered. So my Intelligence did
ceale wholly the Sth of Sepseinder. Then was I
forced to keep private ; and upon my Examinati-
on, what Information I gave before the Lords and
Commons, 1 refer myfelf to them.

L. H.S. My Lord Stefford, will you afk him
any Queftions?

L. §taf. No, my Lord; Iamnotat all concern-
ed 1n his Evidence.

L, .S, You fay you were betrayed : Can you
tell how, or which Way you were betrayed ?

Dr. Oates. My Lord, 1will give this Honout-
able Houfe what Light I caninit ; but I defire
then to be excufed from my Oath, for I can’t
{peak 1t of my own Knowledge.

Sir 7. Trevor, Then the next Witnefs we defire
may be called, is Mr. Bernard Dennis.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. This Witnels we call now, is
to confirin what Dr, Oases hath {aid, that he wasat
Valledslid and other Placesin Spain 3 he will be fhort.

L. H.§. Caill you Qares again ?

Sie F, Win. No, my Lord, we call Dexais to con-
firm what Dr. Oates hath faid, He hath given your
Lord{hipan Account that he was in $pain 3 we now
produce one that faw him when he was there, and
{o confirms the Evidence that was given by him.

[ Then Mr. Dennis was fworn. ]

Mr. Tiehy. Mr. Deunis, Do you give their Lord-
fhips an Account of your difeourfing with Dr, Oates
m Spain, or any where elfe Abroad, and where.

L. .5, Stay alittle; do you know Mr. Oates ?

Mr. Deiis. Yes, my Lord.

L. 11. 5. How long have you known him ?

My. Dennis. 1 knew him in the Year 77,
L. 11§, Where?

Mr. Deinis, At Vrzi/adc;ﬁd.

L. H.§. Did you fee him there? Was he a Stu-
dent there ?

Mr. Dennis. Yes, my Lord.
L. H.§. Was he known by the Name of Ogtes ?
Mr. Deiiis. Yes, my Lord, he was.

Sir



1680. H. L.

Sir Fr. Win. My Lord, we defire he may tell his
Kuowledge of IMr. Oates, what Converfation he
had with him 1n Spain.

Mr. Dennis. My Lords, 1 was i Spaiiy, 1 the
City of Fifforie 5 and leaving the City of Vidloiie
in the Month of Fuue, I took my courfe to Mﬁdrfd,
and paffing through the City of Valladolid, gong n-
to the Convent of Dominicans, there came an Jrif
Man, a Prieft of Jreland, out of the City to {ee me;
and there he told me there was a Student of the
]efui'ts, by Name Mr. Oates, an Englifomai; and I
underftanding this, went nto the College of f_:ht:
Jefuits, to fee Mr.Oates, and there had Converfation
with Mr.Oates; and in the Converfation 1 had with
him there, he told me that he was a Vicar m Kew,
and that he was Chaplain to a great Nobleman of
Englaiid, by Name Howard; and that he went out
of Lnglard by the Confentof the Jeluitsin Ligland,
being converted by them to the Rowmen Catholick
Faith, and that his going into Spain was to fit
himfelf for the Society of the Jefuits. And under-
ftanding my Refolution was to'go to Madrid, he
did defire me to carry a Letter to the Archbithop
of Tune, one Fames Lench an Irifbinan, who liv’d at
Madrid.  And further; he lent me four Preces of
Eight to defray my Journey to Madiid, and defir’d
me to pay the Money to the Procurator of the
Jefuits at Medrid. And in carrying this Letter to
the Archbifhop, when I came there, 1 got a Domi-
nican Frier of fieland, by Name Humpbrey Delphin,
to go with me and fee the Archbifhop at his Lodg-
ing ; and going in, I deliver’d him the Letter m
the Prefence of the Dominican, and he perufed it
m my Prefence, and in the Prefence of a Prieft
that waited upon him; and fimfhing the Contents
of the Le-tter, asI fuppofe, with a fmiling Coun-
tenance hewirned about, and faid, Sirs, the Con-
tents of this I etter 1s, that Mr, Oates 1s defirous to
recetve the Orcer of Priefthood from me, or at my
Hands 3 and if it be fo, it will be much in our Way,
and this Man wut be a fit Man for our Putpofe :
for, faid he further, Dr, Oliver Plunket, Primate of
Ireland, 1s refolv’d this Year, or with the next Con-
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Mr. Deniris. Yes, it 1s.

Mr. Sechzverel. My Lords, We defire to aik of
him, why he had the four Pleces of Light of Mr.
Qates ? ‘

L. 1. §. Why had you that Money of Qates?

Mr. Dennis. For todefray my Journey to Adudrid .

L. H. §. Was that all you had ?

Mr. Dennis.  Yes, my Lords.

Mr. Saclkew, We pray he may be afk’d how he
came to be fo needy ? .

Mr. Deimis. My Lords, 1 was not altogether
necdy; butit is very certain,religious Perfons, efpe-
cially of my Order, cannot carry any Money about
them but what 1s requ.fite for their Journey, and
that which may be remov’d from place to place.

St 7. Trevsr. 1 defire to alk him, did he fee
any more Money that Dr, Oates had 2

Mr. Dennis. I did fee Dr, Oczes in hus Chamber
i the College at Vailadolid, when hedelivered me
the four Pieces of Eight, to draw out a Drawer
of a Table in his Chamber, and out of the Drawer
he pulP’d a Bag of Money, which was a very con-
fidcrable Sum of Money, and I am certan he did
not want Money there then.

Mr. Treby. My Lords, I think we have done
with him ; if my Lord pleafe to afk him any Que-
{tion, he may.

L. Staf. But only one Queftion, for I neverfaw
the Man in my Life, I defirc he may be afked
whether he be ftill of the Romifh Religion.

Sir F. Tiewor. My Lords, We have not yet done
with him; the Queftion we would afk him, is this,
whether he hath heard of any Money that was
gathered in Jreland for the Support of this Plot ?

L. H. §. The Queftion afk’d of you, have you
heard of any Money gather’d m freland for the
Support of this Plot ?

Mr., Deanis. 1 have both heard and feen of It.

L. H.§. When, and where ?

Mr. Dennis. My Lords, In the Year 68,1 entred
mto the Order of the Dommicans in fieland 3 and
in the fame Year there arrived at Dublii a Fran-
cifcan Frier, Brother to the late Earl of Ceiling-

venience, to bring n a French Power into Jreland, ford ; and arriving there, he made feveral Collect-

thereby tofupport the Reman Catholicks in England
and [reland 5 and if 1t pleale God, I my felf, with-
out any delay, will go into fréland to aflift i that
pious Work. All this Difcourfe between us and the
Archbifhop, and between Oates and me, wasin Fu-
Iy 77. And there I did {peak and converfe with M.
Ouates.  All this I can teftify for Truth on the be-
half of Mr. Oates, who was then a Student in the
%::l}ege of Vallade/id, and had no other Name nor

1tie,

Mr. Foley. T defire him{elf may tell your Lord-
fhtp what Religion he is of.

L. . §. What Religion are you of ?

Mr. Dennis. 1 am a Dominican Frier, my Lord.

L. H. §. Areyou?

Mr. Dennis, My Lords, I am.

L. H. §. At this Time ?

Mr. Dennis.  Yes, my Lords.

M. Serj. Maynard. He hath a Pardon,my Lords.

Mr. Tieby. This hath been controverted, my
Lords, whether Mr. Oates ever was in Spain 3 we
defire to make it out plain to the World, for the
Qm;ﬁrmation of his Evidence ; therefore we afk
him again, Do you know the Perlon of Mr. Oares?

Mr. Deunis,” Yes, 1 do.

Mr. Tiely, Is this Perfon that gave Evidence

laft before you, the fame Perfon you faw at ¥alla-
dolid ?

ors for the levying a competent Sum of Money
out of every Convent and Religious Houfe. My
Lords, the Colle@®ors were by Name Fobn Rey-
nolds, alhas Landy, and Fobu Berne s and arrving
at the County of S/igoe, mn the Month of Aday—

L. H §. What Year ?

Mr. Dennis. 68. And when the Colletors came
to the Convent of our Friers in Sfigoe, all the Fri-
ers gather’d together into a Room, and thele Col-
lectors commg mn did read their Comm:flion given
them from one Fames Taaffe, as they faid; and I
was there perfonally prefent, though a Novice ; and
upon reading their Commiffions, they faid Forty
Shillings was to be paid by the Prior, and the Ir1-
ers of that Convent; and the Provincial of the Or-
der of the Dominicans queftion’d the Power of the
{aid Reynolds and B:rne, and {o did the Prior; and
I afk’d why the Money was levy’d? They gave
an{wer, That that Levy and {everal other Levies
was to encourage the French King, inwhofe King-
dom were feveral Bithops of fri/and, Clerzymen,
and others, whofe Bufinefs it was to provoke the
King to bring an Army to invade Jrelaid, when-
ever Time fhould ferve.

L. H. §. Have you done with him now ?

Mr. Treby.  Yes.

L. H. §. Will your Lordfhip alk him any Que-

flions ?
L., Staff.
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L. Staff. My Queftion is only whether he profefs

himfelf of the Church of Rome, or a Proteflant ?
Mr. Denwis. 1am a Roman Catholick {ull, my

Lord.

L.H. S. Areyou?

Mr. Deniis. T am, my Lord.

L. Staff. Then I have no more to {ay.

Sir ¥. Trevor, Then we call Mr. fenifon.

[ WWho wwas fiwsin. ]

Mz, Tredy. M. Fenifon, you have been among
the Papifts, and you have had great Confidence a-
mong them ; pray declare what you know of thew
Defigns for the Deftru@ion of the Protefiant Re-
liglon, or the Means of doing it, whether by the
Murder of the King, or what other Means, tell
your whole Knowledge.

M. Fenifon. My Lords, in the Beginning of the
Year 78,1 have heard Mr, Ireland, and Mr.Thomas
Fenifen, both Jefuits, fpeak of a Defign they had
togain a Toleration of Confcience for their Party
in Lugland ;: and the way then defign’d to get i,
was, by procuring a great Sum of Money from
their Party, and by bribing the then Purhmntint.
I have heard them Jikewife difcourfe of procuring
the Duke of 264’ Succeffion ; and that (they told
me) was to be done, by procuring of Commiflions
to be granted out to thofe of their Party, to be
ready to rife upon the Death of the King. [ like-
wife have heard them difcourfe of the Neceffity and
Ufefulnefs to their Party of the Alteration of the
Government eftablifi’d, and that their Religion
could never flourifh till that was done, and this
Kingdom altered according to the French Model.
In the Month of Fune 478, 1 was at Mr. freland’s
Chamber ; and there happening a Difcourfe, that
the Reman Catholick Religion was like to come in-
to England, Mr. Ireland did then fay, there was but
one who ftood i1 the Way, and that 1t was an eafy
Thing to poifen the King, and that Sir George
Fakeman mught eafily and opportunely doit. [T
afk’d Mr. Jreflard, whether Sir George Wakeman was

the King’s Phyfician? His Anfwer was, No, but
he was the Queen’s, and fo might have an Oppor-
tunity to doit. In the Month of Augsf the {fame
Year, the Day that I came from #7udfor, 1 went
to Mr. Ireland’s Chamber, and I found that he
was newly come from Staffordfbrre, and was draw-
ing off his Bootson the Frame of a Table; he alk’d
me whence I was come? 1 told him from Windfer -
He enquired of me about the Diverfions of the
Court. Itold him T underfrood his Majefty did
take Delight in Hawking and Fifhing, but chiefly
in Fifhing; and that he went accompanied only
with two or three, early in the Morning. Then
Mr. freland reply’d, He were eafily taken off or re-
mov'd. To which Ianfwer'd, Gad forbid; being
{urpriz’d at that Time : Oh, faid he, Ifay not that
it 1s lawful, Then there happen’d fome interrup-
tion to our Difcourfe, about Staffordfbire ; then we
fell into a Difcourfe of their Religion that he
fad was fuddenly to come into Engloid 5 and he
alk’d me 1f I would be one of thofe that would go
to Wandfor toaffift to take off the King. I told him
No; then he told me he would remit the 20/, |
ow'd him, if I would go to #indfor to be one of
thofe that were to take off the King. My Lords,
I told him I would have no hand in any fuch Mat-
ter, and that I would not for twenty times 20/,
have any hand in the Death of the King. Said he,
Would you do nothing for the bringing in of our
Religion? Itold him 1 thought it would never
come in by Blood : Itold him further, God for-
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give me, if the King were taken off fo, well and
good, but I would have nothing to do with it,
He left not the Difcourfe there, but afk’d me if |
knew any Jrifbinen that were flout and courageous.
I told him, yes I did, and nam’d Captain Levalian,
Mr. Kaerney, Mr. Broghall, and Mr. WWalfon, all Gen-
tlemen of my Acquaintance about Grays-fnn. When
I nam’d thefe, he afk’d me if I would goalong with
him to Windfer, to aflift them in taking off the
Kirg. Itold him I did not think any Man of E-
ftate would engage in fuch a Matter ; that I was
Hetr to an Liftate, my Brother being a Prieft, and
that Captain Levallianr was Heir to a very good
Eftate, and therefore 1 did believe he would not
do fuch a thing, unlefs the Pique which he had to
the King or Religion might move him to ir. My
Lords, he approved of thefe Perfons, and faid, he
knew the fift two of them, Levaliian and Karney s
and he fet down, as I remember, the other two
Names m Writtng. e told me he was going to
the Club, to Mr, Coleman, and Mr, Levallian, and
Karney at that Time, and then afk’d me for the
Money, the 20/, that [ ow’d him. Hetold me, he
wanted fourf{core Pounds, and he defird me that
I would return it as {oon as I came into the Coun-
try. Now, my Lords, the fame Day that [ re-
ceiv’d this twenty Pound of Ireland, I went with
M. Thomas Fenifon,the Jefuit, to Harconrs’s Cham-
ber, to give the Fathers Thanks for the Loan of
the Money 3 and there Mr. Fenifon falling into Dif-
courfe on that common Topick of their Keligion
coming into £uglend, he did then ufe that Exprel-
fion which Dr. Oates hath in his Narrative, If C.R.
world not be R.C. be fbanid not de long C. R. And
he did interpret it thus in Latin : 1 Carolrs Rex
won effet Rex Catholicus, non foret diu Carolus Rex.
And he did add, my Lords, upon the Difcourfe,
that if the King were excommunicated or depos'd,
he was not longer King, and it was no Sin, or no
great Sin to take him off; and if it were difto-
verd who did it, two or three might perhaps fuf-
fer, but denying the Fact, the Matter foon would
be blown over, My Lords, about two Months af-
ter the muftering the Forces upon Hounfloco- Heath,
M., Tomas Fenifon did tell me he had a Matter of
great Confequence to nmpart to me; that there
was a Defign on Foot fo laid, as that it could not
well be difcover’d, and that the greateft Papifts,
the greateft Catholicks in England, were in the De-
fign 5 that the Queen and the Duke were in it, and
that feveral Lords, by Name my Lord Bellafis, my
Lord Powis, my Lord Arundel of Wardour, and o-
thers: I believe my Lord Stafford was nam’d, but
I cannot be pofitive in that, At that Time, my
Lords, I did with I had had aCommiflion in the new
rais’d Leviesthatwere mufter’d on Hounflow- Heath,
He told me he would procure me a Commiffion
from the Duke of 2ork, and that there was 2 new
Army to be rais’d to bring in the Catholick Reli-
gion but he did fay he would tell me more Par-
ticulars after my receiving the Sacrament of Se-
crely; and I did underftand by him that that Com-
miffion was not to be fent till the taking off the
King was effected : Butbeing I was furpriz’d at it,
he would not tell methe whole Matter, but he de-
fi'd me to come and receive the Sacrament at Sir
Philip Tyrwhitt’s in Bloomfbury, and then he would
acquaint me with the whole Affair. My Lords, be-
ing in Berk/bire about the Month of December 48.
at Madam Hell’s in Shinefeld Parith, one Mr, Cuffi!
a Jefuit came into our Company. It wasabout the

Trial of Coleman s and M. Cuffi did then fay, that

he
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he thought Mr. Coleran was infatuated, upon the
Difcovery of the Plot, to give Notice to Mr.
Harcourt, Mr. Ireland, and Mr, Fenwick, and the
other Jefuits, to burn or fecure their Papers, and
yet not to fecure his own. My Sifter Hall was
prefent at this Difcoutfe 3 and_ Mr. Cuffil did then
further fay, that Bellarmine did draw a Sentence
out of the Scripture, to favour the Pope’s Autho-
rity of excommunicating, depriving, and depo-
fing temporal Princes ; and the Saying was this,
Quod Papa babect eandem poteftatem fuper Reges,
quars Feboiada babuit fuper Athaliam. And that
there were other corroborating Teftimontes among
the Fathers for it

Mr, Treby. My Lords, we defire to afk him whe-
ther ever he heard of Mr. Oates being in the Plot,
or being thought Truft-worthy among them.

Mr, Fen. Yes, my Lords, I did.

L. H. §. When did you hear it, and of whom ?

Mr. Fen. Of my Brother Tho. Fenifon the Jefuit.

L. H.§. When did he tell you fo ?

Mr. Fes. About the latter end of Fuly 78, when
there was a Difcourfe of a Defign, and that the
greateft Papifts were in it, he faid, Mr. Oates, a
Parfon newly come over to them, was in that De-
fign: I an{wer'd, I did wonder that he would truft
a reconci’d Enemy. He anfwer’d, That being once
reconcil’d, they were more zealous and trufty, I
{fubmitted to his Opinton, and inftanc’d in Dr, God-
wy and Dr. Bayly, that were Proteftants, and
afterwards came over to the Church of Rome,

Mr., Trcby. We have done with him, my Lord.

L. H.§. Will your Lordfhipafk him any Quef-
tions, my Lord Safford ?

L. Staf. No, my Lerd.

Sir F. Win. My Lords, I would only obferve the
time when he fays his Brother told him of the De-
fign, that it was about the time of the muftering
the Forces on Hounflow-beaths and that hewas then
told Mr., Oates was in the Plot : I only obferve it
now for theend of the Cafe in point of Time.

L. A §. Hefaid it was in Fuly.

M. Fen. It was two Months after the muftering
of the Forces, about the latter end of Fwjy.

L. H. §. Before the Difcovery ?

Mr. Fen. Yes. -

L. H. §. Did you know Oates at that time ?

Mr. Fen. No, my Lords, I was not acquaint-
ed with him,

Sir 7. Trevor, Did you not fee him then ?

Mr. Fen. Yes, I faw him at Irelaid’s Chamber.
Sir 7. Trevor, When was that ? |
Mr. Jen. The latter end of April, or the be-

gining of May,

L.H.§. You fay you did not know him in
July 5 how then can you fay you faw him before ?

M. 7en. 1 did not know him ; I only faw him
come mto Jreland’s Chamber, and whifper for fome
time, twao or three Minutes, and then they told me
that that was Mr. Outes, a Parfon newly come over
to them, a brifk jolly Man, and worthy my Ac-
{juamtance.

L. H. 8. Ts this the fame Man you faw there ?

Mr. ¥ei My Lords, I cannot remember his F ace,
for he was gone out when I was told of him.

L. H.§. Why, you know Mr. Oatzs now ?

Mr. Fenifon. Yes, 1 do.

L. H. 8. Do you know him to be the fame Man
that you faw then ? |

Mr. Fenifon. 1 can’t tell that.

St ¥ Trever, My Lords, He fays Mr. Oates only
came in for three or four Minutes, and his Back was
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towards him; and his Brothet told him whei he
was gone who it was,

Mr. Fenifon. I only knew his Name from my
Brother, | |

Mr. Treby. And I prefume youtr Lordthips will
obferve this was at the very Time of the Jefuits
Confult.

Sir F. Trevor. We defire this Gentleman may
tell your Lordfhips who his Brother is, and what
Profeflion he is of.

Mr. Fesifen. My Brother was a Jefuit brought
up at St, Omers.

L. H. §. Your Brother is dead, and died in
Newgate ? _

Mr. Fenifon. Yes, he did fo.

L. H.§. Pray recolle¢t yourfelf again : When
was it that you faw the Man they called Oates at
the Jefuit’s Chamber 2 .

Mr. Fenifon, My Lords, It was in the Year 78,
the latter end of Apré/, or the beginning of May.
And I will tell you why I apprehend it to be
that Time. My Brother being a Prieft, liv’d with
Stir Philip Tyrwhitt in Lincolufbire; and in that Year
in Lent he came to Town with my Lady and that
Family, and he and I usd to dine together at the
Fith-Ordinary at Pedley’s. And about three Weeks
or 2 Monthafterthat Time,when he came toTown,
I was at Mr. Jreland’s Chamber, and there was a
Gentleman, whom they told me was Qates.

L.H.S§. This you fay was the latter end of
Aprily or beginning of May 78 ; for the Time is
material: Upon your Oath you fay it ?

Mr. fenifon. Yes, my Lords, Ido.

L. H. §. Youfay it was at Jreland’s Chamber.

Mr., Fenifon. Yes, my Lords.

Sir F. Win. My Lords, Will you give us leave
to atk him one fhort Queftion’; becaufe fome of the
Gentlemen doubt of it, we would afk it again:
Whathis Brother was, whether he was a Jefuitorno?

Mr. Fenifon. Lhave heard him own it, my Lords.

L. H. §. Whom do you call next, Gentlemen ?

Mr. Tredy. If it pleafe your Lordthips, we fhall
in the next place produce our Evidences that are

Matters of Record 3 and we defire your Lordthips

Advice and Dire@ion how we are to minifter the

* fame, whether your Lordthips will have them all

read, or but 2 Word of them, and let them be left
with your Lordthips.

L. H. §. What Records are they ?

Mr, Trely. They are the Records of the Attain-
der of Colewan, Ireland, and the other Confpi-
rators,

L. H. §. The Factis fo notorious that they were
attainted and executed, that the reading of a Word
will {erve the Turn.

Sir . Ticvor. Then we defire they may be pro-
duc'd here, and the Copies prov’d upon Oath;
and then we fhall leave them upon your Lordthips
Table: And, my Lords, we defire likewife at
the fame time to fave another Trouble, there
may be deliver’d in the Conviftions of Reading,
Lane, Knox, and others.

Then Mr, Clare was fworn, and deliver'd in the
Copies of the Records.

L. H § What Record is that ?

Mz, Clare. It i1s the Record of the Attainder of
Coleman for High-Treafon.

L. H §. Did you examine it ?

Mr. Clare. 1 did examine it.

L. H, S Isitatrue Copy 2
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Mr. Clare. To the beft of my Underftanding it
15. Here is Jikewife a Copy of the Record of the
Conviction of Ireland, Pickering, and Greve, for

High-T'reafon, |
L. H. 8. 1s there Judgment of Attainder entred

upon Record ? _

Mr. Clare. Yes, my Lords, thereis Judgment
entred. Here 1s a Copy of the Indi¢tment, Con-
vikion, and Attainder of TVbitehread, Fenwick,

Harcourt, Gavenr, and Turier for High-Treafon.

Here is a Copy of the Record of Attainder of
Richard Langhorn for Fligh-Treafon. IHere 152
Copy of the Attainder of Gregn, Berry, and Hidl,
for the Murder of Sir Eduundbury Godfiev.  Here
is a Copy of the Convittion of Mr. Nathaniel
Reading, for endeavouring to fuborn M. Bedloe
toretract his Evidence againft fome of the Lords
i the Tower, and Sir Hemry Tichbuin.

L. H. §. What 15 the Judgment there?

M, Clare.The Judgment ts entred upon 1t and
’tis to pay 1000 /. Fine, and to be putinand upon
the Pillory mn the Pdlace-Tard, TV fiminfler, tor an
Hour, with a Paper upon his Head, written 1n
areat Letters, For endeavouring Subornation of Per-
J#ry. Here 15 a Copy of the Record of the Con-
viction of Tafbrongh and Price, for endeavouring
to {uborn Mr, Dugdale, and Judgment entred upon
it.  And here 1s a Copy of the Record of Convi-
ction of Awsx and Lane, for confpiring to alperfe
Dr. Oates and Mr. Bedloe.,

Here 1s the Record of the Conviction of Falu
Giles, for barbaroufly attempting to affaffnate
Jobi drivold, Eigs one of his Majefty’s Juftices of
the Peace ; and the Judgment entred thereupon
15, Lo ftand three times on the Pillory, with a
Paper on his Hat declaring his Offence; to pay
'500 /. to the King, to lie in Execution till the fame
be paid, and find Sureties for his good Behaviour
during Life,

L. H. 8. Deliver them allin, And if my Lords
have occafion to doubt of any thing, being left in
the Court, they will be there ready to be ugd.
(All which were then deliver’d in.)

Mr. Treby. My Lords, we humbly defire that
the Record of Colrinan may be read, becaufe there
1s more of {pecial Matter in it than any of the reft,
and your Lordthips may difpofe of the others as
you pleafe.

L. H. §. Read the Record of Colernan.

Then the Clerk read (in Lasix) the Record of
the Attainder of Edward Coleman, formerly exe-
cuted for Iligh-Treafon, by him committed in
this horrid Popifh Plot, which is in Euglifh as
followeth,

Of the Terir of St. Michael, to the thivteenth Year
of the Reign of Kinz Charles the Secoind, &c.

Middle fox,

T another Time, to wit, on [Vednefdzy next

alter eight Days of St. Martin this fame
‘Termy, before our Lord the King at Weffminficr, by
the Oath of twelve Jurors, honeft and lawful Men
of the County aforefaid, {worn and charged to en-
quire for our faid Lord the King and the Body of
the County aforefaid, it ftands prefented, That
Ldward Colemar late of the Parith of St. Margaret
W eftminfier, in the County of Middlefex, Gent. as
falte Traitor againft the moft illuftrious, moft fe-
rene, and moft excellent Prince, our Lord Chailes
the Second, by the Grace of God of England, Scot-

2
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land, France and Ireland, King, Defender of the
Faith, e, and hus natural Lord, not having the

* Fear of God 1n his Heart, nor weighing the Daty

of his Allegiance, but by the Inftigation of the
Devil moved and feduced, the cordial Love, and
the true, due and natural ‘Obedience, which trge
and faithful Subjects of our faid Lord the King to-
wards him our {fard Lord the King, ought and of
right are bound to bear ; utterly withdrawing, and
devifing, and with his whole Strength mtending
the Peace and common Tranquillity of this Kinp-
dom of Fugland to difturb, and the true Worflup
of God within this Kingdom of £zglund practiied,
and by Law eftablithed, to overthrow 3 and Sadi-
tion and Rebellion within this Realm of Laugland
to move, ftir up, and procure ; and the cordial
Love, and true and due Obedience, which true and
faithful Subje@s of our faid Lord the King towards
him our faid Lord the King thould bear, and of
nght are bound to bear, utterly to withdraw,
blot out, and extinguifh, and our faid Lord the
King to Death and final Deftruction to bring and
put, the 2g9th Day of Septesibei the 249th Year of
the Reign of our Lord Chailes the Second, by the
Grace of God, of Ligland, Scotland, Friuce and
Irelend, King, Defender of the Faith, &, at the
Parifh of St. Maigaret IVeftminfter aforefaid, in the
County aforefnid, falfly, makicioufly, fubtilly and
tratoroully propofed, compafied, imagined and
mtended Sedition and Rebellion within this Realm
of Liglsid to move, raife up and procure, and a
mifcrable Slavghter among the Subjedts of our
faid Lord the Kmg to procure and caufe; andour
faid Lord the King from his kingly State, ‘itle,
Power and Government of his Realm of Ligland
utterly to deprive, depole, dejet and difinierit,
and hum our faid Lord the King to Death and final
Deflruction to bring and put, and the Government
of the fame Realm, and the fincere Religion of
God in this Kingdom, nghtly, and by the Laws
of this Realm, eftablithed, for his Wil and Plea-
fure to change and alter, and the State of this
whole Kingdom in it’s univerfal Parts well inflitu-
ted and ordained, wholly to fubvert and deftroy,
and War againft our faid Lord the King withm this

"Realm of Euglaud to levy., Aad to accomplifh

and tulfil thefe his moft wicked ‘Treafons and trai-
torous Imaginations and lurpofes atorefuid, the
fame Ed:ward Colcman afterwards, to wit, the fid
29th Duy of Sepreinber. in the abovefaid 27th Year
of the Reign of our fuid Lord the King, at the
Parith of St. Margeret IV efininfier aforelud, in the
Cu:.mry of Alidd!vfox aforefaid, fallly, fubtiily and
traitorovtly devifed, compofed. and writ two Let-
ters to bz fent to one Monfieur % Chaif., thea Ser-
vant and Confeffor of Liwis the Freieh King. to
defire, procure and obtain to the faid Ed:oard Cole-
inait, and other fallc Traitors agamfl our faid So-
vereign Lord the King from the faid Franch King,
his Aid, Afliftance and Adherence, to alter tl?c
trae Religion in this Kingdom then and fill efta-
blithed, to the Supeiltition of the Church of Rowe,
and to {ubvert the Government of this Kinodom
of Liglaind : and afterwards, to wit, the f:lidbzgth
Day ?f_ Sepitnder, in the abovefikl 27th Year of
the Reign of our faid Lord, now King of Eyg-
land, &Se. at the afurefiid Parith of St. Muivaret
Wefininfler in the County of Afiddlefos &forgfﬁid,
falfly and traitoroufly devifid, compoled and writ
two other Letters to be fent to one Monfi. / Chaifz,
then Servant and Confeflorof the faid Fiench King,
to the Intent that he the faid Monficar le Chifz

{hould
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intreat, procure and obtain to the faid E4-
2:1:3 g’;!?mrm,anl;lother falfe Traitors againit our faid
Sovereign Lord the King, from the aforefaid French
King, his Aid, Affiftance and-Adhetence to alter the
true Religionin this Kingdom of England, then and
ftill eftablifi’d, to the Superflition of the Church
of Rome, and to fubvert the Government of this
Kingdom of England: And that t}le afore{:ald Ed-
sward Colesman, further_Prqfecutton of his Trea-
fons and traitorous Imaginations and Purpofes a-
forefaid, afterwards, to th,_the fame 29th Day
of September, in the abovefaid 27th Year of the
Reign of our fard now Lord the King, the afore-
faid feveral Letters from the faid Parifh of St.
Margaret ﬁV.fﬂmffgﬂfr? in the County of Middlefex
aforefaid, fallly, fubtilly and traitorouily did fend
into Parts beyond the Seas, there to be delivered
to the faid Monfieur /e Chaifé,  And that the afore-
id Edward Coleman, afterwards, to wit, f}EE 1t
Day of Decenber 1n the 27th Year of the ngr} of
our Sovereign Lord Charles the St:cond, now King
'of Englond, &c. at the aforefaid Panfh of St
!Mﬂ?gﬂm Weflminfer, n the County of Middlefex
abovefaid, one Letter from the afore_fald Monfieur
Je Chaife (in anfwer to one of the faid Letters, fo
by him the faid Edwaid Coleman wnt, and to the
{1id Monfieur /2 Chaife to be fent, firft mentioned)
falfly, fubtilly and traitoroufly receiv’d, and that
Letter fo in Anfwer recetv’d, the Day and Year
laft abovefaid, at the abovefaid Parith of St. Aar-
garet Weftminfier aforefaid, in the County of Mid-
dlefex atorefud, faifly, {ubtilly and traitoroufly
did infped and read over; and that the aforefaid
Edward Coleman, the Letter aforefard {o by hiim in
anfwer received in his Cuftody and Pofieffion the
Day and Year laft aforefaid, at the aforefard Parith
of St. Margaret Weflminfter, in the Cm_mty of Mid-
dlefox aforefaid, falfly, fubtilly and traitoroufly de-
tained, concealed and kept; by which faid Letter
the faid Monfieur /e Cheife, the Day and Year laft
abovefaid, at the aforefaid Parith of St. Margares
Weftninfier, inthe County of Middlefex aforefaid,
fignify’d and promifed to the faid Edward Coleman,
to obtain for him the faid Eaward Coleman and other
falfe T'raitors againft our faid Lord the King, from
the faid French King, his Aid, Afliftance and Adhe-
rence. And that the aforefaid Edzoard Coleman,after-
wards, to wit, the 10th Day of December in the a-
bovefaid 27th Yearof the Reignof our faidSovereign
Lord Charles11. now King of Englond, &c. at the
Parifh of St. Maigaret Weflminfer aforefaid, in the
County of Middlzfex aforefaid, falfly, malicioufly,
fubtilly and traitoroufly did relate and declare his
traitorous Defigns and Purpofes aforefaid to one
Monfieur Ruvignt (then Envoy Extraordinary from
the French King to our fard moft ferene King, at
the Parifh aforefaid, n the County aforefaid, re-
fiding) to move and excite him the faid Envoy Ex-
traordinary with him the faid Edward Coleinan, in
his Treafons aforefaid to partake: And the fooner
to fulfil and compleat thofe his moft wicked T'rea-
fons and traitorous Imaginations and Purpofes a-
forefud, he the faid Edwward Coleman, afterwards,
to wit, the 19th Day of Decemder, in the above.-
faid 27th Year of the Reign of our faid Lord
Coarles the Second now King of England, &e. at the
atorefaid Parith of St. Margaret Weftminfter, inthe
County of Middlefex aforefaid, advifedly, malici-
oufly, fubtilly and traitoroufly did devife, com-
pole, and write three other Letters to be fent to
one Sir William Thragiorton, Kt. then a Subjedt of
‘our now Lord the King, of this Kingdom of Eng-

You. I,

for High-Treafon.
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land, and refiding in France, in Parts beyond the
Seas, to follicit him the aforefzid Monfieur / Chaife
to procure and obtain of the faid Fremch King his
Aid, Affiftance and Adherence aforefaid, And thofe
Lettersjlaft mentioned, afterwards, to wit, the
Day and Year laft abovefaid, from the aforefaid P-
rih of St. Margaret Wiftminfter, in the County of
Middlefex aforefaid, to the fame Sit William T, brog-
morton 1n France aforefaid, fallly and traitoroufly
did fend, and caufe to be delivered, againft the
Duty of his Allegiance, and againft the Peace of
our faid now Lord the King, his Crown and Dig-
nity, and againft the Form of the Statute in fuch
Cafe madeand provided. ‘Wherefore it was com-
manded the Sheriff of the County aforefaid, that
he thould not omit, &%, but that he fhould take
him, i, &e. to anfwer, &c. And now, to wit, on
daturaqy next after eight Days of St. Martin, this
fame Term, before our Lord the Kin g at Weftinin-

Jéer, came the aforefaid Edward Coleman, under the

Cultody of William Richardfon, Gent. Keeper of the
Goal of our faid Lord the King of Newgate, by
vertue of the King’s Writ of Habeas Corpus ad fitb-
(into whofe Cuftedy before then for
the Caufe aforefaid, he was committed) to the
Bar here brought in his proper Perfon, who is com-
mitted to the Marfbal, &c. and prefently of the
Premifes to him above impofed, being afked, How
he will thereof be acquitted ? faith, That he is in
no wile thereof guilty, and thereof for Good and
Evil doth put himfelf upon the Country. There-
fore let a Jury thereupon come before our Lord
the King at JZeflininfter on Wednefday next after fif-
teen Days of St. Martinn; and who, &. to recoga
nize, &e. becaufe, &5z the fame Day is piven to the
fard Edward Coleman, 8cc. under the Cuftody of the
faid Keeper of the Goal'of our faid Lord the King,
of Newgate aforefaid, in the mean time commit-
ted to be fafely kept until, &. At which #edyef-
day next after fifteen Days of St. Martin, before our
Lord the King at Weftminfler, came the aforefaid
Ldward Coleman under Cuftody of the aforefaid
Kepeer of the King’s Goal of Newpateaforefaid, by
vertue of a Writ of our Lord the King of Habeas
Corpus ad fuljiciend’, €5 ¢. to the Bar here brought
in his proper Perfon, who is committed to the
atorefaid Keeper of the King’s Goal of Newpate
aforefaid. And the Jurors of the Jury aforefaid,
by the Sheriff of the County aforefaid hereunto
impanuell’d, being call’d, came, who being cho-
fen, tried and fworn to {peak the Truth upon the
Premifes, fay upon their Oaths, That the afore-
faid Edward Coleman is guilty of the High-Trea-
fon aforefaid, in the Indiétment aforefaid fpecify’d in
manner and form as by the faid Indi@ment above
againft him is fuppofed ; and that the aforefaid
Edward Coleman at the time of Perpetration of the
High-Treafon aforefaid, or at any time afterwards
had no Goods, Chattels, Lands or Tenements, to
the Knowledge of the Jurors aforefaid. And the
aforefaid Edward Coleman being afked if he hath -
any thing, or knows what to fay for himfelf, why
the Court here ought not to proceed to Judg-
ment and Execution of him upon the Verdi& a-
forefaid, faith nothing, but as before he had faid
And hereupon mftantly the Attorney-General of
our faid Lord the King, according to due form of
Law, demandeth againft him the faid Edward,
Judgment and Execution to be had upon the Ver-
dict aforefaid, for our Lord the King. Whereupon
alland fingular the Premifes being view'd, and by

the Court here underflood, 1t is confidered, Th}?t:
R . the
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the faid Edward Colesman be led by the faid Keeper
of the Gozl of Newwgate aforefaid, unto Newgale
aforefaid, and from thence diretly be drawn to
the Gallows of Tyburn, and upon thofe Gallows

there be hanged, and be cut down alive’ to the

Earth, and his Entrails be taken out of his Belly
and be burned (he fill living); and that the Head
of him be cut off, and the Body of him be di-
vided into four Parts; and that thofe Head and
Quarters be put where our Lord the King will af-

fign them, {Jt.

L. Staff. 1 do not hear one Word he fays, my

Lords. |
L. H §. My Lord, This does not concern

your Lordfhip any further than as to the Genera-

lity of the Plot.
Sir 77ill. fones. My Lords, We have now done

with our Proofs for the firit general Head that we
open’d, which was to make it out, that there was
a Plot in general. 'We now come to give our par-
ticular Evidence againft this very Lord; and be-
fore we do begin, we think fit to acquamt your
Lordfhips,thatour Evidence will take up {fome time:
If your Lordthips will have the patience to hear
it out now, we will give it; but if your Lord-
thips will not fit {o long till we can finifh it, it may
be fome Inconvenience to us to break off m the
middle. And therefore we humbiy offer it to your
Lordfhips Confideration, whether you will hear

it how, or no.
L. H. §. If it cannot be all given and heard

now, it were better all fhould be given to-mor-
YOW.

Sie 7ill. foues. If your Lordfhips pleafe then,
we will referve it till to motrow.

L. Steff. My Lords, I would only have your
Directions, whether I fhall anfwer this General
firlt, or ftay til zll be faid againft me. That
which I have to fay to this General, will be very
fhort.

L. H, §. My Lord, you are to make all your
Anfwer entire, and that is beft for you.

L. Staff. 1 am very well contented, that I may
be the better prepared for it.

L. H., §. Isit your Lordthips Pleafure that we
fhould adjourn into the Parliament-Chamber ?

Lords. Ay, Ay.

L. H.§. Then this Houfe is adjourned into
the Parliament-Chamber, .

And the Lotds went away i the fame Order
they came.

The Commons returned to their Houfe, and
Mr. Speaker refumed the Chair, and then the
Houfe adjourned to eight of the Clock the next
Motning,

g

The Seconp Davy,
Wednefday, Deceinber 1. 1680.

Meflage was fent from the Lords, by Si
Timothy Baldwyn, and Sir Samuel Clark.

Mr. Speaket.

The Lords have fent us to acquaint this Houfe,
That they intend to proceed to the Trial of 27/
lism Vifcount Stzfford, at ten of the Clock this
Morning, in Weftuinficr-Hall,

Mr. Speaker left the Chair, and the Commons
came mto Aeflminfer-Hall in the new-ere&ed
Court. '

2

And the Managers appointed .by the. Commong
went into the. Room prepared for them- in.that
Court, to proceed to the particular Evidence a-
gaintt /¥itliam Vifcount Safford.

About ten of the Clock in the Morning, the
T ords came into the faid Court i their former
Order; and Proclamation being made of Sience,
and for the Lieutenant of the Zower to bring his
Prifoner to the Bar, they proceeded.

L. H. 8. My Lords expe& you fhould go on
with your Evidence, and proceed m the Trial of

this noble Lord,

L. Siaff. My Lords if your Lordfhips pleafe,
I humbly defire that my Counctl may be near me
for the arguing of what is fit to them to fpeak to,
as to Points of Law; for Points of Fac¢t { do not
defire it.

L. H.§. My Lord, You have an Order for
your Council to attend, and they muft and ought
to attend.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. The Council muft not fug-
geft any thing to him while the Evidence s
giving ; they are not to be heard as to Matter
of Fa&.

L. F. 8. 1t is not intended to make ufe of Coun-
cil as to Matter of Fa&, but they may {tand by.

Mr, Serj. Maynerd, My Lords, They may fand
within hearing, but not within prompting.

L. Staff. 1 affure you, if I had all the Council
in the World, I would not make ule of them for
any Matter of Fact.

Mr. Trely. My Lords, will you pleafe to order
them to ftand at a convenient Diftance, that they
may not prompt the Prifoner?

Sir #ill Fones, My Lords, T hope your Lord-
fhips will confider, that 2 Man 1n a capital Caufe
ought not to have Council to Matter of Fact. °Tis
true, he may advife with his Councils I deny it
nots but for him in the Face of the Court to com-
municate with his Council; and by them be told
what he fhall fay, as to Matters of Fad, 15 that,
which (with Submiflion) 1s not to be alfow’d. If
your Lordfhips order they fhall be within hearing,
I do not oppofe 1t; but then I defire they may
{tand at that Diftance, that there may be no Means
of Intercourle, unlek Points 1n Law do rife.

L.H. §. You were beft make that Exception
when there is Caufe for it, in the mean time go on
with your Evidence.

Sir F, Win. We did perceive his Council came
up towards the Bar, and very near him, and there-
fore we thought it our Duty to fpeak before any
Inconvenience happened. "This Lord being accufed
of High-Treafon, the allowmng of Council is not
a Matter of Difcretion, If Matters of Law arife,
all our Books fay, that Council ought to be allow’d :
But we pray that there may be no Council to ad-
vife him in Matter of Fact, nor tiil your Lord-
fhups find fome Queftion of Law to arife upon the
Evidence.

L. H. 8. When there 13 Caufe, take the Excep-
tion; but they do notas yet mifbchave them-
{elves.

Mr. Treby. My Lords, We prefume your Lord-
fhips did, from the Strength and Clearnefs of Ye-
fterday’s Ewvidence, receive full Satisfaction con-
cerning the general Plot and Confpiracy of the
Popith Party.

It being an Evidence apparently invincible, not
out of the Mouths of two or three Witnefles on-

ly, butor twice that Number, or more, credible

Perfouns,
Upon
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Upon which we doubt not but your Lotdfhips
who hear, and Strangers and unborn Pofterity
when they fhall hear, will juftify this Profecation
of the Commons, and will allow thalf this Iqlpeach-
ment is the proper Voice of the Nation crying out,
as when the Knife is at the Throat, By the Evi-
dence already given, Ifay, itis manifeft that there
was a general grand Defign to de{’cray. our Religi-
on, our King, and his Proteftant Subjedts. And
'tis even impoffible that this Defign, fo big, could
he conducted without the Concurrence of fuch
Perfons as this noble Lord at the Bar: It could not
be carry’d on by lefs and lower Men.

And it were a Wonder, that a Petfon ijo fer-
vently affected and addited (as this Lord is) to
" that Party, fhould not be in, at fo general a De-

fien of the Party. _ |
lgBut this indg'ed is but prefumptive Evidence,

which will induce a moral Perfuafion. . ¢

We fhall now produce fuch pofitive ]j:wdencc
as will make a judicial Certainty ; and will abun-
dantly {fuffice to convince your Lordfhips, and
convict this Lord.

The Particulars you will hear out of the Mouths
of the Witneffes, whom we fhall call: They wil
teftify what Share this Lord had in (almoft) all
the Parts and Articles in our Charge; contriving
and contracting for the Murder of the King, le-
vying Arms, &e.  And firft we call Mr. Dugdale,

L.S§taff. My Lords, I do conceive I have good
ground to except againft this Man for a Witnefs:
For my own particular, I know myfelf as clear
and free as any one here, but I will not except a-
gainft him now, but referve it againft the time
wilen I come to make my Defence, and therefore
admit him to be fworn, provided, my Lords, that
lie look me full in Face.

L. 1§, My Lord Stafford, What is your Ex-
ception againft this Man that he may not be a
Witnefs?

L. Staff. I do admit him to be fworn, I fay no-
thing now againft him.

Mr. Treby. He is fworn already.

L.H.§. You {wore him to give Evidence as
to the general Plot; you did not fwear him as to
the Particulars againft my Lord Stafford.

Str Fobi Trever. We are content he fhall be fivorn
again, we pray he may be fworn,

Sie Wil Fones. *Tis true, my Lords, we did di-
vide the Evidence into two Parts, but his Qath
was not divided: If your Lordfhips pleafe, you
may fwear them all over again, if it may be any Sa-
. tistaction, but I think it was never feen before,

Then Mr. Dugdale was fworn.
L. H. §. There is Mr. Dugdale; come, Sir,
what fay you?

g L. Staff. Really he is fo changed I do not know
1m.
Mr. Dugd. My Lord, 1 have Witnefles to prove

that you know me.

L. Staff. 1 beg your Lordfhips that he may look

me in the Face, and give his Evidence, as the
Law s, '

Sir Joor Trevor. My Lords, if this noble Lord,
the Prifoner at the Bar, will have this Witnefs to

look him continually in the Face, the Court will .

not hear_ half his Evidence: We defire he may
addrefs himfelf, as the Law is, to your Lordfhips
and the Judges.

L. Siaff. 1 defire the Letter of the Law, which

fays, my Accufer fhall come Face to Face.
Vo, III,
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Mr., Dygd. My Lords, I am willing to do as
your Lordfhips fhall order.

L.H. §. My Lord, you do fee the Witnefs, that
is enough for Face to Face; and you make no legal
Exception againft him, why he fhould not be heard.

L. Staff. Very well, my Lord, I fubmit.

Mr. Dugd. My Lotds, I have for fome Years
paft, whilft I was a Servant with my Lord 4ffen,
been acquainted and frequently had Difcourfes with
my Lord Stafford, before we came to difcourfe
any thing concerning the Plot on foot. Lately,
in 478, my Lord coming down into the Country,
it was either in Auguft or September, the latter end
of Auguft, or the beginning of September—

L. §taff. 1 befecch your Lordfhips he may name
the times. - ,

L.H.§. My Lord, if your Lord(hip pleafe, do
not mterrupt the Witnefles, but wherein he is
fhort, do you afk him the Queftion when it
comes to your turn, I will bring it to as much
Certainty as I can.

Mr. Dugd. There wasaMeeting at Tixal, where
there were feveral prefent——

L. H. S, When?

Mr. Dugd. 1t was in September, or the latter
end of Augnft,

L. H. §. What Year?

Mr. Dugd. 78. My Lords, I had been by Mr.
Evers’s means Admittance to hear, becaufe of my
Encouragement, what the Difcourfe was at that
time. It was to debate and determine upon the
former Refolutions both beyond Sea and at Londo
before, both to take away the Life of the King,
and to introduce their Religion, of which I was
then one, My Lord Stafford was there prefent,
and did with the reft confent toit, Aftewards
my Lord Stafford being at one Mr. Abuess’s of
Stafford one Sunday Morning in Scptember, came
to my Lord Affon’s Houfe to Mafs: I met with
my Lord Stafford at fome Diftance from the Gate,
and my Lord fpeaking to me when he alighted off
from his Horfe, told me it was a very fad thing
they could not fay their Prayers but in an hidden
manner, but ere long we fhould have our Religi-
on eftablithed ; which was .much to my Joy at
that time.  After that time my Lord Stafford was
{fometimes at Stafford, and fometimes at T7xal, I
will not be pofitive as to a Day, but I think it
was about the middle of §epfember. My Lord
Stafford fent for me to his Lodging-Chamber, as
he had feveral times before {ent for me; and faid,
he had had great Commendations of me from Mr.
Evers, that I was faithful and trofly.

L. Staff. My Lords, I defire I may have Pen,
Ink, and Paper, allowed me.

L.H.§. Ay, God forbid you fhould be denied
that: Give my Lord Pen, Ink, and Paper. I hope
your Lordfhip hath one to aflift you that takes
Notes for you; if you have not, you have loft a
areat deal of time already.

L. Staff. There was one all Day yefterday, my
Lords; I defire he may {peak his Evidence over
again. |

gL. f.§. Let im begin his Evidence again, for
my Lord had not Pen, Ink, nor Paper, which he
ought to have, to help his Memory. |

Mr. Dugd. I may mifs as to the Words, but the
Matter of Fact I fhall repeat: My Lords, I have
been frequently acquainted whilft I was a Servant
at my Lord Affer’s with my Lord Stafford, coming
to my Lord’s Houfe in the Country, and my Lord

being feveral times where I came to that Intimacy
R 2 by
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by Mr, Evers’s Mleans, that my Lord would fre-
quently difcourfe with me. About the latter end
of Auguft, or fome Day in September, my Lord Staf-
ford, my Lord Affon, and feveral other Gentlemen,
were in 2 Room in my Lord Affon’s Houle, and by
the means of Mr. Evers I was admitted to hear for
my Encouragement, and there [ heard them m that
Dcbate at that time fully determine a Refolution
upon all the Debates that had been beyond Sea and
at London before, That it was the beft way they
could refolve on to take away the Life of the King,
as the {peedicft Means to introdace their own Re-
Jigion. After fome time my Lord being at Stefford
at Mr. Abiett’s

L.H. 8. Was my Lord Stafford at that Meet-
g where they debated to kill the King ?

Mr. Dugd. My Lord was there. _

L. H.§. Was he confenting to that Refolution?

Mr. Dugd. Yes, I heard every one give their
particular full Affent. '

(At which there was a great IHum. )

L. H.§. What 1s the Meaning of this? For
the Honour and Dignity of publick Juftice, let
us not carry it as if we were in a Theatre.

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, fome time in September,
my Lord Siafferd being at Mr, dbiets’s Houle in
Stafford, came once upon a Sridsy Morning to
hear Mafs: I meeting him at the outward Gate of
my Lord Affer’s Houfe when he alighted off his
Horfe, after fome Difcourfe he turned to me, and
told me, It wasa fad thing we could not fay our
Prayers but in an hidden Manner; butere long if
Things took kEffect, we fhould have the Romifh
Religion eftablifhed : and I at that time did feem
to be, and really was as glad as any Perfon could
be. After fome time, I think it was about the 20th
or 21{t of Septeinber, my Lord Stafford fent for me
into his Lodging-Room, T thwk it was by his
Page or him that waited upon him in his Chamber ;
and he told me I muft come to my Lord; and I
immediately went to his Lordfhip, he was jufl then
arifing and drefling, he fent his Man out, and told
me, he had had a good Account from Mr Ewvers
and other Gentlemen, that I would be faithful and
true to their Intentions about the introducing their
Religion. He told me, he was likewife concerned
himfelf, and that in a very high Degree; and for
taking away the Life of the King, he offered me
at that time for my Charges and Encouragement
500/ and that I fhould go in Ofoder after to Lon-
don with him (my Lord Stefferd) and that I thould
be with him fometimes at London, and fometimes
at an Houfe of my Lord 4ffsi’s, about twenty-five
Mies from London, and that I thould be under the
Care of hum st Lowdon and Mr. frelend, and in the
Country of one Mr. Parfous that knew of the De-
fion. Idid then thew as much Refolution to be
faithful to my Lord as I could, and that I would
be true to what my Lord then engaged me, I af-
ter went to Mr. Evers, and communicated to him
what my Lord Stafferd faid, and was fomething in
Admiration at my Lord’s offering me fuch a Sum
of Money, for I doubted of my Lord’s Ability to
make good Payment. He told me, that I need not
fear it, for Mr. Hercourt and Mr. freland had Mo-
ney enough in their Flands to defray that and other
Charges; and I fhould not want Money for the
curying it on. My Lords, Iremember thatata-
nother time there was a Meeting, wherein there
was a Debate about my going up, and other Bu-
fineficss my Lord Srafford was prefent, and there
were feveral there befides, I did not know them all
then; but i the fuft place they told me I fhould

be made equal with one Captain Adderfey that is
fince dead, and that I fhould have a Reward in
London. Iunderftood that the Duke of Yo7k, my
Lord Arundel, and my Lord Bellafis, and others,
were to give it me; and fpeaking of the Rewards
to thofe that were engaged, they faid, there would
be Land enough from the Proteftants to {z¢sfy ail
that acted in the Defign. Another time my Lord
Stafferd difcourfing ina Dining-Room in my Lord
Afloi's Foufe, did exprefs his great Zeal, and the
Reafon why he was fuch an Enemy againl the
Kings he faid, both he and my Lord A4f#ei had
been great Sufferers for the King, and for his Fa-
ther, and that my Lord in particular, his Grand-
father or his Father, had fpent 30000 /. in the King's

- Service, and had no Recompence ; that he had al-

ways thewed himfelf foyal to the King, but when-
Lever there came any Place of Preferment to be
difpos’d of, it was rather given to fuch as had been
Traitors and Rebels to the old King, and likewife
to the King himfelf, than to any that had been
loyal. He faid, this was his chief Motive, if there
were not Rehgion m the Cafe, which was of an
higher Nature, or to that Puarpofe.

L. H.§. When was this lalt Difcourfe ?

Mr, Drgd, In Septenzber 938, as near as I re-
member, for we had feveral Difcourfes.

L.H.§. This was not the time you were at
my Lord’s Chamb.t?

Mr. Dugd. No, 1t was in my Lord Afars
Dinmng-Room.

L. H.§. No, nor when he fent for you to of-
fer you the 500/

Mr. Dugd. No, not at that time, it was ano-
ther time,

L.H.§. What Month and Year?

Mr. Dugd. September 78, my Lord.

Mr. Foly. I defire he may give your Lordfhips
an Account what Affurance he had of Pardon, 'if
he did {ucceed.

Mr. Dugd. T was told 1 need not fear; and par-
ticularly my Lord Staflerd told me, I thould have
a free Pardon for ity for the King had been ex-
communicated, and was likewife a Traitor, and
a Rebel, and an Enemy to Jefus Chrift,

L.H.S§. Buthow could you be pardon’d? From
whom were you to have that Pardon?

Mr. Drgd. 1 was to be pardon’d by the Pope,

L H.§. That was for your Sins,

Mr, Dugd. Yes; 1 expedted no other if I had
gote on,

Mr. 7resy, Were you promis’d nothing elfe but
a Pardon from the Pope? |

Mr. Dugd. Yes, I was to be fainted.

Sir /7. Fones. Will his Lordfhip pleas to afk
him any Quefticns? we afk him no more.

Mr. Foley, Yes, I defire another Queftion may
be afk’d him 3 That he would give an account of
the Letters my Lord Stafford writ to Eveis about
the Defign.

L. H. 8. What fay you to that Queftion ?

Mr. Dugd. There came a Letter to Fvers from
my Lord §tafford; Tknew it to be my Lord’s Hand :
fome might counterfeit his Hand ; but as near as
a Man can {wear to the Hand of another in a Pa-
per he did not fee written, that was my Lord’s
Hand; That "Things went all well beyond'Se:I, and
fo he did hope they did here, for the carrying on
of the Defign: it was to this purpofe exprefly.

Mr. Treby. We have done, my Lords, with him.

L.H.§. My Lord Stafford, will you afk him

any Queftions
L. Staff.
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1..Ssaff, My Lords, Ihave divers Queftionstoafk
him, very manys but I humbly crave your Lord-
{hips Directions, if I aﬂg him any Quefttons now,
whether T may not afk him {ome atterwqrds ?

7. H.S. My Lord,you may afk Queftions of the
Wimelles as often as you pleafe, and whenever you
find it uleful to you: God forbid tl_lere fhould_be
any time to foreclofea Man from atking a Queftion

that may fave his Life. )
L. Staff. 1 pray he may be afk’d how longbefore

this time he knew of the Plot. '

L. H 8. How long have you knﬂ}vn this ]?lat?

My, Dugd, In general, for the introducing c_!f"
the Popifh Religion, and the Encouragement toit
by the Duke of ork’s bemng Succeflor, I have
Inown it filteen or fixteen Years by the means of
Mr. Ewveis. _

L. 8eff. My Lords, Tunderftand him, he fays
he knew the Plot fifteen or fixteen Years ago; if
I be not miftaken, he fays fo.

Mr. Digd. My Lords, if your Lordfhips pleafe
to give me leave to explain my felf further, it
was not for taking away the Life of the King, but
for making ready againft the King died, with Men

and Arms.
L. Steff. My Lords, he fays in the latter end of

Auguft, or beginning of Seprember, 1 told him fuch
and fuch things ; I defire he may name the Day ;
that may be many Days, and I may prove 1 was
not there, and I can prove for all Auguft, and a
good while in September 5 therefore 1 defire he may
name the Day.

L. H. §. My Lord Stafford, 1 come thus near
- on purpofe to ferve your Lordfhip, that you may
not ftrain your Voice too much ; but I am not {o
happy as to apprehend what it 1s you {ay.

L. Steff. My Lerds, I fay, he {peaks of the latter
end of Aupuf, or the beginning of September which
is too great a Latitude, and I conceive more than
ought to be given in fuch a Matter of Impot-
tance as this s to me; I defire he may name the
Day, for he may name Days perhaps that I was
not there.

L.H.§. Look you, Mr. Dugdale, my Lord does
defire, if you can, you would be a little more par-
ticular than about the latter end of Auguff, or the
beginning of September 5 if you can remember the
Day, tell it us.

Mr. Dugd, 1 cannot remember particular Days,
it being a thing I then took no account of ; only
this I do remember by a remarkable Circumftance,
that one time was either the 20th or 21ft of Sep-
tember 438,

L. £, §. That was the time of your coming in-
to his Chamber, and his offering you five hundred
Pound ?

Mr. Dugd. Itwas fo; butother Meetings I dare
not charge to a day,

L. Staff. How then canI make my Defence?

Mr. Dugd. I will ftand to that time.

L.Staff. How, my Lords, can 1 be able to give
an Account of it; I fhall proveto your Lordfhips,
that he once faid it was in Auguff, now he fays it
was In Auguft or September. 1 befeech you that he
may pofitively ftand to the Month,if notto the Day.

Mr. Dugd. | fpeak as near as I can.

L.Staff. Buthe fays the 20thor 21t particularly.

Mr. Dugd. Thereabouts I am fure it was.

L. Staff. Look you, he will be pofitive in no-
thing.

Mr. Digd, T will ftand to that time.

”
J

- for High—Treafon.
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L. Staff. If he{wears falfein one Thing, I hopes
upon proof of that, your Lordfhips will believe
he may be falfe inall. I pray he may be alked
what Hour of the Day it was, whether 1t was
Morning or Afternoon.

L. H, §. He s pofitive only to the 20th or 211t
of September, the time when he fays you called for
him into your Chamber, and offered him five hun-
dred Pound to kill the King: would your Lord-
thip atk him whether it wete in the Forenoon or
the Afternoon ? |

L. Staff. Yes, my Lord, I would.

L. H. §. Was it in the Forenoon or in the Af-
ternoon ?

Mr. Dugd. It was m the Forenoon; for I did
formerly fpeak of that, he was drefling himfelf
when I came .

L. H. §, Then that isanfwered pofitively.

L. Staff. My Lords, he fays one Sundzy Morning
I came to my Lord Affei’s to Mafs, I defire you
would pleafe to afk him, whether ever he faw Mr.
Evers and me in his Life alone together ¢

L. H. §. Have you feen my Lord Stafford and
Mr. Evers ever together alone ¢

Mr. Dugd. Several times I have feen them walk-
ing together in the Garden, and in the Walks, at
my Lord Afen’s; and I have been with them my
felf when there hath been only them two befides.

L. H §. That 15 anfwered fully ; will your
Lordthip atk him any thing elfe? -

L. Staff. He fays he was to go to Loudoi in Offo-
ber with me, I ftand not upon that till I come to
make my Anfwer; but I take it he fays the 20th
or 21ft of September whenl offered him five hun-
dred Pound, in my Chamber, to kil the King,
that he went prefently to £vers to fpeak with him
about 1t.

L. H §. As doubting the Payment of the Mo-
ney, and he told him, that Herconrt and Irelend
would pay it.

L. Staff. Was it the fame Day? pray afk him,
my Lords.

Mr. Dugd. 1do notfay it was the fame Day,
but it was the next time I could come to fpeak
with him.

L. H. §. Hetells youit wasas {foon as he could
{peak with him.

L. Staff. He faid before, it was prefently after
he went from me. Idefire your Lordfhips would
take notice how he contradicts himfelf m every
Circumftance.

L. H. §. What fay you, did you go prefently
to Mr. Eversafter my Lord Stafford had made the
Offer; or was it the fame Day or the next Day?

Mr. Dugd. To the beft of my remembrance it
was the fame Day 5 I can’t fay pofitively.

L. Staff. My Lords, I have no other Queftions
with Dngdale. |

Sir ¥. Trevor. Then my Lords, we will call a-
nother Witnefs.

L. H. §. Have you o more to fay to Dugdale,
my Lord ?

L. Stqff. Not at prefent, till I come to make
my Defence. |

L. H. 8. God forbid, but you fhould have leave
to fay all that you can for yourfelf.

Mr. Treby. Then fetup Dr. Oates. Do your
Lordfhips require that he fhould be fworn again ?

L. Staff. 1 defire nothing, nor propofe it, if
he will declare upon his Qath that he took ye-
fterday.

L.HS.
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-I, H. §. Hark you Dr. Oates, this 1s but 2 Con-
tinuation of the Proceedings yefterday, you are up-
on the fame Oath now that you were then, and
what you {ay this Morning will be taken to be up-
on the fame Oath.

Mr. T7¢hy. Dr. Oates, upon the Qath you have
taken yefterday—————

L. H. §. Pray fear him again. (Fhich was donz. )

Mr. Treby. Dr. Oates, pray {peak your Know-
ledge of my Lord S/affora’s being engaged in the

Defign.
Dr. Oates. 1 defire 1 may be left to my own

Method.

L. H. §. Go on in your own Method.,

Dr. Oates. My Lords in the Year 67, there were
divers Attemptsupon the Life of the King, as the
Jefuits told me; and inthe Year 7.4, there was an
Attempt upon the account of the King’s with-
drawing the Indulgencein 74, and 75 : n the Ycar
1677, whilft [ was in Spain, [ met with feveral Let-
ters figned Stafford, wherein my Lord Stafford did
affure the Jefuits in Spain, that were of the [rifb
Nation, how zealous he fhould appear in the pro-
moting of the Catholick Defign, My Loxds, in the
Year 77, I went to §¢. Omers, and I came there in
Deceinber. My Lords, mthat Year I being order’d
to look over the Papers, and put them in order, I
found feveral Letters figned Stafford 5 wherein my
Lord Stafford did intimate to the Fathers, that
whereas there had been fome Difference betwixt
him and the Society for {everal Years, the Bufinefs
was reconciled by one Signior Con, who came over
- into England i the Year 76, to reconcile the great
Difference that was betwixt the Jefuits and the Se-
cular Clergy, and between the Benedictine Monks
and the Jefuits, My Lords, my Lord Stafferd, up-
on the perfuafion of this Signior Con, as he does

itimate 1n his Letter, does affure the Jefuits of

his Fidelity and his Zeal, My Lords, in the Year
78, I found Letters from my Lord Stafford, wherein
he does blame Mr. Coleman’s Opennefs, and his be-
ing too publick in the great Affair, and that M,
Coleman was pleafed to communicate feveral great
Secrets to Men, of whofe Fidelity his Lordfhip
was not fecure. My Lords, in 1678, in the Month
of Fune, my Lord Stafford, the Prifoner at the Bar,
came to Mr. Fenwick, and there recetved a Com-
miflion from him to pay an Army that was to be
raifed for the promoting of the Catholick Intereft,
and he did affure Mr. Fenwick that he was going
down into Staffordhire,and there he did not queftion
but he fhould have a good Account how the Catho-
ftcks ftood affedted ; and he did not queftion but
to give a good account how affairs ffood i §af-
Sordfbire, Shropfbire, and Lancafbire : and this Com-
miffion to my Lord Stafford was, as near asI can
remember, to be Pay-Mafter-General of the Army.
My Lords, among other Difcourfes with my Lord
at the Bar, he was difcourfing about my Lord Duke
of Norfolt, and my Lord Arundel his Son 5 and af-
ter feveral other Paflages, he (Fenwick) was afk-
ing of him how my Lord Arunde! came to have a
Jefuit in his Houfe. My Lord Stafford did fay,
that my Lord of Peterborongh, his Father-in-Law,
was inftrumental in it, on purpofe to oblige the
Duke of 2014 5 formy Lord Arundel, as1 havebeen
told, kept I'ather Symonds in his Houfe, who to my
knowledge was a Jefuit. But, my Lords, he came
to Mr. fenwick’s (my Lord Stafforddid) by the
Name of Mr. Huoard of Effnghan.

L. H. §. Were youat Feiwick’s when my Lord
Stafford came to his Chamber ?
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Dr. Oates. Yes, my Lords, . .

L. H.§. Look upon my Lord Stafferd, is that
the fame Perfon 2

Dr. Oates. It 1s the fame Gentleman that came
there by the Name of Hoeward of Effngham.

L. H. 8. And he took the Commiffion?

Dr. Oates. Yes, he did fo.

L, Il §. And he promifed to effe& it 2

Dr. Oates. Yes, and he faid that he was then
going down mto the Country, and he did not
doubt but at his return Greve fould do the Bu-
finefs,

L. H, 8. Who fad fo, Fengwick ?

Dr. Oates. No, my Lord Stafford. And fays
Fenwick to my Lord Stafford again, Sir, *tis fit that
fome fhould be here prefent, left you fail of your
Expedtation ;5 or to that purpofe. *Tis two Years
fince, and I cannot remember the Words, butmy
Lord Stafford did fay, he was of neceflity to gointo
the Country at that time. And there he did write
a Letter to St Omers, in which he did excufe
himfelf about a young Man that was to be fent to
the Jefuits College, whom he had taken care of
another way. And he defired their excufe, but
he would be as faithful to them as any body for al}
that. And the fame Hand that wrote that Letter,
by all the comparing [ could make inmy Thoughts,
wrote 2l the other Letters that I faw at 8¢, Omers,
and in Spazn. My Lords, Ifaw my Lord Stafford
at Dr, Perrott’s, I think verily it wasin JFune or Fuly
783 1t was before the rifing of the Parliament that
fat that Summer, and my Lord Stafford was dif-
courfing of a Son he was to fend over to Liflon,
and he went over by the Name of Sir Foln Stafford,
And after this Difcourfe was over, they fell into a
Dilcourfe of the Affairs in hand, and my Lord
was mighty glad there was fo good a Correfpon-
dence and Concord, the’, my Lords, it was not
very great 3 for the Jefuits had an trreconcilable
Quarrel with the reft of the Clergy: But my
Lord did hope that their fair Correfpondence might
tend highly to the advancing the Catholick Caufe.
But, my Lords, I have one thing more to fpeak
as to the Difcourfe at Fenwick’s Chamber ; {peaking
of the King, he faid, he hath deceived us a great
while, and we can bear no longer,

L.H §. Whofaid {o?

Dr. Oates. My Lord Stafford, the Gentleman
at the Bar.

L. H.§, When was that? At Dr. Perrotr's 2

Dr. Oates. No, I fpeak ofa Paffage at Fonzwick’s
which I had forgot, My Lords, thisisall I can
remember at prefent.

Mr. Folcy. My Loxds, T defire he may give an
account what Letters my Lord Stafford fent to Fen-
wick and Ireland to pay Money,

Dr. Oates. There was fome Money returned,
but it was no great Sum, and it was about private
Bufinefs; Mr. Morganwastoreceiveit: I chanced
to have the Money i my own keeping; Mr. Fon-
wick gaveit me to pay to Mr. Morgay, and the Let-
ter 1n which the Sum was mentioned did give them
an account (for it was out of Staffordbire) that
he found things ftand in a very good ftate there.
But I b2ing not within, M. Margan colled on M.
Femgick for the Money, which I returned to him
when he had paid it.

L. Staff. My Lords, I doin the firft place de-
fire to know where Mr, Fonsvick lived,

L.H. S, Where did Mr. Fensoict live when you
faw my Lord at his Chamber, and the Commifsi-
on dehivered ?

Dr.
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Dr. Oates. His. Lordfhip, I ﬁlppofc,' knows
very well where he liveds he lived in Driry-
Lane. ‘

a]}'ig Staff. 1 will fubmit to any Thing, if ever I
{faw the Man, or heard of him til] the Dilcoyery

of the Plot. '
Dr. Oates, He came to him by the Name of

Thompfon. _ .
L. . 8. Your Lordfhip does not obferve 5 your
Lordfhip fays that you never knew any Lempic,
but your Lordfhip knew one Thouipferr and that
Thoinpfon was Fensvict.
L. Steff. 1did know one Thoinpfon, but that
Thompfon L knew was an Englifs Merchant in Brif-

Jels, and not a Jefuit.
Dr. Oates. I can’t fay what my Lord knows,

that he knew Fenwick to be a Jefwt, but hie knew
onc Thainpfon, that was Fenwick the Jefuit.

L. Staff. 1 never heard of the Name til this
Plot.

" Dr. Oates. But, if your Lordfhips pleafe, I will
give you 2 Reafon why I b?lxeve he knew him to
be a Jefuit, becaufe the Society was very often
their Mouths in their Difcourfes 5 which gives me
a Ground to believe he koew lum to be what
he was: But, my Lord, he took his Commiflion
from him,

L. Stoff. 1defire he may be afked

L. H.§. Good, my Lord, raife your Voice, for
I am come half way to hear you.

L. Staff. Pray, my Lords, give me leave to afk
him, whether Dr. Oates hath not faid {everal times
fince I was firft mmprifon’d, that he never faw me
in his Life. 1 think I was imprifoned the 218 of
Octsber 48.

Dr. Qates. My Lords, 1 never faid any fuch
thing,

L. Siaff. T will willingly die, if ever I faw this
Doétor in my Lafe.

Dr. Oates. I excufe my Lord for that, for I was
in another Habit, and I went Ly another Name ;
and your Lordfhipsdo remember I came inanother
Habit to make the firft Difcovery.

L. Steff. My Lord, I never faw his Face, not
know him, nor Fenwick, or Thompfon, otherwife
than one Thompfon, a Merchant at Braffels.

Dr, Oates. But, my Lords, I have one thing more
to fay of my Lord Stefford; my Lord Stafford went
mto France, I can’t fay the Year, but I believe it
15 within the Term of fix or feven, but he went o-
ver to [raice s and it did appear by Letters from
him, that Signior oz was made choice of to heal
the Difference between the Regulars and the Secu-
lars 5 and Signior Con did come over in the Year
70, and there did make a kind of a Peace among
them, which lafted whilk Cor ftayed here, and
Coi did bring over Meflages, to which my Lord
Stefferd (if he tells any Trath in his own Letter)
did return Anfwers.

L. Staff. For the prefent all I fay to it is this,
never wiit any one Letter this 25 Years, nor had
any Correfpondence with any Jefuit.

L. H.§. 1befeech you, my Lord, make me ca-
pable of ferving youy Lordfhip, by letting me hear
what you fay. J

L. Staff. My Lord, T have a great Cold, and
can fpeak no Jouder 3 I defire to*afk this Witnefs
no more Queftions at prefent, but I fay I never
1*.*11t any Letters to any Prieft this 25 Years.

Mr. Foley. Then, my Lords. if my Lord hath
done, we will call another Witnefs, and that is
Mr. Edward Turbei oile. (Who was fworn,)
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L. H.§. . Look upon the Prifoner. Do you know
my Lord Stafford? " "~ 7 T 77
Mr. Tar., Yes, my Lord. X
L. H. §, Raife your Voice, and fpeak delibe-
raely ©. B
Mr, Treby. Give an account of
ledge, and ufe your own Method. :
Mr. Tur. My Lords, in.the Year 1675 I was
perfuaded by my Lady Powis, and one Morgan
that was Confeflor to the Family, to go to Doway,
in order to take upon me the Frier’s Habit, When
I came there, inftead of Religion, Ifound nothing
but Hypocrily and Villainy amongthem, and quick-
ly grew weary of ftaying there, and with much dif-
ficulty | efcaped thence to go for England :- When
I cameinto Eigland, I did think that my Friends
would look unkindly upon me, becaufe Irefaled fo
ltve in that Way that they propofed to me to live
in. I ufedall the Means I could to have them re-
concil’d, and made Applications to them, that fince
I could not bear with the Life they would have
had me lived 1n, they would contrive fome Way
for me, being a younger Brother, that 1 might
hve n the World ; but they were fo averfe and
inveterate againft me, that they told me, inftead
of doing any thing for me, they would do me all
the Mifchief and Prejudice they could ; and having
lived all my Time among them, I thought the
World would receive a Character of me from:them
who were my Relations, as they would pleafe to
reprefentit. So having no hopes in Eugland, 1tock
a Refolution to go into France, where Ihad a Bro-
ther that was a Beacdiézine Monk ;3 And I hoped
that he being in good repute amongft them, might
be able to do me fome Service there. When Icame
to Paris, my Brother ufed all the Endeavours ima-
ginable to get me to be of that Order; butI ha-
ving fo ill 2 Conceitand Opinion of the Order that
I was in before, and thinking all the reit were the
fame, I was unwilling at all to enterinto it. And
after | had ftad there a while, I refolved to come
over into Eugland, My Brother ufed all the means
he could for my Accommodation, and recom-
mended me to this noble Lord, the Prifonerat the
Bar, who lodged thenata Corner-Houfen a Street
which, as I remember, bears the Name of Lae Ruz
de Beaufert, where 1 was feveral times with him, 1
order to come over with him in the Yacht for
England. After I had been there for a Fortnight
with this Lord, he underftanding my Condition,
by my Brother, and by the other Fathers of that
Convent, and 1magmmng I was a fit Inftrument to
be employ’d on {uch an Occafion, propos’d to me
a Way, whereby, ashe fuid, Imight not only re-
trieve my Reputation with my Relations, but allo
make my felfa very happy Man: Aund after ha-
ving exafted from me all the Obligations of Se-
crecy which I could give him, he at length told me
in dire¢t Terms, it was to take away the Life of
the King of Englond, who was an Heretick, and
confequently a Rebel againft God Almughty., I
locked upon it as an E}itrao;'dinarr Attempt, and
defired time to confider of 1t before I would un-
dertakeit.  And I gave hm this Anfwer, 1 wouldl
give himmy Refolutionat Dicp, where we wereto
oo on board for Euglui:d. And when I came to
talce my leave of this noble Lord at the Bar, he
was fitting upon a Bench, and he was troubied with
the Goiit in his Foot at that time. And he told
mz he had fome Bulinels to go to Furfeiies, and
that he fhould not be in fix or feven Davs at Diep,
where I was to wait for him.  After a while, I re-
ceived

your Know-
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ceived a Letter at Dizp from his Lordthip, where-
in he writ me word, that he had altered his Re-
{olution, and would go by the way of Calais, and
that I fhould haften to wait on his Lordfhip at
Landon. 1 have one thing more to obferve to
your Lordfhips: WhenI got paffage from Digp, in
a Fifher-boat for England, 1 never came near my
Lord Stafford, becaufe being not willing to under-
take his Propofal, I thought my felf not fafe, even
from my own Relations; and therefore I made my
Applications to the Duke of Monnonth, and his
Grace was pleafed by Letter to recommend me -
tothe French Service, and by that means I avoid-
ed his Lordfhip’s further Importumty,

L.H.S. You fay my Lord did propofe to you
the killing of the King; did he plainly make the
Propofal in dire& Terms to kill the King ?

Mr. Tur. Yes, he did, my Lord.

L. H. §. What did he offer youto do it?

M. Tur. Nothing, for I would not accept of it.
I told him it was a Matter of great Concernment,
and I ought to confider of it, and I took time
to think of it, and would give him my Anfwer at
Diep, which he came not to; and {o there was an
end of it.

L. H, §, What Engagements of Secrecy had you
given my Lord, before he open’d himfelf fo plainly
to you?

Mr. Tur. 1 gave my Lord my Word and my
Promife, that I would not difcover it to any Per-
fon directly or indirectly ; my Lord had nothing
of an Oath from me.

L. H.§. Will you aflz himany more Quetions,
Gentlemen ?

Sie Will, Fones. No, my Lords.

L. H. §. Willyour Lordfhip afk him any Que-
ftions, my Lord Stafford ?

L. Staff. My Lord, I never faw the Man before
in my Life. I will afk him one Queftion, fince
he hath been pleafed to {wear againft me.

Mr, Tur. My Lords, I had no Reafon but the
Truthto doit; for I never reccived any Injury
from his Lordfhipin my Life.

L. Staff. It feems I had ill Luck to chufe this
Man for an Attempt to kill the King, who was
fuch a Coward he ran away from his Colours, and
was to have been fhot to death.

Mr. Tur, Alk the Duke of Mommmouth what
Character he received of me,

L. Staff. Hefays, in the Year 75 he went from
Lndon to Doway, and ftaid fome time there, and
then came back to England; 1befeech your Lord-
{hips to afk him what time he went back to Pawis.

L. H. S. What time was it that you went back
to Paris ¢

Mr. Tur. Truly, my Lord, I cannot be pun-
¢tual to a Fortnight, but I believe it was the Be-
ginning of Fuue,

L.H §. What Yeat?

Mr. Tur. 75.

L. Staff. My Lords, I would know who re-
commended him to me to go over with me into
Englond?

L. H. §. Who recommended you to my Lord
Stafford to go into England ?
 Mr. Zur. My Lords, it was Father Sberbors, who

was then Prior of the Bened:&ine Monks in Paris,
and Father Nelfon Sub-Prior of thofe Monks, and
my Brother, who isa Monk in the fame Convent.

L. H.§. He fays, that there were three Per{ons
that recommended him to your Lordfhip.

L. $taff. Unever faw them in my Life,

Mr. Tur. Your Lordfhip, that fays I was 3
Coward, and run away from my Colours, will fay
any thing. _ .

L. Staff. 1 not only fay it, butwill prove it by
two Witnefles.

Mr. Tur. Do it if you can,

L. Staff. He fays, in the beginning of Fuse 95
he went into France. 1 defire to know of himn
when was 1t he {poke to me?

Mr. Tur. In November 75.

L. Staff. He fays in November ?

Mr. Tur. Yes, my Lord, about the Beginning
of Nevember.

L. Steff. 1 befeech your Lordfhip, where was
it he {poke to me ? |

L.H.S§. Turbervile, where wasit you fpoke to
my Lord ?

Mr, Tur. In Paris.

L. Staff. Whereaboutsin Paris ¢

M. Tur. It was the Corner-Houfe of the Street,
which Street faces Luxenburgh-Houfe, the Prince
of Conde lodges on the right hand in‘that Street,
I take it to be fo, and you lodged at the Corner-
Houfe; 1 think the Name of the Street was L2
Rue de Beaufort,

L. Staff. Which if the Prince of Crnde did—-
I will fay no mose.

Mr. Zur, T cannot be upon my Oath in fuch
Cafes, but I think he does, I take it fo.

L. Staff. He fays he was with me a Fortnight,
what does he mean ?

Mr. Tur. I came to my Lord feveral times in
the Space of a Fortnight.

L.Staff. 1 defire to know who brought him tome?

Mr. Tur, Father Sherborn, Father Nelfon, and
my Brother Father Authony Turbzrvile y and fome-
times 1 came alone,

L. H.§. He fays thofe three Fathers recommend-
ed him to your Lordfhip, and he came himfelf
{everal times,

Mr. Tur. Yes, my Lords, it is true.

L. Staff. Tbefeech your Lordfhips, did he come
diredtly to my Chamber, or where? )

Mr. Tur. Sometimes to my Lord’s Chamber,
and at other times I met him in a lower Room.

L. Staff. It concerns me much, my Lords ; and
tho’ they be foolith Queftions, yet I hope your
Lordfhips will pardon me if I afk them. ~Where
was this Difcourfe ahout killing the King ?

L. H.§. Was this Difcourfe in the Chamber, or
i the lower Room ?

Mr. Tur. In the lower Room.

L. Staff. He fays, I think, that he hath been
in my Chamber.

L. H. §. Have you been in my Lord’s Chamber
as well asin the lower Room ?

Mr. Tur. Yes, my Lords, I have,

L. Staff. What kind of Room is it 3

Mr. Tur, 1 can’t remember that.

L. Staff. No, Idare fvear you can’t.

Mr. Tur. T cannot tell the Particulars; what
Stools and Chairs were in the Room.

L. Staff. My Lords, I have no more to fay to
himat prefent,

L. H. §. Mr. Qurbervile, how tong have you
been in England ? )

MI_'. Tur. 1 cannot anfiwer punctually 5 I have
been in England near four Years,

L. H. §. How came it to'pafs that
difcovered this fooner ?

M. _52?5:«'. 1 ]1:1(1 no Faith tobelieve that I fhould
befafeif T did it, but my Brains might be knocked
1 out;

you never
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out ; and that kept me off from doing that Ser-
vice which I might be better able to do, if Idid
defer 1t. . '
L. H. 8. How come you to difcover it now?
Mr, Zur. The King’s Proclamation, and fome
Friends that have perfuaded me that I may do it
with Safety, who will give your Lordfhips an ac-

count of It
L. Staff. 1defire he may attend when I make

efence.
m}iﬂ? Tur. Yes, Ifhall: But Tam forry his Lord-
fhip hath fo ill a Memory as to what paffed be-
tweenus. I fhall be very unwilling to do his Lord-
fhip or any body elfe any Injury, but I muft tell
the Truth.

Sic /7], Fones. My Lords, we fhall call no more
Witnefles, unlefs my Lord, the Prifoner, give us
an Occafion. 1f he fhall make any Objections to
any of our Witnefles, I hope we fhall have Li-
berty to call Witneffes to fupport them 5 but we
give over at prefent, and expedt his Lordihip’s
Anfwer. ‘

L. Staff. May it pleafe your Lord _ﬂups, I befeech
your Lordfhips, befere I fay any thing, that may
know if they have any more Witnefles to examine.

L. H. §. They fay they will call no more Evi-
dence, unlefs your Lordfhip’s Anfwer do give
them Occafion to fortify their Witnefles you ex-
cept againit.

L. Siaff. My Loxds, 1t1s now about two Years
that I have' had the Misfortune to be accufed of
this deteftable Treafon. I have been feveral times
in thefe two Years a clofe Prifoner, that my Wife
and Children were deny’d to come near me § and
hardly a Servant permitted to atk how 1did, but
at the Door of my Prifon. My Lords, this was a
great and an heavy Afflition to me; and, my
Lords, it was fo great an AffliCtion to me, that
truly I did not know how to bear it. >Tis true, I
had that Comfort, that I did hope I fhould foon
come to my Tral, and beforc your Lordthips
make my Innocency appear. In order to which,
I did all I could, having heard this Hall was Pro-
- vided for it 5 and Idid expe@ in a very few Days
to clear myfelf before your Lordfhips and all the
World, 'When I had fettled my Mind, and did
not forefee any greater Affi&ion that could befal
me, I had on the fudden, by fome of my Friends,
a-fad Meflage fent me, That the Houfe of Com-
mons had impeached me of High-Treafon. My
Lords, I looked upon the Houfe of Commons then
(3 I donow) as the great Reprefentative Body of
the Commons of Zxgland; and Iconfefs, my Lords,
to be accufed by them was 2 Load, efpecially be-
mg added to what lay before upon me, morc efpe-
cially to my weak Body and weaker Mind, that I
was fo affli¢ted with it, and have {o continued,
that I am frarce vet able to bear up under it : for
I look upon the Houfe of Commons as the oreat
and worthy Patriots of this Kingdom 3 I ever held
them fo, and I hold them fo fill. Iy Lords,
thefe Things being fuch great Afflidions to me, and
fome other Accidents, which I fhall not tronbla
your Lordfhips with the telling you of, have {o
much diforderd my Senfe and Realon (which be-
fore was little) that 1 fearce know how to clear
mylelt to your Lordhips, as I ought to do; or
which way to eo about the dotng of it: therefore
Ldo with all Humiity beg your Lordthip’s Par-
don if T fay any thing that may give an Offence,

Or irge that whick may not be to the Pu rpofe. All
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which I defire you would be pleafed to attribute
to the true Caufe, my want of Underftanding, not
of Innocency, ora Defire to make it appear,

My Lords, Thefe Gentlemen the Managers of
the Houfe of Commons, who are great and able
Men, fome I am fure, if not all of them very well
read, and have Underftanding in the Law, have
fet forth to your Lordfhips Treafon in an horrid
Shape ; but I confefs, my Lords, if they had made
it never fo much worle, it cannot be fo horrid .as
I have often fancied it myfelf : For, my Lords, I
do, and did ever hold Treafon to be the oreateft
Stn 1 the World, and I cannot ufe Words enough
to exprefs it ; and therefore I hope you will give
me leave to clear myfelf of it, and I fhall give you
one Notion of it, which I heard at your Lord-
fhip’s Bar {ome Years ago, where you were plea-
fed to hear feveral People of feveral Perfuafions
give you {fome Reafon why Liberty of Confcience
fhould be allowed them. And I remember one of
them, an Anabaptift, I think, did tell you, That
they held Treafon to be' the Sin of Witcheraft,
and fo do 1. And next to Treafon, I hold Murder
to be the worft Sin.  But the Murder of the King
I leok’d upon to be fo above all others, that it is
not to be exprefs’d by Words.

My Lords, I have heard very much of a thing
that was nam’d by thefe Gentlemen of the Floufe
of Commons, and that very properly too, to wit,
of the Gun-Powder-Trealfon. My Lords, I was
hot born then, but fome Years after I heard very
much Difcourfe of it, and very various Reports 3
and 1 made a particular Enquiry, perhaps more
than any one Perfon did elfe, both of my Father
who was alive then, and my Uncle, and others;
and I am fatisfied, and do clearly believe, by the
Lvidence I have reccived, that that thing called the
Gun-Powder-Treafon, was a2 wicked and horrid
Defign (among the reft) of fome of the Jefuits :
and I think the Malice of the Jefuits, or the Wit
of Man, cannot offer an Excufe for it, it was fo
execrable a thing. Befides, my Lords, I was ac-
quamted with one of them that was concerned in
it, who had his Pardon, and lived many Years af-
ter: I dilcourled with him about it, and he con-
fefled 1t, and fatd, he was forry for it then; and I
here declare to your Lordfhips, that I never heard
any one of the Church of Ruae fpeak a good word
of it : 1t was {o horrid a thing, that it cannot be
exprefs'd or excus’d.  And God Almighty fhewed
his Judgments upon them for their Wickednefs ;
for hardly any of the Perfons, or their Pofterity,
are left, that were concerned init, and cven a
very great banuly too, that had collaterally fome-
thing to do 1 1t, 1s 1 the Male-Line extin@ to-
tally ; and I do think God Almighty always thews
his Judgments upon fuch vile Adions. And I
have been told, all thofe Perfons that were enga-
ged in this wicked A&, were all heartily forry tor
it, and repented of 1t before they died, without
which I am {ure there is no Salvation. And there-
fore I think 1t was not the Intereft of Rel:gion,
but a private Intereft put them upon it.

My Loids, as tothe Dotrine of King-killing,
and ablolving Perfonsfrom their Alleoiance, I can-
not fay the Church of Roime does ot hold it Ine-
ver heard 1t did hold it ; it may be it does, it may
be not.I fay not one Thing or other: But, my Lords,
there wasan Lglifh College of Priefis at Kby,
that tranflated the Bible, and printed it with Au-
thority, according to their Tranflation; and in
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their Annotations upon the 14th Chapter to the
Roians, they do declare their Diflike and Detel-
tation of that Opinion. They fay all Subjects
ought to obey their Kings, as the primtive Chui-
ftians did the Heathen Princes of the Empire ;
and the learned Do&ors of the College at Sordonne,
did, upon an Occafion adminiftred to them about
that Opinion, declare the Miftakes that were mn
it, and own’d it to be a damnable Principle. My
Lords, I have an authentical Copy of that Decree
of the Serbenuifts, whether it be here or no, I can’t
tell——Yes, here it is, which does declare that a
damnable Pofition : and there 15 lately come out a
Book, written by a Prieft of the Church of RGF}._?E’,
tried for his Life for being in the Plot, but acquit-
ted of that, in which he favs, That that Opiion
of killing Kings is damnable and heretical, and de-

clar’d fo by the Council of Treit.

My Lords, this gives me Occafion to believe p

that the Church of Rome holds it fiot. I do not
fay that it does not; but fome particular Perlons
do abhor it, which are great in that Church, and
which weighs far with me : but that which fur-
thermoft of all confirms me in my ill Opinion of
it, is the Words of our Saviour, when not only
he commands us to give unto Cuefar the Things
that are Cefar’s, but aflerts our Obedience to our
Governors in many other Paffages of the Floly
Scripturc 3 and what I find there, the whole World
15 not able to alter my Opinion of.

I do affure your Lordfhips in the Prefence of
Almighty God, that I do extremely admire when
I hear of any thing like it; and I did read with
areat Horror what 1 found the other Day m the
Gazette, of fome imprudent People in Scotlaid,
and of their wicked Principles and Prachices.

My Lords, I do in the Prefence of Almighty
God, who knows and fees all Things, and of his
Angels which are continually about us, and of
your Lordfhips who are my Peersand Judges, {o-
~ lemnly profefs and declare, that I hate and detelt

any fuch Opinion, as [ do Damnation to myfelf.
And I cannot be more defirous of Salvation ta
my felf, than Iam cordial in hating this Opt-
nion.

My Lotds, T know no Perfon upon Earth, nor
all the Perfons in the World put together, nor all
the Power they have, can in the leaft abfolve me
of my Allegiance. And I do acknowledge the King
is my Sovereign, and I ought to obey him as far
as the Law of the Land obliges any Subject of his
to obey him: Whether I have taken the Oath
of Allegiance, I appeal to your Lordfhips to be
my Witnefles ; and if T did not take it a thou-
tand tunes for my Allegiance to the King, if
required, 1 fhould thmk I deferved a thoufand
Deaths, and all the Torments in the World for
refufing 1t. .

My Lords, Thefe Gentlemen here did begmn
their Charge (Serjeant Adaynard, and Sw Fiancis
Winninglon) with telling your Lordfhips there
was an horrid Defign to murder the King, to al-
ter the Government, and introduce the Popith
Religion. This, they fay, was engag’d m by the
Romair Catholicks ; that all the Church of Roine
were the Contrivers of it 5 forthey tell your Lord-
fhips, the whole Body hath been enpag’d mn 1,
and they have given you many Proofs by Witnef-
fes examined the firft Day, of a general Plot: what
Credit you will give to them, [ leave to your
Iordfhips in the end of the Cafe; but fuill they
faid 1t was the Body of the Reman Catholicks in
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England, or the Papifts, or what they call them,
that were the Plotters in this Deltgn,  But I be-
{eech your Lordfhips, howam I concerned 1n 1t ¢
for I muft fay to your Lord(hips, they have not
offer’d one Proof that I am of that Religion.  So
that tho’ any of you fhould have feen me at the
Fxercifes of that Religion, or otherwile know it
of your felves, yet if there be no Proof judicially
before you, youare not to take notice of it. ]
have heard, if a Man be acculed of a Crime, and
be to be tried, and no Evidence come w5 if every
Man of the Jury were fure that the Fact was done,
yet they muft go upon the Evidence produced to
them, and not upon their own Knowledge. So
then, no Evidence being produc’d before your
Lordthips about my being a Papift, you are not
to take me for fuch aone. But, my Lords, if I
were of that Church, and that were never {o well
rov’d too, I hope I have an Advantagein 1¢, that
I have kept myfelf from being poifon’d with fo
wicked a Principle, or engaged with the relt mfo
il a Thing.

My Lotds, Tam here accus’d of having endea-
voured to kill the King, [ find by the Law, up-
on reading Siv Edward Coke, fince my Imprifon-
ment, That all Accufations of Treafon ought tp
be accompanied with Circumftances antecedent,
concomitant, and fublequent : but I conceive, my
Lords, thereisno Tittle of any fuch thing prov’d
againft me, The whole Compafs of my Lite, from
my Infancy, hath been clear otherwife. In the
beginning of the lateunhappy Times, the late King
of happy and glorious Memory, did me the honour
tomake me a Peer; and thinking that my Prefence
might rather prejudice him than ferve him, my
Wife and I fettled at Aitwerp when the War be-
gun, where I might have liv’d, tho’ obfcurely, yet
fafely ; but I was not fatisfy’d mn my Confcience
to fee my King 1n fo much Diforder, and I not en-
deavour to ferve him what I could, to free him
from his Troubles. And 1did come nto Eng-
land, and ferved his Majelty faithfully and loy-
ally, as long as he lived. And fome of your
Lordfhips here know, whether 1 did not wait up-
on the now King in his Exile, from which he was
happily reftored ; which fhews I had no ill Inten-
tion then.

My Lords, I hope this I have faid does thew,
that my Life hath given no Countenance to this
Accufation, but clear contrary to what thefe (I
hope I may call them fo, and I doubt not to prove
them fo) perjur'd Villams fay againft me.

My Lords, After [ had this Misfortune to be
thus accufed, about a Month or fix Weeks after,
your Lordfhips were pleafed to fend two Mem-
bers of this honourable Body to me, {I do not fee
them at prefent here) to examine me about the
Plot, (they were my l.ord of Bridgeiuater, and my
Lord of Effex) if they be here, I appeal to them
what I did fay. Thele two, after they had exa-
min’d me, told me, they did believe, and could
almoft afiure me, thatf I would confefs my Fault,
and let them know the Particulars of it, your
Lordfhips would mtercede with the King for my
Pardon ; but I then, asI ought, aflerted my own
Innocency. INotlong after, the King, out of his
Grace and Goodnefs to me, fent fix of the Coun-
cil to the Tozwer, to offer me, That tho’ | was ne-
ver fo guity, yet if I would confefs, I thould
have my Pardon. I did then confider with my-
felf 5 I could not wnagine what Ground there was
to believe your Lordfhips could have Evidence of
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what there was nof, to bring me in Guilty ; and
thereupon I was fo far from being able to make a
Difcovery, that I could not invent any Thing that
might fave my Life, if I would. _

My Lords, I was feven Days in the Country af-
ter | heard of the Plot; if I had known myfelf
ouilty, 1fhould furely haverun away. AsIcame
to Fondon, when 1 was at Lichfield, there met me
two of my Lords; they told me, and fo did a
Gentleman of the Houle of Commons, how much
there was in the Plot, which, if Ihad hada Hand
init, would certainly make me fly for it. I have
ever heard when a Man is accufed or {ufpeéted of
2 Crime, Flight is a great Sign of Guilt ; and that
¢ is often afked of the Jury, though there be no
certain pofitive Evidence of the Fa&, whether a
Man fled or no? As that is a Sign of Guilt, fo
remaining is a Sign of Innocency. If then after
Notice I come to Town, and fuffer myfelf to be
taken 5 if after Imprifonment and Accufation, I
refufe my Pardon, and yet had been guilty, Tought
to dic for my Folly as well as my Crime.

My Lords, *T1s a great Offence to commit Trea-
fon, and a great Addition ta continue obftinate,
when upon Acknowledgment a Man can fave his
Life; nay, my Lords, if 1 fhould have refufed thefe
Offers, and yet known myfelf guilty, Ihad at the
fame Time been guilty of one of the greateft Sins
in the World, as being the Caufe of my own
Death. And as] hold, next to Treafon, Murder
the greateft Sin, fo I hold of all Murders Self-
murder to be the greateft; nay, I do not think any
Man living can pardon that Sin of Murder. And
I do profefs to your Lordfhips, in the Prefence of
Almighty God, that if T could immediately, by
the Death of this impudent Fellow Dugdale, who
hath done me fo much Wrong, make myfelf the
greateft Man in the World, that 1s or ever was,
I profefs before God I would not. I cannot fay
my Charity is fo great, but that I fhould be glad
to fee him f{uffer thofe Pumifhments the Law can
infli® upon him for his Crimess but his Death I
would not have. Blood 1s o great a Crime, and
I know every Man is careful of giving his Voice
in the Cafe of Blood, I fhould be very cautious
myfelf; and if Iwere a Judge, I would rather fave
twenty Guilty, than condemn one Innocent, I
blefs God, I have not the leaft Defire of the Death
of any Man, and would not for all the World have
innocent Blood lie upon me.

I beg your Lordfhips Pardon that I have trou-
bled you thus long: I fhall now, as well as [ can,
apply myfelf to my particular Deferice. I do, my
Lords, beforel can go onto it, defire I may have
fuch Depofitions as have been taken againft me,
and the Liberty to look upon your Journal-Book,
when I have Occafion. I do particularly defire the
Depofitions of Oates, upon which I was committed
by my Lord Chief Juftice; the two Depofitions
of Stepben Dugdale, taken at Stafford before two
Juftices of the Peace, Mr. Lanz, and Mr. Vernon
I defire the Depofitions taken before, I think it
was Mr. Warcup, and Sir William Ponltuey, or fome
other two Juftices, which was made by Turbervile
and then I fhall compare their Teftimontes toge-
ther, and I hope fhall give you a clear Account
that they are perjured Perfons. How without

thefe to go on to my juft Defence, I cannot well
tell,

L. H 8§ What do you fay to it, Gentlemen ?
You hear what my Lord prays.

Vor;. I11,
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Sir F. Win. The Witnefles are here, and have
been heard wvivavace : Aswe cannot ufe any of the
Depofitions of which he fpeaks, fo no more can
they be ufed by him.

L. H. §. If I underftand my Lord aright, this
1s the Thing he defires: Says he, You have brought
Witneffes againft me viva voce, they have been ex-
amined here, and they have been examined elfe-
where, and their Depofitions are upon Record 5 I
defire’ to confront what they have {aid here, with
what they have faid contrary in other Places.

Mer. Serj. Maya. If there beany Thing exprefled
by my Lord, wherein they have contradi@ed them-
felves, and produce that Depofition, he may do
that ; but to defire to have all the Depofitions that
have been made by our Witnefles, is a firange Re-
queft. When there is Occafion to ufe them upon

any patticular Point, he may produce them if he
can.

L. H. 8, Can you obje@ why my Lord fhould
not have Copies of any Thing that is upon the
Journal and Depofitions that are {worn before a
Magiftrate, which may be of Ufe to him ?

Sir V. jfones. My Lords, We do not objeét a«
gainft it ; but, my Lords, I think it 1s out of Time
to defire 1t. What was {worn, and 15 entered in
your Lordfhips Journal was {worn abovetwo Years
fince, My Lord, orany Man elfe, might repair to
them ; they are Matters of Record, and for ought
we know, were never denied to any, efpecially if
they defired it in the Houfe ; but after two Years
Time, and after three-Weeks Time given to pre-
pare for this Trial, when my Lord could not but
know what Witnefles would be examined before
your Lordfhips, for him to come now and defire
{uch and {uch Depofitions may be produced, which
if by Law he might be allowed to do, he might
have done before, 1s to no other Purpofe, under
favour, but to gain Time, and caufe our Evidence
to be forgotten; and therefore we moft hum-
bly pray it may not be admitted : My Lords, I
think it isan unufual Thing. My Lords, the Judges
are near your Lordfhips, I fuppofe they will
inform your Lordfhips. If a Man be tried at the
Affizes, for himto defire a Copy of the Informa-
tions rematning in Court, by which he may ex-
cept againft the Witnefles, is what the Court does
not ufe to grant, But if your Lordfhips Proceedings
vary from the common Proceedings of other Courts,
then I refort to what I faid before, Whether your
Lordfhips will think this a proper Time, when he
might have had it in the Parliament that was firft
diffolved, and then in the Parliament that was laft
diffolved. Now to defire thofe Copies at this Time,
is to put off the Caufe for that which perhaps he
cannot be furnifhed within a Day or two.

Sir F. Win. 1 would add but one Word, if your
Lordfhips pleafe to give me Leave. My Lords,
You have the learned Judges near you, who will
nform you, whether ever, when a Man was ac-
cufed of a capital Offence, and the Evidence a-
gainft him had been fully heard by the Court and
by himfelf, he was admitted to require from the
Profecutors the Copies of Examinations formerly
taken before other Perfons. Does my Lord mtend
to have Time to perufe thofe Examinations, and to
have the Copies of them, that he may confult m
private with his Council to find out Exceptions,
and with his Witnefles to make them good ! My
Lords, I muft {ay, that in my fhort Experience
(and I have attended a confiderable T'ime upon the
never
heard
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heard fuch a Thing afked by a Prifoner, either at
the Bar of the King’s-Bench, or at the Affizes.
I fpezk with all the Tendernefs imaginable, be-
eaufe we are in a Matter of Blood, and Ged for-
bid but the Lord at the Bar thould have true and
equal Juftice done him. But if I take my Lord
right, this feems but an Artifice to delay the T1-
al, of which it is our Duty to be very cautious. In-
deed | have feen the Judges, upon Trial of a Cn-
minal, call for the Depofitions or Informattons
from the Clerk, or the Juftice of the Peace who
took them, and caufed them to be read 5 but fora
Prifoner to call for Examinations at the Bar frem
the Profecutors, &5 ex debita Fuftitia, to demand
them, isa Thing, which, as it never has been, {o
1 think will not be admitted at this Time, efpecially
when we are now almoft at the End of the Caule.
And with all Modefty and Submuiflion to your
Tordfhips, I lcok upon itasa very ftrange and un-
reafonable Demand.

L. H. §. My Lord Stafford, What 1s the Rea-
{fon your Lordfhip had not all this while Copies of
the Journal, which is that you now alk ?

L. Staff. 1fhall not undertake that I am able to
aive your Lordfhips a Reafon for it, beeaufe I think
wherein I have been miftaken as to Point of Time,
your Lordfhips will not tie me up to that. DBut
this Gentleman that fpoke laft is not acquainted
with me, and does not know me; for I have no
defire to go back, or to put off this Trial: But
if it cannot be done to Day, I am as gulty to MVor-
row as I am to Day ; and I defire no more than
what he fays hath been done in the like Cafes, 1
do defire, my Lord, the Informations and Depo-
fitions of Dugdale, Oafes and Turbervile may be
produced and read, and I will make Obfervations
upon them in my Defence. I defire thofe Afhda-
vits may be brought.

L. H. 8. Afhdavits taken when and where?

L. Staff. Of Dr. Oates, that was read in your
Lordfhips Houfe, I heard it.

L. H.§. Let usunderftand your Lordfhip’s De-
mands, thatwhenmy Lordsare withdrawn, I may
know what Queftions to put to them, and acquant
them with your Defires: The one is the Jourral
of the Lords Houfe, which isalways before their
Lordfhips, and you might have had Cepies long
fince. The next Thing you afk 1s an Affidavit of
Dugdele  if this Affidavit is entered into the Jour-
nal, that fupplies your Demands; if it be not en-
tred there, where fhall we findit?

L. Staff. 1 do not know.

L. H. 8. Does your Lordfhip think all this
Matter muft flay till we can find a loofe Afhdavit,
that we know not where *tis filed ?

L. Staff. 1 know it was before the Council, and
[ believemy Accufers have it ; I defire the Gentle-
men of the Houfe of Commons may produce it.

Sir 7. Trevor. T have feennone, nor have none,

L. Staff. The one was taken the 24th of Decei-
ber this Time two Year, and the other the 29th.

L. H. §. My Lord, Will yourLordfhip give me
Leave to tell you, you ought to be provided with
fome particular Exception, and not to make your
Demand in general. If your Lord{hip will fay
Dugdale did fwear fuch and fuch Things, which
are contrary to what he now affirms, we know
what to make of it; but to hunt after an Affidawvit
that we know not where to find, to pick {ome-
thing out of it, that I do not underftand.

L.Steff. T appeal to my Lord Effex, and my
Lord Bridgewwatcr, whether they did not examine
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me the firft Time upon one or two Affidavits of

Dugdale.
L. H.§. Suppofe it be not to be found, my

Lord ! ' |
L. Steff. Then I muft have Patience, and {iib-

M.

L. I1. S. Can you tell wherein he {wore quite
blank contrary to what he f{wears now?

L. Staff. My Lord, I conceive 1t was never
denied before; but your Loxdfhips may do. what
you pleale.

L. H. 8 Well, my Lord, let us go on to the
next.  The Affidavits of Dugdale, 1f they be en-
tred on the Journal, may be ready ; if not, then
{ fhall acquaint their Lordfhips, and they will di-
re@ what is fit In the Cale.

1. Staff. Then there is the Afidavit of Outes
hefore my Lord Chief Juftice, upon which I was
committed 3 the next Day, which was Fridgy, it
was read in your Lordfhips Houfe.

L. I1. §. T believe that it is entred upon the
Journal, and {o will be ready to be ufed.

L. S:aff. 1 do hope to make it evidently appear
thereby that he is forfworn. I defire two Afhida-
vits more, that were taken before the Juftices of
the Peace of Middlefix, who exammed Mr. Ta-
beroile twice.,

L. 77 8. What Juftices of the Peace ?

L. Staff. Mr. W aicup, Sie Willicin Poulticy, and
Sir Theanas Stringer, 1 defire I may not be mifun-
derflocd, 1 do not defire to have them to inftru&
my Council, or advife with them upon them, but
[ cannot make my Defence without them.

L. H. §. Thofz are voluntary extrajudicial Aff-
davits, that no body is hound to keep.

L. $taff. They were {fpoken of in the Votes of
the Houfe of Commons.

L. H. §. What fay you Gentlemen to it ?

Sir F. Iin. My Lords, becaufe my Lord at the
Bar 15 pleafed to mnfinuate, as if we knew where
thofe Affidavits are which he feems to defire, and
becaufe your Lordfhip was pleafed to {ay that the
Commaons in Parliament are the Grand-Jury of the
Kingdom, I defire to fayone'Thing, That certainly
it will not be required from us to produce and
publith the feveral Faéts and Circumitances that
induced us to impeach him, if it thall be demand-
ed by the Prifoner at the Bar.

L.H,.S§. 1 wih you would anfwer the Queftion,
and not argue upon it, whether thefe Affidavits of
Turbervile may not be produced 5 for’tismy Lord’s
Exception aganft your Witnefs, that he fwears
{everal Ways ; and by thofe Afidavits of Turber-
vile, he mtends to difprove him n what he hath
faid to Day.

Sir F. Vs, My Lords, The Houle of Commons
never adminifter an Qath, and therefore it is not
to be faid to us, but my Lord Siafford muft go
to the particular Offices where they are to be
found. |

L. H.§. I donot afk you where my Lord fhould
find them, but whether if they can be found, vou

cant object any Thing why they fhould not be pro-
duced and read ¢ T ’

Mr. Serj. Mayi. When they are produced, we
will give Anfwer,

L. Staff. My Lords,lam iformed this isthe Suk-
{tance of the Afndavit, That Turdcrvile did {vwear
before two Juitices of the Peace, whether they be of
the Houfe of Commons, or no, I car’t tell, That he
{pake with me at Dozogy, and in Paris, in the Years
73and 76, and now he fays 72 and 75, Iam inform-

ed,
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ed, my Lords: And" T appeal to the Houfe of
Commons, they are all Perfons of Honour and
Waorth, (if my Information be miftaken, I beg'their
Pardon and yours for’t) whether he did not mend
-t after he had fworn it.

I. H.S. Are thefe all you do demand ?

L. Staff. Yes, my Lords. Whether this was
srue or no, Ldon’t know; 1t 1swhat I have been
told ; Tappeal to the Houfe of Cmpmons, (who
are all worthy Perfons, I do not believe I havean
Enemy among them,) they know whether I fpeak
true or no.

L. H. 8. When will your Lordthip be ready to
make your Defence ?

L. Staff. As foon as ever I have them, I will
not ftay 2 Minute, a Moment, an Inftant; I defire
not to fhew my Council, nor any one, for my
Trial is a thing that I have long defired ; there-
fore ] would not be miftaken, asif I would put
off the Caufe. I am innocent, and fhall be fo
while Ilive, and hope I fhall make 1t appear fo.
I beg, if this be a Matter of Law whether I may
have them or not, that my Council be heard to it.

L. H. 8. Thisisa Matter of Fact.

L. Staff. 1 infift upon 1t as things without which
I cannot make my Defence: Iam innocent, and I
fuppofe not one of the Houfe of Commons, nor
one of your Lordfhips, will debar me of that by
which I may make my Innocency appear.

L. H.S. You cannot know my Lords Pleafure
till they are withdrawn.

Sir I, Fones. Before your Lordfhips withdraw,
I hope you will pleafe to hear us a few Words,
which we think may be for the Service of this
Coust, My Lords, what Evidence is before your
Lordthips, ’tis in your Lordfhip’s Pleafure what of
that you fhall pleale to communicate to my Lord
Stafford; but for this Evidence he fpeaks of, as re-
maming in our Fands, and which he takes upon
himfelf to appeal to us for, admits of another
Confideration. My Lords, if we were confcious
of any thing in thefe Aflidavits that were for my
Lord’s Advantage, and knew where they were, we
would readily produce them ; but for my felf, I
muft anfwer, and I think my Companions will fay
{o too, that we do not know where thefe Affida-
vits are, nor of any Varation in thofe Affidavits
from what 1s now fworn; but whatever they
were, they were taken for the Information of the
Houfe of Commons, who are the Profecutors in
this Caufe, and who are no Judges. Now if my
Lord will bring any Witnefs that will fay this
Witnefs of ours did before a Juftice of Peace de-
poie fo and fo, and fays the contrary now, there
might be then juft Reafons tolook after thefe Affi-
davits, and to have them produced ; but upon a
bare Imagination that there s a Variance, where in
truth there 1s none, and the Truth may otherwife
be known ; to defire that thefe Affidavits that ne-
ver were before you fhould be produc’d, whether
fuch a Suggeftion 1s to be admitted, I humbly fub-
mit to your Lordihips Confideration,

L. Staff. My Lords, if thefe Gentlemen that are
the Managers for the Houfe of Commons will aver
to your Lordfhips, that there is no Variation in
them, T will fubmit to them and be quiet; if they
will fay it was not debated in the Houfe, whether
he thould amend or no.

L. H 3§, Look you, he puts it upon you fo far,
Gentlemen, that if you will take it upon you td
aver that there is no Variation between thofe Affi-
davits upon which you grounded your Impeach-

3
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ment, and the Evidence you have given upon the
Trial of your Impeachment, he will not give you
the trouble. |

L. Steff. 1 befeech you let me fay one Word :
My Lords, I have been thus long a Prifoner, I
was as far from being proceeded againft now, as
any of the reft of the Lords in the Tower, till Tur-
bervile came in with his Difcovery 5 and 1 believe
I am now called the fooner (which I am glad of,
and I give the Gentlemen thanks for it) upon the
Affidavit of Turberviley 1 defire that Afhdavit.
And though 1t be true, the Houfe of Commons
give no Oath, yet they appointed two Members of
the Houfe, that were Juftices of the Peace of Mid-
dlefex, to take it upon QOath, and he defired the
next Day to amend it ; and I put my f{elf upon
them, whether this be not true.

L. H.§. What {ay you, Sir, to it ¢

Sir 7. Jones. My Lord, I cannot anfwer, be-
caufe I don’t hear.

L. Staff. My Lords, 1 fay this, I do oblerve that -
Mr. Turbervile (whole Face ] never faw in my Life
that I know of, till to-day, nor never {poke a Word
to him, and I fhall prove that no Servant that ever
I had fee him) did depofe (for the purpofe) to-
day, that he was in the Years 73 and 76 in fuch
and fuch Places, and that he did {peak with me
at Doway and Peris; and to-morrow recollecting his
Notes, he found he was miftaken i his Afhidav:t
that he had made before, and defired to mend 1,
and brought it to the Years 72 and 75: There
was fome Debate in the FHoufe about 1t, whether
they fhould permit him to mend it : I appeal to
all the Gentlemen, whether it were not fo.

L. H. §.Your Labour is to have two Afhdavits;
that you do prefume will do your Bufinefs in order
to the finding out a Variety of Time of his being
at Dowayor at Paris : That which does prefs your
Lordthip weknow inTurberviles Evidence is, That
at Paris, in the Room below your Lodging, you
encourag’d him to kill the King, and you were to
have met him at Di¢p toknow hismind,but youcame
not, and he went away ; if you have it i the Af-
fidavit quite contrary to this, you fay fomewhat.

L. Staff. My Lords, I befeech you, 1t prefles
me and every Man in Eaglend,not to be run down
by a Fellow that forfwears himfelf: For him to
fivear one Thing to day, and another Thing to-
morrow, 15 Perjury.

L. H. §. What fay you toit, Gentlemen?

Sir 77, Foires. What was done in the Houfe of
Commons, it does not become any of us that are
Members to difclofe: But I have heard, and wil
admit it, that in the Depofitions the Witnefs made
before a Juftice of Peace, there was a Year put
down, which he going home, and upon fight of
Letters and Papers finding it to be miftaken, he
comes the next Day, and defires to alter 1t: If
this be for my Lord’s Service, we fhall grant it.

L. H. S, What fay you, my Lord, now ?

L. Staff. I do fay, my Lord, Iam mformed by
what I have heard curforily, (for 1 have not'{cen
one of the Houfc of Commons before the Day of
my Trial) that though in his fecond Depofition he
named the Years 72 and 75, yet I can prove him
perjured as to what he hath fivorn here to-day.

7. H 8. Since ’tis infifted upon, Gentlemen,
that there is a Varicty in the laft Depofition from
what he fwore at firft, what can you fay why he
fhould not have the Avail of his Exception ?

Sir }7ill. Fones. My Lords, whether your Lord-
thips will think fit to confider by what Ways and
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Menns the Houfe of Commonsinform’d themfelves
in order to Impeachments, I fubmit to you; and
for thofe things that ftill remain in the Hands of
the Commons, I fuppofe you will be pleafed to con-
fider how you can fend for them to inform you.
We would not be miftaken in the Matter; let not
any one that hears us think that we are confcious
there is the leaft Variation, nay we are confident
if the thing were produced, it would turn to my
Lord’s Prejudice ; but what is done in this Cafe
may be 2 Precedent for the future, and therefore we
cannot, without reforting to the Houfe, confent to
deliver any thing the Houfe took for their In-
formation. Therefore if your Lordfhips ftand up-
on it, and incline to have it done, we muft refort
to the Houfe to afk their Leave, whether we fhall
do 1t or no. o
L. H.S. Icannot tell what my Lords will in-

cline todo ; but I defire when you are gone back,
you will confider how far it will make the Matter
eafy tomy Lord.

Sir Will. Fones. My Lords, we can give no An-
fwer to that till we have attended our Houfe.

Mr. Serj. Mayn. I defire your Lordfhips to confi-
derwhat a piece of Cunning he hath put upon both
Houfes, to pafs by his vilifying our Witneffes,
which I may fay was not comely. But if he makes
any Queftion, it muft be put to the Houfes upon
Suppofition to be a Queftion, and {o he would
bring things only to this Iflue to put off the Caule
for to Day. He ought to put that which might pro-
bably be fomething of a Queftion. Let him inftance
in Particulars, and make out his Evidence, not feign
things to put off the Caufe, for ought 1 fee ’tis to
no other End, and ’tis 2 Jefuitical Trick I think.

L. Staff. 1 feign nothing 3 T have been told this
that I {peak here, and I defire it may be proved.

L. H.§. If youare bound up fo that you cannot
confent, I can’t help 1t.

Mr. Serj. Maynard, Let him put the Fa&, my
Lords, and not fuppofe and imagine Things, and

then raife Queftions.

L. H.§. Itis ufual in thefe Cafes for the Gen-
tlemen of the Houfe of Commons to ftay till the
Lords are withdrawn, and expect their Lordthips
Refolution ; perhaps they may fo order it that you

need not go back.
Siv Will. Fones. 1 defire before your Lordthips

withdraw, that it may be taken Notice of by your
Lordfhips, that for the Matter of the Variation of
the Year, we do admit it, My Lord is not pleas’d to
mention any other particular Matter of the Affi-
davit, but only fays in general that it is contrary
to what he fays to Day : If my Lord would tell us
wherein, perhaps we fhould admit it, or anfwer
it, or take it into further Confideration : But to
make fo general an Allegation,and give your Lord-
fhips no particular Account, we {ubmit whether
fuch a Suggeftion ought to be regarded.

L.H.§. Isthere any further Variation, befides
the Variaton of the Year?

L. Staff. I cannot fay there is,my Lord, I do not
kaow it ; but I do really believe in my Confcience
there 1s, from what I have heard ; but however I
infift upon 1t, and demand your Judginent.

Sir Fr. Win. My Lords, 1 humbly defire one
Word as to the Objection that hath been made,
that he hath prayed your Lordfhips to grant him
the fight of fuch and fuch Papers. The Nature of
this Caufe, my Lords, we know is fuch, that there
was never the like Number of Papers known, as
to the general Plot; and my Lord that is the

Prifoner at the Bar, may as well demand to.mor.
row fuch a particular Paper, and the next Day ano.
ther, that he hath heard of in the general Plot ;
and where will the End of thisbe? So that if
the thing be granted upon the Variation of the
Time that it was immediately reftified, and he
cannot produce any Grounds that may fatisfy your
Lordfhips why he fhould have that Paper, you
may as well fuffer him to demand any other Paper
after, and {o never end the Caufe.

L. H. §. Your Lordfhip hath been told, and you
fhall find it, that you fhall have as fair and equal an
Hearing as is poffible, and nothing fhall be denied
you that is juft and reafonable to fave your Life,
or make your Defence. But pray, my Lord, for
{o much as isupon the Journal, which you may re.
fort unto, you may eafily know what Anfwer my
Lords will give to that ; but for this other Thing,
if it be only the Variety you alledge of the Time
and the Year, and you do defire 1t to look for o-
ther Exceptions, and you pray the Help of the
Lords to fee fuch a Paper, that you may make En.
quiry after other Varieties, do you think they are to
help you to find out Exceptions to the Witnefles ?

L. Staff. I do not defire their Lordfhips to help
me to find out Exceptions ; but I have told your
Lordfhips of one Exception to the Aflidavit, which
thefe Gentlemen acknowledge to be true 5 and the
other Affidavit is, that he {wears I fpoke to him
at Deway m the Year 72 or 73, which I can dif-
prove 3 and then I fay, he {wearing feveral Things
falfe, he 1s no credible Witnefs.

L. H. §. *Tis adnutted to your Lordfhip that
he did miftake the Tirae.

L. §taff. It 1s admitted that he faid he {poke to
me at Doway.

L. H. §. How very eafy a Matter were it to
expedite this Procefs, by allowing the Prifoner his
Demand 1n this Particular !

Sir Will, Fones. Inever faw it, and a great many
of the Managers fay they never faw it.

L. Staff. Thefe Gentlemen fay I did it to put off
the Caufe, I am far from it 5 for tho’ [ am in a Con-
dition very unfit to manage my Defence, faint and
weak with {peaking fo long, and hardly able to
{peak any more, yet I defive to finith this Night
and if I {eeit now, it will be enough, I fhall not
defire to have a Copy to advife with my Council,
or any body elfe.

L. H. §. Pray Gentlemen, of the Houfe of Com-
mons will you obferve my Lord, as weary as he is,
would make an end of the Matter prefently, if you
would but fend for the Afidavit.

" Mr. Foley, My Lords, it is not in our hands here ;
if the Houfe of Commons wili order it, it may be
done, we cannot order it our felves.

Mr. Powle. My Lords, this is a Paper that docs
properly belong to the Houfe ; and I do think, that
none of us here that are Managers for this Trial,
will undertake it fhall be deliver'd, without refort-
ing to the Houfe for their Opinion : For tho’ | do
verily believe, and am fully perfuaded, that what
this noble Lord at the Bar does object, wiil not-
appear to be fo ; for I think there is not any thing
of my Lord Stafford’s {peaking with this Witnefs
at Doway mentioned therein 5 yet how far the Pre-
cedents of this may reach in other Cafes, I think
is worthy the Confideration of the Houfe. And
we cannot prefume to offer any thing in it to your
Lordfhips, until you be pleafed to give us leave to
go and refort thither.

Then
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Then the Lords withdrew, and after an Hour
~ud = half’s Space returned, and Proclamation

was made for Silence.

7. H.S: My Lord Vifcount Stajford, my Lords
have confidered of the Demands you made, and
my Lords upon the Debate of the Reafons of your
Demands, are come to this Refolution: Your
Lordthip did demand in the firft Place, that you
mioht have a Sight of the Journal, and have the
Pa;ers lodged in the Houfe of Peers; my Lords
+ake Notice that this Demand which your Lordfhip
now makes, is a Demand that was granted you long
ago, about two Years fince; you have an Order
entred upon the Books. that your Lordfhip thouid
have Copies of every Thing in that oufe ; and 1f
your Lordfhip have not taken out Copies, aud if
any Thing is mifling to your Lordfhip that is yet
there extant, “tis your Lordthip’s Iault. How-
ever, my Lords will command their Journals to be
brought hither, that your Lordfhip may make that
ufe of them that may be of moft Profit to you.
Tor the other Demand touching the Afhdavit fup-
pofed to be taken from Turbervile by the Juftices

of the Peace, that my Lords, upon Confideration’

had, do find that there is no Obligation at all upon
them as a Court, to concern themf{elves mn that
Matter. And therefore my Lords have made no
order in that Point, but your Lordfhip muft come
provided as well as you can, and the Court can do
no more to help you in it, For the reft, my Lords
did take Notice that your Lordihip faid before they
were withdrawn, that you found yourfelf very
faintand weary, and that you were much {pent in
Difcourfe, and tired with what already you have
done. My Lords are extremely willing to give your
Lordfhip all the Favour and Accommodation pof-
fible,for therecollecting yourfelf,thereforemy Lords
will nat now put you upon it, to go on to make your
Defence, but will give you Time till to Morrow.

L. Szaff. 1 humbly give your Lordfhips Thanks
for your Kindnefs and Favour to me; but here |
profefs, and call Almighty God to witnefs, rather
than I would have it thought I am willing to put
it off, [would have funk down dead at the Bar, But,
my Lords, therewas another Demand that I made:
Your Lordthips fay I fhall have Copies of all the
Journals, and that you cannot help me to the Af-
fidavit of Tuidervile. T {ubmit to it without faying
one Word more: But I defire that I may have
brought hither to Morrow the Journals, and other
Papers in the Lords Houfe ; but Idefire alfo the
two Affidavits of Dugdele, taken the one the 24th,
the other the 29th of D:cember followng, which
Depofitions were taken before Mr. LaneandMr. Ver-
aon, 0 Stafford Town, when Dugdale was m Prifon.

L. H.§. Look you, my Lord, thisis all under
the fame Rule: What Evidence {ocver there 1s be-
fore the Court of Peers, that you fhall have ; what-
foever Evidence is not 1 that Court, you ought to
come provided of: The Court is not to ftay, nor
to help you to Evidence,

L. Steff. My Lord, I beg your Pardon, Dugdale
made an Affidavit then, and fays the clean contrary
now ; I defire nothing but Juftice, and I am fure
I fhall have all Juftice from your Lordthips.

L. H.§. Produce it, alledge what you will for
vourfelf, it fhall be heard.

L. S’aff. How then thall I be ahle tomake myDe-
fence.1f Lhave not thofePapers,which I humblycon-
ceive by the Law ought to be brought ? Thefe Gen-
tlemen of the Houfe of Commons fry, that I could

for High-Treafon,

135
not have Turbervile’s Afhdavit, becanfeit was in the
Houfe, and they could not give it without Confent
of the Houfe ; but this was examined before a Jui-
tice of Peace, and returned to the Council: Sure
I thall have that, 1was examined by my Lord of
Effex, and my Lord of Bridgewater, upon that Affi-
davit twice, I think, therefore that is material and
neceffary ; and I know your Lordfhips would not
have me come to defend myfelf without Weapons.

L. H. §. My Lotd §tafferd, 1 do befeech your
Lordthip tobea hittle better informed in your own
Bufinefs. You have Leave to make Ule of the
Journal, ana all Papers thatare entred there; the
Clerks {ay Dugdale’s Qath is entred there.

L. Staff. 1s the 24th of December there ?

Clerk, It s there.

L. H. §. Pray my Lord do not put the Court
upon Interrogatories, but come provided as well
as you can.

L., Steff. 1f it be entred on the Journal-Book,
I defire not the Original, Tam very well fatished.

L. H. §. Will you be ready to go on to Mor-
row, my Lord?

L. Staff. T will with all my Heart.

L. H. 8. *T1s too late, Gentlemen, to go on to
Night, we muft adjourn till to Morrow.

L. Staff. My Lotds, I had {o much to write
laft Night, that I had very little Sleep; I defire I
may not come till ten,

L. H. §. My Lord, I am not able to hear you,
I take as much Pains to come near you as I can.

L. Staff. 1 had a great deal to write laft Night,
I fay, and I want fome Sleep; I defire I may not
come til} ten. |

L. H.§. Will you be ready by ten o’Clock to
Morrow.

L. Staff. T will be ready by ten.

L.H.S8. 1 will move my Lords when they
are withdrawn, to adjourn till ten to Morrow.
But my Lord Stafford, 1 do not know how your
Lordfhip is provided, or how you look after your
own Bufinefs. If you have not had Copies of the
Journal all this while, *tis you are in the Fault. A
great deal of it 1s in Print, you may fend your Sol-
licitor to the Clerk of the Parliament, and take
Copies of what you have need of. Igive you No-
tice of it, that if you come unprovided, you may
know it 15 your own Fault.

L. Staff. I doacknowledge I have Copies of the
Journal-Book. I think of all; but I do not find
any Thing of Dugdale’s fecond Depofition there.

L. H, §. Hereis that of the 24th of Decemd:r,
that you afk after ; fend your Sollicitor, and then
you fhall have a Copy out of the Journal of 1t.

L. Staff. T affure your Lordfhip I will be ready
to Morrow, if I can get thofe Copies.

L. H. 8. My Lords will give you as much Eafe,
and all the Accommodations thar are fit.

L. Staff. Thento Morrow I will be ready by ten
o’Clock, if your Lordfhips pleafe; only I would de-
fire your Lordfhips to take Notice that thefe Gen-
tlemen of the Houfe of Commons do acknowledge
that Tuibeivile {wore one Day to one Year, and
the next Day to another.

L.H. S8 My Lord Siafferd. you fay you can
be ready to Morrow at ten 0’Clock ; are you fure
you can be ready then?

L. §teff. 1 fay, my Lords, this, T fhall not bz
fo ready as I fhall be next Day ; but I aflure your
Lordfhips, I will rather fick down in the Place
where I am, if you think fit, than put off the
Tral,

L. HS.
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L. H.§. Look you Gentlemen of the Houfe of
Commons, ina Cafe of this' Confequence, and of
this vital Importance to a Man as this is, whereis
the Inconvenience if there fhould be a Day’s Refpite,
and the Court fhould adjourn till Iriday, if my
I .ords be moved init? ] make no Direétion, but
what Inconvenience will be in1t? Will it not be
every Way as well? ‘

Sir Will. Fones. My Lords, your Lord{hips do
not expedt from us to give our Confent to put oft
the Tral.

L. H.S. 1 alk only what Inconvenience it 1s?

Sir 17ill. Fones. Your Lordfhips are the Judges,
and will do as you find it reafonable ;5 but this [ fy,
it 15 very finufual, and fcarce to be precedented,
that when the Profecutors have givenan Evidence,
the Prifoner thould have Time, a further confide-
rable Time, to give his Anfwer toit. The Prifoner
knows before-hand the general Scope and Diift of
the Evidence 3 therefore for him to have Time till
to Morrow, isa Favour; but to have more than
that, even a whole Day to intervene, 1s very un-

ulual.

L. H.§. If that be all, and the Matter depend
upon what 1s ufual, I do venture with my Lords
leave to inform you, that my Lord of Strafferd had
two Days Time after the Profecution, to give his
Anfwer to what was faid againft him.

Sir F77ll. Feres. 'That was an Evidence of twenty
eight Articles, this but upon two Heads; and
that was after a long Examination of many
Days.

L. Staff. My Lords, I had prepared myfelf for
my Trialas well as I could, and had written down
a few Things that [ intended to fay; and I profefs
before God, as I am a Man, and as I am a Chriftian,
of all T intended to fay : 1 have in a Manner made
ufe of very few Words; but «s to what I had to
fay upon LEvidence, I was forced to lay all afide,
becaufe I wanted thefe Papers. I have not eaten
to Day, and being forced to lay afide all that I had
written, Ifhall need a whole Day to write; how-
ever, I fubmit myfclf to your Lordfhips in that
Matter.

L. H.§. My Lord, if it will be equal to your
Lordfhip, and your Lordfhip will be as teady to
Morrow as another Day, this Court will be more
ready.

L.. Staff. Taffure your Lordfhips, if your Lord-
fhips do give me another Day, I will not de-
bate with my Council any one Thing upon the
Papers 1 have afked.

L.H.§. Pray, my Lord, will you be pleafed
to make your Demand to my Lords, who are your
Judges, by what Time you will be content to be
toreclofed.

L. Staff. My Lords, if you will give me till Fri-
day, I fhall be ready to sive my Evidence, and I
will bring Witnefles {ufficient I hope to prove my
Innocency.

ow Hill. Fones. My Lords we do not prefume
at all to offer our Confent to what Time the Cowt
fhall be adjourned——

L. .8, No, we do not afk your Confent.

Sir //1dl. Jones. And I hope your Lordfhips will
not afk the Prifoner’s Confent, nor do it by his
Direétion, ‘

L.H.S. De morte beminis non ¢t cunébatio longa,

Sir Fill, Fones. But we muft defire your Lord-
fhips, as we are entrufted by the Houfe of Com-
mons to manage this 1'rial, to take Notice, that
as we do not expect your Lordfhips fhould take

L

the Meafures from our Defires, much lefs do we
expedt you fhould do it at the only Inftance of the
Prifoner. *Tis a great Advantage to this Lord
to chufe s own Time, when he will pleafe to an-
fwer our Fvidence.  'We doknow very well, that
in this Cafe there have been Attempts to fubom
Witnefles, and that we fthall prove in due Time,
and Attempts to deflroy Witnefles too 3 fo that
there hath been too much Time loft already, and |
think to Motrow 13 a very conventent Time for
him to make his Anfwer.  And I muft obferve to
your Lordfhips, that the Piifoner hath gained his
End of not making his Anfwer this Day, by ratfing
an Objeétion, which i my Thoughts carried no
great Weight in 1t; though when it was made,
your Lordihips were pleafed to adjourn upon it
But feeing he hath got his Point of deferring the
making Anfwer till to Morrow, there can be no
Reafon he fhould gam a further Day, fince the
Depofitions may be ready by to Morrow as well as
by the next Day. And therefore we defire your
Lordfhips wiil be pleafed to go on in the Trial to
Morrow.

L. H. §. You fhall know their Lordfhips Plea-
fure when they are withdrawn, Is it your Lord-
fhips Pleafure that we fhould adjourn?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. H. §. This Houfe 1s adjourned into the Par-

llament-Chamber.

So the Lords withdrew in their Order, and the
Commons went back to their Houfe, and M.
Speaker refumed the Chair.

A Meflage was fent from the Lords by Sir Tiiothy
Baldwyyn, and Sir Semuel Clark,

Mr. Speaker, The Lords bave Jent us to acquaint
this Loufe, that they bave ordered the Prifouncs
William Zifeount Stafford, to be brought to the
Bar iy Wettminfter-Hall to Marrew Merning at
ten of the Clack.

And then the Commons adjourned to eight of
the Clock next Morning.

The Tuirp Day. !
Lot fway, December 2. 1680,

T the Hour of ten in the Morning, the Lords
adjourned into //: fminfter-Hall, and return-
cd m their former Order mto the Court there
erected; and Mr, Speaker having left the Chair,
the Commons were feated as before. The Comt
betng fat, Proclamation for Silence was made, and
the Licutenant of the Tower commanded to bring
his Prifoner to the Bar; which being done, the
Lord High Steward fpake to him as followeth :

L. .S, My Lord Stafford, this is the Time ap-
pomted to hear what your Lordihip hath to fay
inyour Defence, and to call your Witneflzs.

SithV. Fones. My Lords, Yefterday my Lord Vif-
count Staffoid was pleafed to make mention of an
Afhdavit of Mr. Turbervile taken before two Juf-
tices of the Peace, wherein he was pleafed to fay
there was fome Amendment made ; and {oindecd
we did then acknowledge there was. But he had 2
Defire to fee it, notwithftanding our Acknow-
ledgment, becaufe he was informed that that which
Turbervile fwore then, differed from what Trrbor-
wile {wore Yefterday. My Lords, at that Time we
had unot the Affidavit, nor was it proper for us to
produce it, for indeed it remained in the Juftice

of
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of Peac’s hands that took it: but now that his
Lordfhip may have full Satisfaction, and not only
his Lordfhip, but alfo all that are prefent at this
Trial, I do inform his Lordfhip, that the Affi-
davit is in the hands of a Member of the Houfe
of Commons, Sir ##7/l. Poultney by Name; and 1f
his Lordfhip pleafe, he may have it produc’d, and
make what ufe he can of it.

L. H. 8. It is extreme honourably and worthi-
ly done of the Houfe of Commons ; and my Lord
hath no manner of Exception left him.

L. Staff. My Lords, 1f I fhall have occafion to
afe it, I fhall call for it; but I would firft fay fome-
thing to your Lordfhips: My Lords, I firft give
your Lord{hips Thanks for granting me the liberty
ta come fo late to-day; I have had a little Sleep
uponit, Your Lordfhips heard yefterday, when you
had Dr, Oates at the Bar, the firft thing that he faid,
as | remember, was, to defire you would be plea-
fed ito leave him to his own Method: I beg of
vour Lordthips the fame Favour, that I may be-
oin with the one or the other Witneffes, or with
Matter of Law, as I pleale.

L. . §. God forbid but you fhould take your
own Method in your Defence.

L, Staff. In order to which, I defire firft Mr.
Turdervile may come to the Bar.

L.H.S. Do you call Turbervile, my Lord ?

L. Staff. Yes, my Lord, 1 do.

L. H 8. He is there, what fay you to himn ?

L. Staff. My Lords, I wall afk him but one Que-
ftion, and I hope I fhall have occafion to afk him
no more: When was the laft time that he fpoke
with me?

L. H.§. Mr. Turbzroile, 1 think 1 hear right, I
do not know : My Lord S!affordafks when was the
laft time you fpoke with his Lordfhip ?

Mr, Tur. 1t was m Novcinber 1675,

L.Steff. 1 have very much to fay againft his E-
vidence; but I hope your Lordfhips will not think
him any Evidence at all againft me, or any Body
elfe. But Idefire your Judgment, whether I be
not within the Compafs of the Time limited by
the Statute.

Mr. Serj. Mayn. Exprefs yourfelf, my Lord, for
we do not underftand you.

L. §taff. I cannot fay more than I do: the Time
which the Statute limits is fix Months, but this
1s’five Years; I defire the Statute may be read.

L. H.§. What Statute, my Lord ?

L. Staff. The Statute of the 13th of this King.

- L. H.§. If your Lordfhip pleafes you fhall have
it read : But your Lordfhip does not obferve, you
are profecuted and impeached of High-Treafon
upon the Statute of the 25th of Edward II1. not
upon the Statute of the 13th of this King, made
for the Safety of the King’s Perfon, which limits
the Profecution of fome Offences to be within fix
Months; but the Profecution fog Treafon may be
at any time.

L. §taff. Does your Lordfhip fay it may be at

any time ?
L.H. S, Yes, my Lord.

L. Staff. This truly does very much furprize me,
tho’ Iam wholly ignorant in Mattersof Law. My
Lords, I have ever heard that no Man can be pro-
lecuted by that Statute, but within fo many Days,
h one part of it in thirty Days, in another fix
Months; and [ defire your Lordfhips that the Sta-
tute may be read,

L. H.$. Ifyour Lordthip pleafe the Statute fhall

bz read 5 if your Lordfhip defires the Claufe of the
Vo, III.

+

Statute of the 13th of this King, which limits the
Profecution to be within fix Months, - that {hall be
read. But I conceive your Lordfhip is not accus'd
upon that Statute. :

L. 8taff. 1befeech your Lordfhips, I may know
whether I am profecuted upon the Statute of the
13th of this King, or upon what other Statute.

L. H.§. What fay the worthy Gentlemen of the
Houfe of Commons: Is my Lord profecuted upon
the Statute of the 13th of this King?

M. Serj. Mayn. Not at all, my Lord; he 1s
not profecuted upon that Statute, but upon the
Common Law, and the 2 5th of Edward 111. which
was only declarative of the Common Law.

L. Staff. This is a Yot of Law.

Sir /. Fones. What is the Pomnt of Law?

L.. Staff. Whether [ can be profecuted after fo
many Days, ‘

L. H. §. The Law is very clear. If you were
profecuted upon the 13th of this King for any lels
Offence than Treafon, you could not be profecu-
ted after fix Months; but if you be proflecuted
for Treafon either upon the 25th of Edward 111.
or the 13th of Car, II. there is no time limited, and
God forbid there fhould. '

L. Staff. Ibefeech your Lordfhips Judgment, whe-
ther there bz not a Statute, I think *tisin the Reign
of Edward V1. that {ets the time, after which no
Man fhall be profecuted for any thing of Trealon.
I defire 2 quarter of an Hour’s time to look to
the Statute.

L.H §. What {ay you, Gentlemen?

L. Staff. Pray, my Lord, letmeread the Statute
of Edward V1.

Mr, Serj. Mayi. We know not of any fuch Sta-
tute.

L. Staff. T will not fay there 1s, but I will fay I
cannot read if there be not.

L.H.S. Pray, Gentlemen of the Houfe of
Commons, my Lord does fuppofe he has {ome
kind of Objeftion in Law to make, which he
cannot make out of himfelf ; will it be amifs to
let his Council make and propofe the Queition
for him?

Siv 77, Fones. My Lords, we rather would have
my Lord propole the Objection ; for your Lord-
{hips know, till a Matter of Law is propofed, he
cannot be admitted to have Council.  If he defires
time to recolleét himfelf about the Objection, we
can’t oppofe it. But we defire that he may "pro-
pofe the Objection; and after, if it be any Doubt
in Matter of Law, your Lordfhips will aflign him
Council to be heard to {peak to it.

Sir F. Win. This would be a way for a Prifoner
to have the Advantage of Council, when they
ought not to be allowed it; for ’tis but to fay, he
hath fome Doubt which he cannot propofe him-
felf, and fo let in his Council to make Objections
for him, If any Queftion of Law do anfe, and
that Queftion is fiated, you will allow the Prifoner
Council to argue it: but at this rate he may make
the like Pretences in every part of his Defence, and
{o obtain that Council fhall manage his whole De-
fence for him.

L. H.§. Ifuppofe my Lord does intend an Ob-
jection as to the Time of the Profecution,but he does
not know how to make it. He fuppofes he is pro-
{fecuted after the fix Months, which he thinksis the
Time limited for the Profecution. But I pray, my
Lord Stafford, will your Lordfhip take time to re-
colle@ yourfelf, and make an Objection fit for

Council to be heard upon, and you fhall have it.
‘T L. Staff.
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L. Staff. 1 befeech you I may have the Statute-
Book with me, for I have none myfelf, my Lord.
Sir 77, Fones. With all our hearts, we do not

oppofe it.

Then wy Lord wwithdrew into 1be Room provi-
ded foir bim, and within a quarter of ain Hour re-
tnriyd.

L. A 8. Say, my Lord.
L. Staff. My Lords, I do confefs I have been ve-

ry much miftaken ever fince I was firlt committed
to the Jower : For 1did concetve that they would
have proceeded, s I thought I was impeached, up-
on the Statute of the 13th of this King, [ hum-
bly defire your Lord{hips Judgment, whether [
ought or no to be profecuted upon that Sta-
tute ¢ -

L. H. §. The Gentlemen have told youalready :
They profecuted you upon the Statute of 2 5 £/, [I1.
and upon the Common Law.

L. Staff. And they lay afide that Statute,

L. H. §. What Sratute?

L. Staff. The 13th of this King.

L.H. §. What fay you, Gentlemen, once more?

Sir F. /¥in. My Lords, we have declared already
to his Lordthip ; and it my Lord had look’d well
upon the Articles of Impeachment, he could not
have put that Queftion, but would have found
himfelf impeach’d tor Treafon at the Common Law,
declared by the 25th of Eaward 111,

L. Staff. So then they lay that afide of the 13th
of this King?

M. Serj. Mayn, We donot mention any Statute,
but we mention the Crime; and that Crime 15 a-
gaintt the Common Law, declared by the Statute,
to wit, the attempting the King’s Death, and the
Subverfion of the Government,

L. Staff. My Lords, there is no doubt but the
attempting the King’s Death is a great and heinous
Crime s but, my Lords, I do not find that in the
Impeachment there is any Overt-Aétatall.  And
whether [ {hall anfwer to a Treafon not prov'd by
any Overt-A¢t {worn by two Witneffes, I fubmit
to your Lordfnips. But, myLord, becaufe your
Lordthips and the Houfe of Commons may not
think that [ propofe thefe things out of a defire
of Delay; it your Lordthips pleafe it may be faved
to me, with all other Points of Law, I will go
on to my Proofs.

L.H.§. Yes, all thefe things fhall be fav'd to
you; pray let us hear your Evidence.

L. 8aff Since your Lordfhips have granted me
that, be pleas’d to give me leave to go to my Evi-
dence; and I begin with Stephen Dugdale.

L. H.§. Set up Dugdale.

L. Staff. Will your Lordfhips pleafe I may have
Pen, Ink, and Paper?

L. H, §. By all means, my Lord, [/Fhich was
given biin.]

L. Staff. May it pleale your Lordfhips, 8:epheir
Dugdale faid, f T underftand him right (and I afk
him agam) that he knew fomething of the Plot
fifteen or fixteen Years ago?

L. H.§. What fay you, Mr. Dugdale, you hear
the Queftion? Did not you fay you knew of the Plot
hfteen or fixteen Years ago ?

Mr. Dugd. 1 did fay it, and did explain my
Meaning mit. I did fay there was among us
{uch a Preparation to be made againft the King
died, of Arms and Money, that neither fhould
be wanting,

3
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L, Staff. 1befeechyour Lordfhiptoatk what Pro.

portion of Arms was to be provided.

L. H.§., What Proportion of Arms was to b

provided iy

Mr. Dugd. I never heard it nominated how ma-
ny ablolutely, I have heard of fome Numbers,
[ heard of late of 30000 that were to be raigd
beyond Sea: what the whole Number m Euglond
was, 1 have forgot ; but I tiunk I have heard Mr,
Gavan, and {fome of the Priclts fay, that if thers
was occafion they fhould have at leaft 200050 @
aflift them, that was of Men; and I fuppofe they
had Arms as well as Men.

L. Steff. My Lords, if this were true which he
{ays Mr. Gaven {aid, that they were 200000, I de-
fire to know what Men he meant, what Religion
they muit be of.

L. . §. What Religion were they of that were
to come 1n and help?

Mr, Drgd. Hedid not name them at that time;
but I underftood them, and fo Iapprehend the
Company would, that they were Rauiair Catho-
licks.

L. Steff. *Ths a {trange thing that there fthould ba
200000 Catholicks rais’d,when there are not 20000
in Bigland that can bear Arms,

L. H.§. Good my Lord, they might come {rom
beyond Sea, and fo they might be {o many Rz
Catholicks, tho’ there werz not fo many in Exg-
laid,

Mr, Serj. Meyn. And he fays not they were Ro-
sai Cathohicks, but he heard fo.

Mr, Treby. There might be fo many Reian Ca-
tholicks, and fuch as fhould be with them.

L. §taff. Did he hear fifteen or fixteen Years ago
that 1 was to be among them?

Lo H. S, Anfwer that Queftion: Did you hear
then that my Lord §:fferd was to be one among
them ¢

Mr, Dugd. 1 cannot remember that I did, my
Lord.

L.S8%aff. Then, my Lords, [ make this ule of
it: He tells you of a Plot fixteen Years ago, that
200000 Men m Arms were ready againft the King’s
Death

Mr. Dugd. 1did not {ay fo, my Lords; I defire
I may bz underftocd ansht—-—

J.. 8taf. You fay you heard fo.

Mr. Dugd. 1 fpeak as to the Number of Men,
what [ heard of late at the Confults and Meetings
within thefe two Years,

L. Staff. But Ipeak of fixteen Years ago, what
Number of Men was there to be raig’d ?

Mr. Dugd, My Lords, it was a general Word
that was amongft us, That we muft be provided
agamft that time, againft the Death of the King,
but no Number at all.

L. Steff. "This, my Lords, under favour,! conceive
does not concerngme. He tells you there was fuch
a thing; it might be fo, or it might ot be {03
I am not concerned in it, then *tis cut of doors as
to what concerns ine, I conccive; if the Gen-
tlemen conceive otherwife, they will fay fo.
Then, my Lords, the next thing is, How long ago
it is fince I firft fpake to him about this Plot? and
I befeech your Lordfhip he may mention Time and
Place,

L.H.5. You hear the Queftion, Mr. Duedalz.

Mr. Dugd. The firft time, to my beft Remem-
brance ———~

L. Staff. befeech you, my Lords, let us have

no Remembrance, but let him fwear pofitively.
L. H.S.
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L.H. S, Was that before or after the 21ft of
Septesber ?

Mr. Dugd, Both before and after.

L S:aff. My Lords, He fays there was a Con-
fult at Tixall, where fuch and fuch were prefent,
and the King’s Death determined; I atk when
was that ¢

Mr. Dugd. That was in September, 1 cannot fay
pofitively the Day ; but in Sepzember, or the lat-
ter end of Augufs. .

L. §taff. My Lords, I muft acquiefce and fubmut
to your Lordthips to do what you pleafe; but if
he does not name Times nor Places, how can I
make my Defence? I defire he may fay pofitively
within five Days of the one or of the other; and,
my Lords, I will put it upon that, if he fay five
Days before the end of Auguff, or five Days m
the beginning of September, which one would think

1680. H. L.

7. H. 8. There is no Mortal Man can fivear o-
therwife than according to his Remembrance.

L. Staff. When a Man’s Life and Honour, and
a1l he hath is at ftake, and indeed in confequence,
every Man in Eagland is concerned, if they fwear
not pofitively, but flill fay, As I remember; who
can make a Defence?’

L. H.S. Mr. Dugdale, go on, and fay, as near
as you can, and be as particular as you can, upon

your Qath. _ .
M. Dugd. That which I can pofitively afhrm,

is, It was about Auguft or September, 78.

L. Staff. He faid Yefterday it was in the latter
end of Auguft, or the Beginning of Sepzember, which
are two Months. I befeech you what does he mean
by the latter end of Auguf# # How long before the

End of Auguft ? _
L. H.§. How long was it before the laft Day

in Auguft ¢ _ .

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, T will not be pofitive;;
but it was either in one Month or the other; I did
not keep a Diary, orelfe would give your Lord-
thips Satisfaction. ‘

L. Staff. 1 befeech your Lordfhips he may po-
fitively fay whether in Auguff, or notin Auguft s
or whether in Septeniber, or not in September.

Mr. Dugd. I dare not venture to fwear that, I
dare not do 1it.

L. Staff. Then faving my Exceptions to the In-
certainty of that afterwards, I would atk him what
Day was it in September that I {poke to him.

Mr. Dugd, 1 remember one was either the 2oth
or 211t of September, 48.

L. Staff. My Lords, He fays the 20th or 21t
does he fay that was the firlt time he {poke with
me ?

Sir 7. Trevor. No, no.

L. Staff. 1 befeech you, my Lords, they may
not anfwer the Queftions, but the Witnefles ; they
cry, 10, ho.

L. H. §. My Lord, You fhall certainly have an
Anfwer to all the Queftions you will atk,

L. Staff. But when Iafk, they anfwer for them ;
I would know whether that is the Courfe or no?

L. H. §. Do not difquiet your felf for any thing
that is faid about you; you fhall have a fair Hear-
ng.
gL. Staff. But, my Lords, I cannot but be dif-
quieted when I hear thefe learned Gentlemen make
Anfwers to my Queftions for the Witneffes.

L. H.§. Mr. Dugdale, wasthe 20th or the 21ft
of Septeimver, you fpeak of, the firft time that you
{poke to my Lord Stafford ?

Mr. Dugd, No, my Lords, it was not.

L. 8taff. Pray, my Lords, what Day was it then
I {poke firft to him ?

L. H. §. What was the Day you firft {poke to
my Lord ¢

Mr, Dugd. ‘Truly, my Lords, I cannot remem-
ber fo well as to tell you.

L. H.§. Do you remember when my Lord
came to Tixall?

Mr. Dugd. 1 remember one Suiday in particu-
lar; but I cannot tell what Day of the Month it
Wwas.

L.H.§. Do you remember my Lord Stafford
at Tixall, in Company with my Lord 4ffon and
Father Evers 2

Mr. Dugd, Yes, 1 do.

L. H. §. Do you remember that any Difcourfe
pafled between them ?

Mr, Dugd. Yes, I do.
Vou. I1I.

s {pace enough, that is ten Days time.

L. H.§. My Lordsdo obferve how far Mr. Dug-
dale goes, and that he is no further pofitive than
he does exprefs himfelf.

L. Staff. 1 befeech your Lordfhips, I prefs ths,
becaufe it concerns me very much, that he may be
pofitive within five Days or under,

L. H.§. Can you remember whether it were
within five Days of the one or of the other?

Mr. Dugd. Truly, my Lords, Icannot be pofi-
tive; if I had not made a particular Remark up-
on that of the 2oth or the 21ft, I could not have
remembred that; for I did not then intend to re-
veal the Plot, or elfe I could have given you Sa-
tisfaction in that,

L. H.§. My Lord, YourILordfhip hathan An-
{fwer to it; he cannot fpeak more pofitively to it
than he does.

L. Staff. 1 befeech you then, how is it poflible
I can make my Defence?

Mr. LDingd. My Lords, I kept no Journal; if
I had, I would be mare pofitive.

L. Staff. He fays it was the latter end of Ax-

guft, or the beginning of September s I defire he

will fay, whether it was the laft Week in Augnft,
or the firt Week in September.

L. H. §. He anfwershe cannot tell; your Lord-
fhip muft make what Advantage you can of that
Anfwer.

L. Staff. 1 can make no Advantage of it, unlels
he does {peak pofitively to the time. My Lords, I
befeech you I may know what is the End of Auguft
and the Beginning of September ?

L. H.§. My Lord, I hear you not.

L. Staff. If a Man fays the Beginning of Fune I
was at fuch a Place, how many Daysis the Begin-
ning, and how many Days the End of a Month?
How much time will your Lordfhips underftand
the Meaning of that to be? I am concerned
extremely in the point of Time; for it is that
which the whole Bufinefs depends upon, [ mean
as to this Man.

L.H. §. My Lord, go on with your Evidence;
I know not how to give yoa an Anfwer, what
Judgment my Lords will make of it, or how much
they will underftand by it, till they are withdrawn :
They obferve how much your Lord(hip infifts up-
on it, and will hear what the worthy Gentlenten
of the Houfe of Commons will anfwer to it.

L. Staff. My Lords, My whole Bufinefs with
this Fellow is concerned in a pofitive Anfwer to
this %e&ion s 1 give him, I think, reafonable time
to confine himfelf to.

T 2 L. H. S
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- L HS What fay you to the 20th or 21ft
of September, my Lord?

L. Staff. My Lords I fhall give a clear Anfwer
to that anon; but I am extremely concerned
this, to know whether it was in Auguft or Septenm-
ber.

L. H.§. My Lord, if your Lordfhip be concern-
ed never {fo much at that, the Witnefs can fiear
no more than he can fwear. He fays about the
latter end of Auguff, or the beginning of Septem-
ber y will your Lordfhip ftand fhll for that?

L. Steff. Well then, Twill goon as wellas 1
can: As for the matter of the 20th or 21{t of S:p-
tember, 1 befeech your Lordthips I may alk Dugdele
one Queflion, whether at the Trial of Sir Gesrge
Wakewman, or the five Jefuits, he did not fay the
Confult was in Augyft; if he deny 1t, I fhall
prove it.

L. H.S. Mr. Dugdale, My Lord afks whether
at the Trial of Wakeinan, or of the five Jeluits,
you did not fay it was in Auguft?

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, I did name there was a
Confult at Bofcobel in Auguft, but I do not remem-
ber that I did name my Lord §afford m any.Con-
fult in Anguft pofitively ; but, as I fay now, the
latter end of Auguff, or thebeginning of September.
But I did name that there was a Confult at Bs/fes-
bel in Anguft 8.

L. Staff. My Lords, He did fay I was at the
Confult 1n Anguft.

Mr, Dzgd. 1 did not fay my Lord Stafford was
there, Idon’t charge him 1nit; and if any {uch
thing was printed, I have wrong done me.

L. Staff. Then ne fays he had nothing to do with

me till the latter end of Auguff, or the beginning
of Septemrer. My Lords, I befeech your Lordthips
to alk him, whether 1n Siv Geoige IWakeimai’s Tri-
al he did not fay, he was to recetve Orders from
me in Fene or Fuly, when I came into the Coun-
try.
L. H.§. Did not you fay at Sir George Wake-
man’s Trial, That you were to receive Orders from
my Lord Stafford in Fune or Fuly, when he came
mto the Country ?

Mr. Dugd. My Lord, I fubmit to your Lord-
fhip, and the reft of my Lords here, whether when
that Queftion was afk’d by my Lord Stafford, I did
not fay, That the firft time I entred into Corre-
{pondency with the Confulters, they told me, my
Lord was to come down then, and I fhould receive
Orders from him. I had heard of my Lord Staf-
ford before, but not to enter intoany Confults with
him, till he came down the latter end of that Sum-
mer.

L. Staff. T befeech your Lordfhips pardon me;
I defire him to anfwer pofitively, whether at the
Tuial of Sir George Wakeinan, he did not fay he
was to receive Orders from me In Fuie or Fub,
when [ came into the Country.

L.H.S§, Did you fay fo at Sir George TVuke
man’s Trial ?

Mr. Dugd. 1 believe 1 did fay fo; for I had it
from others, and not my Lord Stafford himfelf.

L. Staff, My Lords, In Funz or Fuly I was not
m the Country.

L. H. §. He fays yon were to come down, not
that you did come down.

L. Staff. If you will let him do thus, there is no
Man fafe: I fhall begin the Tragedy, and Millions
wili follow, He fwore at the Trial of Sir George
Wakeman, or that of thofe other Perfons, That

there was a Confult at my Lord Affox’s at Tixall,
where I was one, in fugufl.

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, I did not {wear o3 but
in Augnft or September, or one of them, as now [
{wear.

L.Siaff. 1 fhall prove it by the Book, ang
Witnefles that were there. '

Mr. Dugd. Then they did me wrong by printing
it; for I never faid of your Lordfhip otherwite
than I do now.

L. Steff. T defire my Witnefles may be call’d to
prove it, for I conceive it1s very material. My
Lords, does he deny 1t ?

Mr, Dugd. 1do fay there was a Confultat Trxa!!
m Angnft 3 but I did not charge your Lord{h:p po-
fitively to be there then, nor with any more than
I do now,

L. Staff. 1 thisk you did, and I have Witneflus
to prove it. And ’us impoflible for any Man 1.
ving to defend himfelf, if Perfons fhall fwear as
they fuppofe, think, or remember. I tell your
Lordfhips I was not there all the Month of -
g,

L. H.§. Does your Lordfhip intend to call any
Witneffus

L. Staff. My Lords, I thought I had more Wit-
neffes than I have. But I have two here, if your
Lordfhips will hear them, that he did {fwear I was
at Tixell in Auguf).

L. H.S. Who are they?

L. Staff. My Daughter /7inchftér for one, and
a Lady that is my Kinfivoman for another.

L. H.§. Let them ftand up, they are not to be.
{worn. You don't except againft them, Gentle-
men ?

Sir /7. Joires. Wo, let him prove what he can.

L.. Marchionef(s of 7#7ucheffer. He did fwear that
he was to recetve his Orders from

L. A. §. Madam, your Ladyfhip is not upon
your Oath ; but you are under ail the Obligations
of Truth and Honour in the World.

L. March. #inch. My Lords, by the Grace of
God, I will not fpeak an untrue Word.

Sir FLL Fones. We defire to know this Lady’s
Name,

L. Steff. 1t 1s my Daughter W inchefter.

L. March. Bnch. This Stephen Dugdele did fay
at the Tral of Siv Gesrge PV akeinan, That he was to
receive Orders from my Lord in 7z or Foly, when
he was to come down 3 and that my Lord was at
a Confult at Tixall in Auzuft, '

L. H. S Did he fay pofitively in Augef, or in
Augift and Septeinber.

L. March. /7inch. No, he did not name S:p-
fember,

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, I might fay my Lord
was to come down then; but not that ever | fad
he was there, but as now.

L.H.S. But fhe fays you did not name Sgp-
temoer.

L. Siaff. Here is another Lady.

ow ill. Joues. Who is the, my Lord ?

L. Staff. Mirs. Howard, Daughter to Sir George
Blonnt, and married to Mr. Howard, a Kinfman of
mine; fhe is now a Widow.

Mrs. How:rd. My Lords, at the Tiia] of Sir
Gearge Wakemen, Dugdale was afked to be pofitive
i the Month my Lord Stafford came down; and he

“faid, he came down in Fune or Fuly; but he {aid

the Confult was in Augnff, wherein my Lord $taf-

Jord was,

L.HS.

2
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7. H 8. That Lady likewife fays the fame, That
vou would not be pofitive as to Fuue or Fuly; but

as to Auguft, you were pofitive that my Lord was
there. |

Fﬁr. Dugd. No, my Lords, I only faid, In Zuguft
there was a Confult; and in Fune or Fuly my Lord

was to come down. ‘
Mes, Howard, 1 do aflure you we came to that

Trial on purpofe to obferve every Word he faid
about my Lord Stafford, and we have kept it in
our Memories ever fince.

L. H. §. What do you fay, Mr. Dugdale, to it?

Mr. Dugd. I fuppofe there was a great many
more at that Trial than thofe two worthy Ladies;
and I fuppofe fome of them may remember I {faid
no more than I do now, I faid then, my Lord was
to come down at that time, and fo I faid feveral
times, but not pofitively, that he was there till
the End of Auguft, or the Beginning of September,

L. Staff. My Lords,I do pofitively aver, here are
two Witnefles that fay, he fwore I was there at
the Confult in Auguff. Now it concerns me to
prove that 1 was not there in Auguft, fince he faid
ablolutely I was there in Augnft; and I affure you
I can prove I was not there all the whole Month.
In the Beginning of Auguft I came from Loidoun,
from my own Houfe ; on Tuefday or Weduc/duy the
6th of Augnft, 1 went to my Lord Bellgfis’s, and
that Night I went to George Portcr’s; the next Night
I went onwards towards Bath; when I was there,
I went over and ftaid with my Noble Lord the
Marquis of Wercefter 5 there I ftaid two or three
Days, and I went thence to another Place hard by
there; and then I came back again to Bath, and
went back again afterwards to my Lord’s Houfe;
and the firlt or fecond of September, 1 went from
my Lord’s Houfe to Zondeun. Then if this be ac-
knowledged I need fay no more ; if not, T’ prove
it by fufficient Witneffes: So then I was not there
the whole Month of Augyff ; and the Beginning of
Scptemoer he fays he {poke with me. I was not
there till the rath of Scprember. Now I befeech
your Lordfhips how that could poflibly be the be-
ginning of Sepleider. 1 {ubmit to you, Whether
then he be a Witpefs fit to be heard, that fhall
{wear pofitively what hath no Colour of Truth in
it, Talfo leave to you. And if they objeét I was
not where I fay I was in Auguff, I will prove it.
And for the zoth and 211t of Seprember, Ido own
fomething of that, and I fhall prove to your Lord-
fhip what it was,

L.H.§. Call what Witnefles you pleafe, my
Lord.

L. §:2ff. My Daughter proves when I went
out of Town,

L. March. #inch. My Lords, it was on a Tuef-
day my Father went to my Lord Bellafiss, he di-

ned there, and then went an to Geoige Poiter’s.

L.§teff. That I was at Bath I fhall call Wit-

neflcs,

L.H.§. My Lord, you fhould prove when you
firlt came to Jivall, my Lord Afion’s.
- L.Sweff. Will that fatisfy your Lordfhip ?

L. H. 8. Me! *Tis not me you are to fatisfy,
tut my Lords, and the Gentlemen of: the Houfe
of Commons.

L. Szaff. Then 1 do own to your Lordfhips, I
came the firft time the 12th of Septeinber to Tixall,

L.H §. That was the irlt Day you were there?

L. Staff. That Year, my Lord, it was.

Sir 77ill, Fones. Prove it,

L. 8taff. Daes he deny that, my Lords?

for High-Treafon. | 141

L. H. 8. Do you deny that my Lord came firft
to Tixall the 12th of Seprember; or do you know
he was there before ?

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, I have pofitively fpoke
to no Day, but only to the 21ft or 20th of Sip-
tember. '

L. S¢aff. Where 1s my Lord Marquis of #er-
cefier’s Servant ?

L. H.S. My Lord Stafford, it will be beft for
your Lordthip to produce all the Witnefles you
have, and not to leave any thing undone that you
can prove.

L. Staff. But I befeech your Lordfhips I may
atk one Queftion : If I fhall nameany of the Houfe
of Peers as my Witnefles, does that exempt them
from being Judges?

L.H.§. No, my Lord. If your Lord(hip have
any Witnefles among any of my Lords here, they
may very well teftify for you, and yet remain
ftill in the Capacities of your Judges; for my Lord
of Strafford had a great many Witnefles that were
Peers.

Sir 7. Trevsr. Wedo not oppofe it, my Lords.

L. f 8. My Lord, Call your Witnefies.

L. Staff. There 1s no Place appointed for them,
and therefore I could not have them ready here ;
I have fent for them ; I have a Throng of them.

L. 11, 8. They willopen the Way, and we will
ftay for them.

L. 8taff. My Lords, [ defire, that as Yefterday,
when the Witnefles were fworn aganft me, mine
did not hear what they faid, fo I defire when my
Witnefles come, theirs may not be prefent.

L. H.§. My Lord,with your Lordfhip’s Pardon,
it was not well done that your Witnefles were not
there; but if Witnefles be to confront one an-
other, fhall they not hear what one another fay ?

L. Staff. My Lords, Iam fo clear in every thing,
I will difpute no little Matters.

Then wiy Lord’s Witnefs flood up,

L. H.§ What 1s this Man’s Name you call
now, my Lord?

L. 8taff. Indeed, my Lord, I dow’c know.

Witnefs. My Name 1s Bouiy, my Lords,

L. H. §. Does your Lord{hip call this Man?

I 8taf. Yes, my Louds.

L.H.§. You are not upon your Oath, but you
are to look that a in& Account will be taken of
what you fay.

Mr. Foley. My Lords, we defire to know where
this Witnels lives?

Bomny. 1 live in Exeter-Street, by Exeter-Ex-
change.

L. Staff. 1 declare it T know him not, but I am
told he can witnels for me.

L. H. §. Your Chriftian Name?

Bonny.  Thomas.

L. H. §. What Profeflion are you of?

Bonuy. 1 live as Clerk of the Kitchen to my
Lord Marquis of 7 orceficr.

Mr. Foley. What Religion are you of ?

Benny. A Proteftant, one of the Church of £#p-
land, |

L. St¢ff. My Lords, I humbly move your Lord-
thips, when I atked Mr. Ssitv the firft Day, where
he was made a Prieft, the Gentleman faid, he was
not bound to an{wer any thing agamnft himfelt
that might make him crinunal. I defire that the
Queftion may not be put to my Witnefles what
Religion they are of.

L. H. §. The Gentlemen will not offer teaflz any
Queftion that may make a Man accufe himfelfs but

my
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my Lord, a Papift or not a Papift 15 not {o penalas

a Prieft or no Prieft.
Mr. Foley. To acknowledge a Man’s felfa Pa-

pift, is not to make him a Criminal, _

L. H. 8, What does your Lordfhip call this
Witnefs for ?

L. Staff. To prove when 1 wasat my Lord
Marquis of #ercoftcr’s.

L. H.S. What fay you? when was my Lord
Stafford at my Lord Marquis of WWorcefter’s ?

Bony. In Augnft 78.

L. H. S. Do you remember it perfectly ?

Bomy. Very well.

L. H. §. What Day of Auguft ?

Bomny. The 17th of Auguf, which my Lord
Marquis keeps as his Wedding-Day every Year,
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Managers. No, .
L. Staff. 1think this is fo clear, I{hall not need

to trouble your Lordfhips further with more Wit
nefles. |

L. H.S. Call whom you pleafe, my Lord, and
as many as you think fit, they fhall be heard,

L. Staff. One more then, my Lords.

(Who frood 1p.)

L. H. §. Whatis your Name ¢

Witnzfs. Richard Bevan.

L.H. S. Who do you live with ?

Bevan, Iam Groom to my Lord Marquis of
Wor cefter,

L. H. §. What Religion are you of ?

Bevan, A Proteftant.

L. H.§. Do you rememberwhen my Lord Staf.

and the Gentlemen of the Country are invited ford was at the Marquis of #ercefier’s Houfe ?

thither. My Lord Stafford was then at Bath, and
my Lord Marquis was pleafed to fend his Coach
for him, to-be prefent there that Day; there he
ftaid that Day and the next Day, and then return’d
on Monday. And in the fame Month, the 31ft of
Auguft, my Lord came again from Bath to Bad-
minton, my Lord Marquis of #ercifier’s, and up-
on the Monday after returned for London,

L. H.S. That wasthe Beginning of September ¢

Bonmy. Yes, the 2d he went to London.

L. H.§. Willyou afk him, Gentlemen, any Que-
ftions ?

Managers. No, my Lords.

L. H.§. Call another Witnefs then,

(Who ftood up.)

L. H.§. Whatis this Man’s Name ?

Witnefs. Thomas.

L. H 8. Tbomas what?

Witnefs. Thomas White.

L. H. §. Where do you live ?

White, 1 live with my Lord Marquis of #/or.
cefer at Badminton,

L. H. S, What do you fay?

Ibite. My Lords————

Lord Marquis of #orcefler. My Lord Steward,
I have only this to fay, my Lord Stafford defired
that his Witneffes might not be afked what Reli-
gion they were of, but [ defire all my Servants may
be afked, for I keep none but Proteftants,

L. H. §. What Religion are you of ?

White. A Proteftant.

L.Staff. My Lords, I did not require it for them,
I know my Lord keeps none but Proteftants ; but
I afked 1t for others of my Witnefles, that may
come, and be ftartled at it.

L.H. §, What fay you, when was my Lord Staf-
ford at my Lord Marquis of #orecfier’s Houfe?

White. The 17th of Augafi 78 5 1 fetched him
from Bath, bemg my Lord’s Wedding-Day.

L. H §. You fetched him?

White. Yes, my Lords.

L. H.§. What Place do you ferve my Lord
Marquisin ?

WWhite. As Coachman,

L.H.§. Was he there afterwards ?

White. Yes, he was, but I can’t remember the
Day ; only this being a remarkable Day, I can re-
member 1t.

L. H. §. Did you carry my Lord from thence
towards London ?

White. Yes, I did,

L. H. §. When was that ?

White. The fecond of September, to the beft of
my Remembrance,

" L, H. §S. Gentlemen will you afk himany Que-
1ons,

Bevan, Yes, I do.

L. H §. What time was 1t ?

Bevan, The 17th of Auguft.

L. H §. Do you remember any other Day ?

Bev. No, my Lord ; buthe wasthere that Day.

L. H.§. Will you atk him any Queftions?

Managers. No, my Lords,

L. Staff. My Lords, if your Lordfhips pleafe, I
defire my Lord Marquis of Worcefler may tell
your Lordfhips whether his Men have faid true
or 10,

L. Marq. of Wereeft. My Lords, 1 do remember,
that my Lord Stafford was pleafed to dome the ho-
nour to come upon my Wedding-Day from the
Bath, and dinewith me, asmoft Perfons of Quality
that are of my Acquaintance, and happen to be at
the Bath at that time, are pleafed to do ; and as
moft of the Gentlemen of the Country, within
fuch a Diftance, do alfo. (And that Day 1s the
19th of Augufl.) 1think he was there once or
twice after, from the Bath, but I cannot tell pre-
cifely the Days; but that particular Day I remem.
ber, becaufeit was my Wedding-Day.

L.H.S§. Can your Lordthip remember when my
Lord Stafford went to London ?

L. Marq. of Horeeff, Truly I cannot tell that,
my Lords.

L. H. 8. Did you not after that lend my Lord
your Coach ?

L. Marq. of #orceft. Yes, I did, to carry him as
far as Sandy-lone, on the Road to London ; but the
particular Day I remember not: But one of the
Perfons examined (who was then my Clerk of the
Kitchen) muft needs know, becaufe he books every
Day who 1s in the Houfe, and therefore I believe
what he has {aid s true.

L.8taff. Stephen Dugdale 1 defire may comeagain.
I conceive I have made it plain to your Lordfhips, .
that Stepben Dugdale did fwear, That in Auguff
there wasa Confult at my Lord Affon’s where [
was; and I conceive it is alfo clear that in Auguft

+ [ wasnot there; and then if it were the Beginning

of Septernber, that could not be neither; for [ came
not down to Taxall till the 12th, I befeech you to
atk himwhen I offer’d him thefive hundred Pounds
to kill the King, Ithink he fays it was the 20th
or 21ft.

L. H. §. What was the time my Lord offered
you the five hundred Pounds?

Mr. Dugd, It was about that time, the 20th or
21t of September, to my Remembrance.

L. Staff. He faid pofitively before, it was one
of thofe two Days; I befeech your Lordfhip to
afk him where it was.

L. H. §. Where was that Offer made ?

.3 Mr. Dugd.



Mr. Degd. In my Tord’s Lodging-Chambcr at

Fixall, |
L. Sieff. Then onc Queftion more, I defire your

ithio to afk him what Day the Race was at
%?.:}.:Ef;g%“lill between Sir Fobn Crew’s Man and

zing by, _
LﬂMr?fJHgd. If it pleafe your Lordfhip, I docon-
‘ceive it was about that time. ‘ |

L.Steff, 1pray he may anfiver pofitively, forif
vyou pleale 1 will tell you how 1t was. Itis very
true, the 20th of September this Fellow was in my
Chamber, and I fhall trouble your Lordfhtps with
fome lictle Difcourfe about 1t, and my Realons
why : Firft, 1 befecch your_Lordﬂ‘ups to permit
me to lect you know, that this FEHG}F{ did ferve
my Lord ffon in the Quality of a Bailff. And I
never thought him to be an honeft Man, he wWas
1 mean Servant, and when the other Servants wait-
ed but till the fecond Courfe came m, he ftaid till
the Coachman and the Groom went to dinner,
and ezt with them. I profefs before God 1t 18 true
as that the Sun fhines, I have often and often, 1
cannot tell how many times, when I have been
very dry at my Lord’s Table, and feen him by me,
net called for Drink 5 I did deteft him as {fo mean
a Knave, that I often refufed to take drink at his
Hands: And now for me to offer this Fellow five
hundred Pounds |

L.H.§. 1think your Lordfhip fays he was Bai-
Iff to my Lord Afion ¢

L. Szaff. Butl knew him to be an arrant Knave,
and a great Gamefter at Races and {uch Things.

L.H. 8. My Lord, would you have offered five
hundred Pounds toan honeft Man to kill the King?

Mr. Ser]. Meyn. You faid you never faw him.

L.Steff. 1 faidThad feen him, butnow Idid not
know him by his Perriwig,

L. H. §. Did you not know him, my Lord?
L. S:aff. No, my Lords, I profefs I did not.

L.11.§. Why, your Lordlhip was a gomg to
fhew that the Race at Etching Hill was upon the
20oth of September 5 and your Lordfhip confefies,
that he did fpeak with vou on the 20th of Sepzein-
ber in your Chamber ; and Dugdale fays, tins Day

was the very Offer made him of five Hundred

Pounds to kill the King. What do you fay Drg-
dale, were youat the Race ?

Mr. Dngd. Yes, I was with my Lord atthe Race?

L.A. 5. Did my Lord {peak with you before
he went, or after?

Mr. Dugd. Before,

L. 1. §. That Morning in his Chamber ?

Mr, Drgd Yes, it was that very Morning, be-
fore he went to the Race.

L. §tzff. T do own, my Lord, thus far; he
was in my Chamber that Morning; but, my Lord,
[ can prove what I fay to you: My Lords, that
20th of Sepreinser in the Morning, 1 was in my
Bed, and there comes a Servant of mine that hath
ferved me twelve or fourteen Years, and he comes
into me, and fays, Yonderis Stepben Dugdale, very
defirous to go to this Race. It feems he fays

yhe went along with me to this Race.

Mr. Dygd. [fay I went either before or after,
or when you went to the Race, for I was with
you at the Race.

L. H.S. Whether he went with you or 10, IS

not the Poinf, but whether he was in your Chamber
at that time,

L.S;{gﬁ'r. "Ths the Point ; for he faid juft now, he
went with me, as I apprehended him. But I tell
vour Lordfhips, my Servant came and told me,
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Stephen Dugdale defires that you will alk my Lord
Ajtar leave that he may go before to the Race ; my
Lord is angry with him already for his meddling
in Races, and he dare notalk himfelf. My Lords,
I was a little concerned m the Race, for I had bet-
ted fome Money; and I thought with myfelf,
fhould I alk my Lord Afen leave for him to go,
my Lord will not deny me, but perhaps will take
it 1}l to be alked, {fo I was not over-willing to do
it. But I bid my Servant call him in, and when
he came I afked him fome foolifh Queftions about
the Race, as who he thought would win, and the
like ; but I told him I would get leave of my Lord
for him. My Lords, I did go to my Lord Affon, and
told him, My Lord, Iam fending my Scrvant be-
fore to the Place of the Race, but I am afraud he
does not well know the way, fthall Stepher Dugdalc
goalong with him ? My Lord gave him leave to go.
But, my Lords, I drefied me, anddid not fpeak one
tittle more to this Dugda’e, but he went before, and
I was hardly or but jult dreft when he was gone.

L. H.§. 1pray, my Lord, was your Lordfhip
at no time alone with him in your Chamber ?

L. §taff. No, never fince I was born, never in
all my Life.

L. H § No, myLord?

L. Siaff. He fays my Servants ufed to come for
him, I profefsit is all falfe.

L. H. § What fay you to that, Mr. Drsdale 2

Mr, Dugd, My Lords, I was in my Chamber,
and bufy when my Lord fent for me that Morning,
and it was either by his Page or one that waits on
him in his Chamber 3 I went to my Lord, and the
Page was mn the Chamber, and he ordered him to
a0 out.

L. Staff. 1 declare and aver to your Lordfhips
he was in the Hall, or the next Room, and de-

fired to come 1n.
L. H. §. Where1s the Page?

L. Staff. This Fellow was but apoor Boy, found
at the Door, then he was a Threfher, and now &
Witnefs for the King.

(Then my Lord Staftord’s Man flood up.)

L. H. §. What is your Name ?

IWitnefs. My Nameis Nicholas Furief:.

L. H.§. Do you remember the Day of the Race
at [othing-Fhll

Furuefe. Yes, 1 do, my Lords.

L. H. 8, Do you remember Duodale was in your
Lord’s Chamber that Morning.

uriefe. Yes, Ido.

L. H. §. Do you remember whether your Lord
did bid you go out or no?

Furnefe. No, he did not.

L. H. §. Were you there all the while Drede/z
was therer

Furnefe. Yes, my Lords, Iwas.

L. Staff. Pray, my Lords, afkk him whether I
fent for Dugdale, or he defired to fpeak to me.

L. H. 8. Didmy Lord fend for Degdale, or did
he come to you to {peak to my Lord for him?

Furnefe. No, Dugdale {poke to me firit.

L. H. 8. Whatdid he fay to you, pray?

Furiefe. My Lords, about eight or nine of the
Clock in the Morning I came to go to my Lord’s
Chamber, and I came through my Lord for’s
Hall ; and coming through, I met Mr. Dugdelz co-
ming to me, and faid, he had one Favour to defire
of me. He faid he would fain go to the Race, but
faid he, Ido not know how to go, for my Lord s
very angry with me, and if 1 fhould afk him, he

would be worfe, for he is difpleafed that I have
meddled

¢
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meddled fo far in thefe Mattersalready s therefore
I defire fome Means may be ufed that 1 may go,
and I defire that you would {peak to my Lord to
get Jeave for me to go: for Mr. Fox is there, and
hath a great deal of Money in his Hands, a_nd d|
vers People will give Money to bett, and fo it will
be a great Lofs and Prejudice to me not to go. So
I did promife him, my Lords, and 1 went into
my Lord’s Chamber, and told him; and when 1 had
{poke to my Lord, my Lord bid him come in. And
when he came in, my Lord afked him feveral Que-
{tions about the Race: My Lord afked him what
Hopes he had, for he faid, a great deal of Money
was laid by feveral People ; he reply’d, he could
win, but he wanted Money to bett : fays, my Lord,
1 will bett twenty Pound for Staffordfbire {ake, tho’
I were fure to lofe. And then after fome Difcourfe
to that purpofe, my Lord told him, he would fpeak
to his Lord. After my Lord was drefs’d, he went
out of his Chamber, and went to my Lord Affon,
to atk him leave for Dugdale ; and my Lord bid
me make my felf ready to go to the Race. About
Nine or Ten of the Clock I was ready to go, and
coming down the Back-ftairs, my Lord met me:
Go, fays he, to FEiching-Hill, and fce what Betts
there are, and take Stepben Dugdale with you to
fhew you the way; for I have afked his Lord
leave for him to go. So Stepben Dugdale went a-
long with me to the Stable, and took out his Horle;
mine was not ready, butIovertook him in half a
Mile, and it was eleven of the Clock ¢re we were
at Rideely. 1 afked him fome Quettions abeut one
Mr. Gerards and 1 think about twelve of the
Clock we were at the Race, and 1 ftay’d till one
with him and Mr. Fox, who was a Party concern-
ed in the Race, and there were feveral Betts laid.
I was watchful when my Lord fhould come, left
he fhould want me 3 {o I left them, and wentto
the Room where my Lord was to dine ; and when
I went to my Lord, I left him betting. About
two of the Clock the Lords and Gentlemen all
went to dmner (that were there) and when we had
half dined, betwixt two and three, Dugdale came
in, and we afked him how the Wagers went; he
faid he would bett Gold to Silver, if he had it,
but he had betted away all his Money, I know
not how much. So there was a Gentleman that
was Servant to my Lord Afton, one Geoige Hobjon
by Name, he lent hun two Guineas and odd Mo-
ney, and I lent him fome forty or fifty Shillings
out of my own Pocket, which I told him, I would
not lend, unlefs he would sive 1t me at the Hill
again, before the Race begun, becaufe I was fear-

ful my Lord fhould go to Stefferd again from my .

Lord Affew’s that Night. Abcut four or five a-
clock I went up to the Race, and demanded my
Money, and he paid it me before the Race begun,
and after the Race was done [ loft him. My Lord
went home, and I waited on htm. This was about
five or fix, and about the Midway towards my
Lord Afisw’s Houfe, he went mto the Coach, and
] oot on horfeback, and we got home about fix or
{even of the Clock, as I {uppofe. Butatmightafter
Supper 1 enquired for Dugdale, how he took his
Lofings, and how he did after 1t: They told me,
he was gone to-bed, fo I faw him no more that
Night, Thenext Morning, my Lord bid me come
betimes, for he would go to Stafferd that Morn-
ing, where we dined, at Mr. Abdew’s, and from
thence took our way to go to my Lord’sown Houle,

L. Staff. Now my Lords, .if you pleafe to afk
this Boy whether I bid him go and call Drgdale to
me, and leave him there,

L.H S. My Lord Stafferd dd bid you, Mr,
Furnefe, go and drefs your felf, and make you rea.
dy for the Race; did you not leave Duganle be.
hind you in the Chamber when you went to drefs
yourfelf ?

Furn:fe. No, my Lord, Dugdale was gone thence ;
and my Lord was gone toe, before me, tomy Lord
Afpsir's.

L. H. 8. I tllafk you the Queftion, (you are
upon an Obligation very great, as much as if you
were upon your Oath) Whether you were in my
Lord’s Chamber before Dugdale came1n, and ftaid
till after he went out 7

L. Steff. And whether] bid lum goout or no ?

L. H.§. Were you there before Dugdale wentin?

Fuinefe, He went along with me i I condudt-

ed him m. |
L. H.§. Did you fay all the while Dugdale ws

there ?
Furnefe. As near as I remember, I ftaid there

all the while.
L. S:eff. Afk him pofitively.

Furncfe. Yes, my Lords, I was there all the
while Dugdale {taid; but [ cannot f{ay pofitively
how long it was.

L. I1.§. Mr. Dugdale you are upon your Oatn;
he fays he came In along with you, and you went
out of the Chamber before him, and he was there
all the while you were there.

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, Iam not pofitive which
of my Lord’s Servants it was that came for me ;
butone it was. But when I came into the Cham.
ber to my Lord, my Lord was getting up, and he
charged them both to go forth, and the Room
was clear, and I faw no body.

L. Staff. My Lords, afk my Man.

Furiefe. My Lord never bid me go forth that
Day, nor any elfe in my Life, whenany was 1n the
Room.

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, if it pleafe your Lord-
fhips, Mr. fzrnefe was pleafed to fay I would bett
Gold to Silver; but in that he was miftaken, for
the Odds was quite fix to four againft us.

L. H. §. Well, we are not upon the Race nov,
or the Wagers laid there. But, Gentlemen of the
Houfe of Commons, will you afk this Man any
Queflions?

Sir William Fones. No, my Lords, we have none
to afk,

Siv Thomas Lee. We defire to know where he
lives now, what Countryman he is, and what

Religion he 15 of.
L. H. §. Whom do you ferve now ¢

Furnefe, My Lord Stafford,

L. H. §. Do you live with him ftll 3

Furnefe. Yes, I do, and have done this four-
teen Years.

L. . §. What Countryman are you?

Furnefe, A Dutch-Man ?

L. H.§. Where born?

Furnefe. At Bruffels,

Sir Francis Winnington, We would afk him what
Perfuafion or Religion he 15 of. .

L. H.§. You may be fure of what Anfwer you
fhall have.

Furnefe. T am a Roman Catholick.

L. Staff. Thats as good as a Fesw.

Mr. Treby. "The Queftion is notintended for any
harm, not with any Purpofe to criminate him;
’tis only in regard of his Credit in this Matter.

L. H. §. Call another Witnefs, my Lord.

L. Staff. Whete is George Leigh 2 (Hho food up.)

L HS,
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. 7.H.S. How old are you ?
Leigh. 1 am dbout fifteen orfixteen, ™ - .
" 1. Staff. My Lords, I'believe he is eighteet or

ninetsen. _
. M. Treby. Whofe Servant 1s he?

L. Staff. He is my Servant; he hath ferved me
feven or eight Years. | .

L. H 8. What dees-your Lordfhip call him for 2

L. Staff. Totell you whether I bid-my Servants
to go out when Dugdale came 1n, and -whether ever
he {aw Dugdale and 1 alone, |

L. H. §. George Leigh, how long have you'lived
with my Lord Stafjord?

Leigh. Seven Years the 1oth of Fuue laft.

L. H. S Why then you were but nine Years

old when you came to him P

Leigh, No, my Lords, 1 think I was not,

L. H. §. Do you remember when my Lord Staf-
ford was at Tixall £

Leigh. I do not remember the Morith very well.

L. H. §. Do you remember the Time of the
Race at Etching-bill ¢ |

Leigh. 1do not remember the Day ; but I was
at it,

L. H.§. Did Mt. Dugdale come mnto your Lord’s
Chamber that Morning ?

Leigh. I do not remember he was there that
very Morning,

L. Steff. Be pleafed to alk him whether ever I
bid him go out of my Chamber when Dugdale was
there,

L.H.§. D you ever {ee Dugdale any other
Morning in your Lord’s Chamber 2

Leigh, My Lords, I think not; I am not cer-
tatn: IHe was there one Morning, and it wasabout
a Race; but I am not certain what Race it was,
whether it was two Boys ran, or two Men.

L. H. §. Did your Lord bid you go-out of his

Chamber ?

Leizh, No, my Lords.

L. Staff. Dugdale fays I often fent him for him ;
pray afk him that Queftion. |

L. H, §. My Lord, this Boy does not remem-
ber that Dugdale at all was at your Chamber that
time of the Race at Eiching-bill ; {o that it is not
material to the Thing in queftion,

L. Staff.Yes,my Lords, Dugdale told your Lord-
{hips yefterday that I fent this Boy often for him.

L. H. 8. Did ever this Boy come for you ?

Mr. Dugdale. Yes, he hath, I am fure, come to
my Chamber for me to go to my Lord.

L. H. §. Were you fent for by my Lord more
than once? '

Mr. Dugdale. Ycs, feveral times.

L. H. §. Before or after the Race ?

M. Dagdele. Both before the Race, and after
the Rice.

L. H. §. By whom were you fent for?’

Mr. Dugdale. Sometimes by the Gentleman that
was laft examined, and fometimes by this Boy.

L. . §. Did you ever come from my Lord
Stefferd to bid Dugdalz come to him ?
I—d%ff;gf.?. My Lords, I do not remember that ever

id.

L. 4. §.*Tis an hard thing to remember fo long,

L. Steff. If ever he came once to me, and was
alone with me, I will be content to acknowledge
all this to be true. Pray afk the other Man if ever
I fent him for him.

L. H.§, Hedid teftify before, that he came

witg ;1;11} It]}i:tt Day to your Lordfhip’s Chamber.'
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L. Siaf. That Day, mif Lowds: But fe s,
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other Days I fent for -him.
L.:H. §. Call Furnefe again. (Who fiood upJ) Fur-

nefe, did my Lord Stafford.ever fend you for Dug-

=

dale, either before orafter the Race.?
Furnefe. Never, my Lords, to:his Chamber, -
L. H,S§. Did he everin his Life fend you to
Mr. Dugdale, to fpeak with him, asyouremenbeor?
Furnefe. Never, my Lords.
L. Staff. He was, my Lords, fuch 2 Fellow, 1
could not .endure he fhould come near 'me s fuch

-an impudent lying fellow.

/L. H. 8. Haveyou any-moreWitnefles,myL.ord ?

L. Staff. Yes, ia great many,

L. H. §. Call them all, I pray.

L. Steff. My Lords, 1hope you think I'woeuld
not be {o great and imprudent a Fool to employ
fucha Fellow as this, who not.long after run away
from my Lord Aftor’s. *

L, H. 8. Who did? | '

L. Staff. Stephen Dugdale. And for that, if y
pleafe, 1 would call fome Witneffes,

L. H. 8. Call Furnefe again. (Who frood up.) Did
you ever fee Dugdale and my Lord Stafford toge-
ther ? o

Furnefe, Never in my Life,

L. H. §.Why you faw them together that Morn-
ing you brought him to the Chamber.

| (Then the Auditory langhed.)

Furnefe. Never alone,

L. Staff. 1.did not think I was in a Cock-Pit, or
a Play-houfe. But if your Lordfhips pleafe to let
me call my Witnefles, to prove that Dugdak ran
away from my-Lord Afion, 1 fhall call for that
Thomas Sawyer. (W#ho flood up.)

L. H. §. What is your Naine ?

Witnefs. Sawyer,

L. H. §. Your Chniftian Name.

Witnefs. Thonas.

L. H, §. Who do you live withal?

sawyer. My Lord Afon.

L.H. S, Where do you live ?

Sawyer, At Texall. "

L. H. §. Are you my Lord Afon’s Servant ?

Sawyer, Yes.

L. H.§, How long have you been fo?

Sawyer. Six Years, and ever fince Michaclmas.

L. H. 5. What have you to fay ?

Sawyer. Asto Dugdale’s Reputation, 1 have this
to {ay, How that he went from my Lord 4fan’s
for Debt, and was taken by the Watch- at Hey-
wood,

L. H. S, When was that ?

Sawyer, The latter end of Nevember, or the be-
ginning of December.

L.H. §S. What Year ?

Sawyer. (78.)

L. . §. Then the Family broke up. .

Sawyer. And commg thither, and being taken by
the Watch, he was brought by the Juftices to T7x-
o/l and after the Juftices had been with my Lord,
their Refolution -was to carry him to the Goal.
So coming to Tixall, where Dugdale was at an
Ale-houfe, he defired me to go to my Lord, and -
defire him that he would own him as his Ser-
vant, for he was o mtch in “Debt, that he fhould
elfe be undone for ever. In the mean time Mr.
Philips, the Parfon of the Town, had been with
ray Lord, (for Dugdale had defired himto go to
him alfo) and he atking me whither I -was dgbing ;

faid I, T am going to Ilnjy Lord from Dugdate, to

defire
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defire him to.own him as his Servant. Said he,
I have been with my Lord juft now, and he faid,
he will not own him as his Servant ; it was
hisown Aét and Deed. So Mr. Philips and I came
back to him, and told him. So he fat down in
the Chair, and then rofe up again, and {wore,
He would be revenged of my Lord Affon, if ever
it lay in his Power.,

L. H §. You never heard him fay he would
be revenged of my Lord Stafford, did you ?

Sawyer., No, of my Lord Affon, Then another
time, being at Stafford, he owed me twenty nine
Pounds, and he was under the Serjeant’s hands ;
and then he promifed me from time to time he
would pay me, and did not keep his Word. This
was three ot four Days before he began to peach.
He bid me come fuch a Day, and he would pay
me part of the Money; and when I came thither,
he told me it was reported that he fhould be 2
Peacher ; and that there was a Speech, how that
he fhould have two hundred Pounds for inform-
ing that there were fourteen Priefts in the Coun-
try : But he takes a Glafs of Drink, and, Thomas,
{ays he, by God, I wifh this may be my Damna-
tion and my Poifon, if I know of any Plot, or
any Priefts.

L. H. §. Was not he a Papift then ?

Sawyer, I cannot abfolutely tell that, whether
he was or no.

L. H.§. Do you know one Father Evers ?

cawyer. My Lords, I have feen him,

L. H. §. Hath he never been at Tixall ?

Sauyer, Yes, my Lords, I have feen him there.
- L. H. §. And have not you feen Dugdale in his

Company ?

dawyer, Yes, I have.,

L. H.§. Did not you at Tixall think Dugdale
a ftout able Fellow ?

Sawyer. No, he never was accounted to be fo.

. L. H. §. Then I afk you, if you thought him
an honeft Man, or arich Man?

dawyer. No, truly, my Lords: For PIl tell you
more than that; My Lord Affor employed him
to be his Balliff, and receive his Rents, and to
pay Workmen their Wages, which he received
every Saturday, And my Lord Afton did account
with him, where he did fet his Hand to receive
the poor Workmens Wages according to their
Bills, when they had not been paid fome of them
whole Years, and half Years, and Quarters. And
they came and cried to my Lord, that they were
not paid. And thereupon Dugdale did fay, that one
of them had demanded more of my Lord than
- was his due ; for he faid he had reckon’d fuch a
Day with him, and paid him fo much Money ;
which Man faid he was not that Day at T7xall ;
And fo he hindered him of part of his Money.

L. H.S. Did you ever know that Dugdale did
forfwear himfelf?

Swwyer. "That I do not know, my Lords. I did
hear he was concerned in a Race, about which
there was a Trial and a Difpute which had won.
This I have heard by Report.

Sit Fran. Win. Speak your own Knowledge,
not Reports.

L. H. 8. Lafkyou, do you remember the Day
when my Lord Stafford came to Tixall 2

Sawyer. He came on the twelfth Day of the
. Maonth.

L.H. 8. What, September ?

Sawyer. Yes, the 12th of Seplember,

L. H. §. Did you ever fee Dugdale in the Com-
pany of my Lord Stafford, while he wasat Tixall 2
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Sawyer. No, never in the Houfe 3 but at the
Race, he hath come into the Parlour.

Mr. Treby. You had Difcourfe with Dugds: :
You fay he took a Glafs, and drank, and withed
it might be his Poifon. 'Was not Father Evers
that time at my Lord Affos’s ?

Sawyer. Not as I know of, my Lords.

Mr. Treby. Was he not commonly there ?

Sawyer. Yes.

Mr. Treby. 1f he were, Mr. Dugdale muft know
it; and how then could he take a Glafs, and with
it were Poifon, if he knew where any Prieft was;
fince it was apparent he knew where that Prieft
was ? *Tis moft mprobable Mr. Dugdale fhould
fay thus!

Sauyer. My Lords, this was three or four Days
e'er he confeffed any thing he knew of his Know-
Jedge. ‘

Mr, Treby. What Perfuafion of Religion are you?

Sawyer. Of the Church of Esgland.

Mr. Serj. Meyn. Pray, my Lords, afk him one
Queftion 5 he fays Dugdale went away from ‘my
Lord Afon’s, was not there a Speech of a Plot
(at that time) that was difcover’d ?

Sewyer, Yes, that I heard.

Sir Fr, Win. My Lords, T would afk him one
Queftion more: Was there no Difcourfe of the
Death of a Juftice of Peace that was faid to be kil-
led in London about that time ?

Sawyer, To my beft remembrance, as I heard,

there was,

Mr. Dugd. My Lords, if your Lordfhips pleafe
that I fhould call Witneffes to “confront him now,
or afterwards ?

Sir Wi, Foues. Not now 3 ftay till your time
comes,

L. Staff. Then call Philips. (Fho frood up.)

L, H,§. What is your Name, Sir?

Witnefs. Ralph Philips,

L. H, §. Whatare you, a Clergyman ?

Mr. Philips. Yes.

L. H.§. Are you beneficed ?

Mr. Philips. Yes, my Lord.

L.H 8§ Where?

Mr. Philips. At Tixall, my Lord.

L.H.§. Youarea Perfon that knows the Ob-
ligation that lies upon you to give a true Teftimo-
ny 3 what can you fay of Mr. Dugdale ¢

‘Mr. Philips. My Lords, I have very little to fay
concerning Stephen Dugdale as to any thing of the
Plot, but in reference to what he thould relate con-
cerning Mr. Sambidge and me in the Narrative
which he depofed upon the Trial of Sir George
Wekeman : He faid then he did receive a Letter
concerning the Death of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,
which was dated the 12th of Ofober, as I remem-
ber ; and that he did communicate the Letter to
Mr. Sambidge and me immediately the next Tuef-
day : whereas I will affure you, my Lords, I never
heard neither by Letter nor Word of Mouth from
him nor any other, till it was publickly known.

L.H.S. You did not live in my Lord Afon'’s
Houfe, did you?

Mr. Philips. No, my Lords.

Sir /7, Jones. We know not what he fays, we
defire to underftand what he means.

L.H.S$. He takes notice that Duodale at the
Trial of Sir George Wakeman did depofe touching
a Letter dated the 12th of Ofsber, which {hould
come down to Tixall, intimating the Death of
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, and that he did communi-
cate that with the Parfon of Tixa// and another

1 which
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which Parfon comes now {0 {ay, he did commu-
aicate no fuch Matter to him, |

Sic 7. Fones. We defire to alk um whether he
was prefent at that Trial, and heard him fay fo?

M. Philips. 1 was not prefent at the Trial,
Lut if the Narrative of the Trial be Truth, he did
fayl%‘ﬂ. S. So then, you only come to difprove
what is printed that Dugdale fhould fay.

Me. Philips. Then Ileave it to your Judgments,
whether what he faid in the Namative of that
Trial do concur with the Truth.

L. Staff. 1 defire then to afk him whether S7e-
phen Dugdale did not run away from my Lord
Afon's, and would have him go to my Lord to
own him for his Servant.

7. H. §. What do you know of Drgdale’s run-

ning away ? *
E’Ir. P}f;flf}f}.i‘. I know nothing at all of that, my
ords.
- L. Staff. Whether hedid fpeak to him to own him
for his Servant when he was in the Juftices Fands ?

L. I §. Can you fay any Thing touching the
Credit of Dugdale ‘ '

M. Philips. 1 have nothing to fay concerning
Dugdal’s Credit.

L. H. S. Did you know him ?

M. Philips. Yes, ever fince I came to Tixall.

L. H.§. How long 15 that?

Mr. Philips. About fourteen Years.

L. H. 8. What Reputation had he in the Coun-
try? Was he looked upon as one that would per-
jure himfelf 2 ‘

Me. Philips. I never knewany Thing of that.

I, H 8. Was he thought a ftout Man ?

Mzr. Philips. He was in good Repute with fome,
and indifferent with others.

L. H § Will you call any more Witnefies,
my Lord ?

L. Staff. T would only atk him one Queftion;
whether hedid go to my Lord Afox from Dugdale
to know if he would own him for his Servant?

L. H. §. What fay you, Sir; did you?

Mr. Philips. Yes, my Lords, he knows very well
Idid; he did requeft me to go to hm. My Lord
Afton 1 was loth to go to, becaufe I had no Famili-
arity with him, nor Intereft in him ; but he did re-
queft and urge me fo much, that I did go by much
Motives and Perfuafion from him, and I did {peak
to my Lord : SoI told him the Meflage I had was
from Mr. Dugdale, who would requeft of my Lord
that he would own him for his Servant; for if he
did not, he knew not what to do with himfelf; but
if he did, he might be free from the Goal and from
the Oaths, and efcape the Troubles that were upon
him. So my Lord replied to me, ’tis his own Act
and Deed, and I have nothing to do with him, and
let the Juftices do what they will with him ; which
were Sir Walter Bagott, and Mr. Kinnerfley.

Mr. Foley. We defire to know whether he heard
any Difcourfe about a Plot at that Time, or no?

M. Philips. Truly, my Lords, Ihearda Talk
of a Plot, but not at that Time.

Mr. Foley. My Lords, I defire to know if he
took Mr. Dugdalz for a Perfon that might be in
the Plot, if there was any fiich Thing ?

Mr. Philips. T cannot tell how to anfwer that,
'tisa hard Queftion; I am not {o intimately ac-

quainﬁ;d with Perfons whofe Secrets are not re-
pofed in me,

L. S1aff, The next Witnefs I defire may be

(with the leave of the Gentlemen of the Floufe
Vor. JIL

| for High;Tre;aféﬁ.

147

of Commons) Sir Walter Bagat! 5 1did defire him
to be here.

Sir V. Fones. There he is, we do notoppofeit.

L. H.8§. Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure that Sir
HWalter Bagott be heard in his Place ?

Lords. Yes.

Sir Walter Bagott.

L. H.§. What would you afle Sir Walter, my
Lord ?

L. Staff. My Lords, I defire to aflk Sir Walter
Bagott, whether he did not apprehend Drgdele, and
upon what Account it was ?

L. H. 8. Sir Walter Bagott, My Lord defires to
know of you, whether you did apprehend Dug-
dele, and upon what Account ?

Siv Waltcr Bagott. My Lords, Mr. Dugdale
was taken at an unfeafonable Time of Night, and
brought to me the next Morning by the Watch, as
the other Witnefles have told your L.ordfhips.
And I took him away to $f¢fford, where there were
{everal other Juftices of the Peace; there were of-
fered him the Qaths of Allegiance and Supremacy,
which hetook. After the taking of thefe Oaths,
we told him, that he was a likely Man to know
fomething of the Plot, and 1t was a very proper
Time for him to difcover if to us that were Juftices;
he at that Time did deny the Knowledge of 1t 5 that
is all T can fay.

L. Steff. 1 defive Sir 2Palter Bagolt may be afked
whether he did not go to my Lord-Aften, to fee
whether he would own Dugdele for his Servant ¢

L.H. . Did you alk my Lord Affen to own

him for his Servant,
. Sir . Bagott. Yes, I did: For my Lord’s Houfe
being in the Way to Stafford, whither I was going,
I called upon him to know if Mr. Dugdele were
his Servant: He told me he was no Servant of his,
and he would not réceive him 3 upon which I and
another Juftice of the Peace that was with me,
took him to Stafford. The Occafion of our meet-
ing there, was to gmmon in the Militia, upon an
Alarm of the Papifts being rifen in Derdyfbire.

L. Staff. 1 make this Ufe of it, my Lords, that
my Lord Affen would not receive him: Andif my
Lord Affen had known he had been i the Plot,
and could have difcovered him, he would not have
difobliged him.

L. H. §. Nay, he fays more than that, which
you don’t hear; he fays, when they examined him,
they gave him the Oaths of Allegiance and Supre-
macy, and then told him he would do well to dif-
cover his Knowledge of the Plot, and then he did
not own any Thing he knew; nay, he dented it.

Mr. Foley. Did he deny the knowing of 1t ?

Sir 7Valt. Bagott. Yes, he did then.

Sir F. Win. He was not refolved to difcover at
that Time.

Mr. Serj. Mayn. We defire Sir ?Walter Bagott
may be afked whether he examined him upon his
QOath, or no?

Sir #Walter Bagozt. No, 1did not.

Mr. Serj. Mayn. But had they then juft gtven
him the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy ?

Sir. Wal. Bagott. Yes, my Lords, we gave hin
thofe Oaths, and thofe only.

L. Staff. Then My, Kinnerflcy, of you pleale. (Hho
Jtood up.) Be pleafed to afk this worthy Gentleman
what he knows about Dugdale’s going from my
Lord Afton.

L. H. §. Firft let us know this Gentleman,

L. Staff. His Name is Kinnerfley, = -

U 2 Mr. Az



